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Message from

the Chairman and
Chief Executive Officer










Myr. Surachai Chetchotisak

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer
Message from the
Chairman and Chief
Executive Officer

The past year was impacted by the local economic
situation and decline of Thai exports, as well as by external
factors like the uncertainty of the trade war, the Brexit
issue and the global economic slowdown. Although the
government implemented measures to assist low-income
people, stimulate consumption and promote domestic
investment, as well as initiatives to help small-scaled
farmers and farmers suffering from drought, the Thai
economy has not improved in the last year.

At RS, we are determined to operate the business
in accordance with a horizontal strategy for business
growth and expansion, including the growth of new
commerce businesses combined with our existing
strength in television and radio media as well as in music.
We are also entering into alliances with strong business
partners who have unbroken potential, including both
digital TV leaders and other leading media partner groups,
in order to expand our business as well as the broader
business ecosystem with new ways thinking, unhindered
by boundaries. Important components of the past year
include our constant adaptation to this era of disruption
and directly forging paths to and better understanding
of consumers’ needs (Direct to Customer), both of which
have ensured continuous growth for the Company
along with all its partners; we were also largely shielded
from the overall economic slowdown.

For 2019, the Company earned a total revenue of
3,611 million baht, a slight decrease from the previous year.
The growth of our commerce business revenue was
relatively stable from the previous year. While the overall
economy caused customers to delay their purchasing
decisions, a strong and complete business ecosystem,
from upstream to downstream; a variety of content;
marketing that reaches consumers directly; complete
and robust media from both RS and the synergies with
its partners; ownership of products that meet customers’
needs in each platform; a database management system
of more than 1.3 million customers that features in-depth
or data-driven analysis; telemarketing system teams;
warehouse management; and alliances with efficient
delivery and payment partners have resulted in the
combination of our strengths in “Entertainment’, in terms

of owned content and major media platforms, with
“Commerce”. The latter encompasses our full participation
in the commerce business, offering products and services,
with direct access to consumers on all platforms. This
has enabled the Company to fully step into the
“Entertainmerce” role.

As for Channel 8, despite being affected by the
overall industry slowdown, the number of TV viewers
has clearly not decreased; as such, Channel 8 remains
an important base to further expand the commerce
business. Also, measures to help digital TV in the past
year, starting now, will reduce Channel 8's digital TV
licensing fee and broadcasting network (multiplexer)
rental fee, which amount to over 100 million baht per year.
In addition, RS's DNA in both the radio and music
businesses has been an important part of generating
income and profits in the past year, including the
spotlighting of famous artists from the past who still
have a loyal fan base at the “Raptor Evolution 25 Years
Mai Mee Krengjai” and “D2B Infinity Concert 2019”,
both of which were well received. Concert tickets sold
out within a few minutes, and this phenomenon will
return in 2020.

For 2020, the Company will focus on developing
every business in the group continuously. This will be
done by working with partners to expand channels
that reach more diverse customers; developing online
channels through the COOL brand, which has a strong
online customer base; re-branding the entire organization
through the formulation of a new vision, mission and
corporate culture, including management restructuring
with a focus on data-driven strategies to run the business
more efficiently; and forging ahead with new business
opportunities. These will all drive the operations in 2020
to grow with strength and build long-term sustainability.

In the past year, RS encountered many trying
moments, but with the support from its shareholders,
partners, customers, employees and stakeholders, we were
able to successfully overcome the challenges. On behalf
of the Management and Board of Directors, we thank you
and sincerely hope that all of you will continue to support
and grow with the Company.



Board of Directors
Report

To Shareholders,
RS Public Company Limited

The Board of Director is responsible for the
reporting of the consolidated financial statements on the
Company and subsidiaries, contents of which have been
consistently prepared with respect to the Thai generally
accepted accounting standards where prudence are duly
exercised and information disclosed in the notes
accompanying the statements.

The Extraordinary General Meeting of Shareholders
No. 1/2546 (2003) has approved an Audit Committee
comprising independent directors who are not involved
in the day-to-day operations to take responsibility over
the quality of the financial reports and internal controls,
which the Audit Committee’s opinion was described in
Audit Committee Report shown in this annual report.

The Board of Director has considered that the
Company has good internal control and has concurred
with the Audit Committee, the Executives and the
authorized auditors for the consolidated financial statements
of 2019 on the Company and subsidiaries that the
Company's financial position and the result of
operation present fairly in conformity with generally
accepted accounting principles.

Mr. Surachai Chetchotisak

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer
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Audit Committee
Report

To Shareholders,
RS Public Company Limited

In 2019, the Audit Committee performed its duties
in accordance with the Audit Committee Charter approved
by the Board of Directors and encouraged all related
practices to ensure good corporate governance. This included
strengthening the conformity of transparency, ethics, and
code of conduct compliance to create confidence towards
shareholders, and other stakeholders. The financial
statements of 2019 had been reviewed by the Audit
Committee, Executives and the authorized auditors to
ensure that the company’s financial statements and
financial data disclosure are accurate, adequate and meet
the general accounting standard. The Audit Committee
also suggested the improvements of internal control
system to align the system with rules, and good corporate
governance policies, especially those concerning with
conflict of interest.

The Audit Committee also held meetings with
external auditors and internal audit department in order
to discuss the issues on risk assessment and prevention,
audit results and the adequacy of the internal control
systems. Moreover, the Audit Committee brought into
close consideration the internal audit plans and major
company’s operations to ensure transparency and compliance
with laws and regulations.

In 2019, the Audit Committee held 5 meetings,
including those with external auditors without Executives
or Management presence, in order to be well-informed all
problems and audit findings’ concerns. In addition, the
Audit Committee has self-assessed the Audit Committee
performance for 2019. Also, PricewaterhouseCoopers
ABS Ltd., was nominated and chosen as external
auditor for 2020 based on the company's qualification,
independence, experiences and audit fee. This has been
proposed to the Board of Directors for further approval
in Shareholders’ Meeting.

Mr. Phisit Dachanabhirom

Chairman of the Audit Committee



Board of Directors







Myr. Surachai Chetchotisak
Age 57

Position : Chairman, Chairman of the
Executive Committee and Chief Executive
Officer

Shareholding : 2070%

Education :

Honorary Doctorate of Marketing,
Chandrakasem Rajabhat University
Bachelor of Political Sciences,
Ramkhamhaeng University

Thai Institute of Directors Training :
Director Accreditation Program (DAP) Year
2003

Certificate Program in 2019 : -

Experience :

2012 - Present : Chairman

RS Public Company Limited
«2003 - Present : Chairman of the
Executive Committee

RS Public Company Limited
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+1992 - Present : Chief Executive Officer
RS Public Company Limited

«2003 - 2012 : Vice Chairman

RS Public Company Limited

Directorships in other companies
that are not owned by the RS Public
Company Limited :

« Director, Chetchotisak Co.,Ltd.

- Director, Membership Co.,Ltd.

- Director, Tiger Fun Co.,Ltd.

« Director, Chetchot Co.,Ltd.

- Director, Soaring Tiger Co.,Ltd.

« Director, Golden Tiger Co.,Ltd.

Shareholding at the beginning of year
2019 (shares) : 366,300,000

Shares buying during year 2019 (shares) : -
Shares selling/transferring during
year 2019 (shares) : 165,031,700
Shareholding at the ending of year
2019 (shares) : 201,268,300

Relation among Family with Other
Directors and Management : None



Mrs. Pornpan Techarungchaikul

Age 49

Position : Director, Member of the
Executive Committee, Chairman of the
Corporate Governance Committee,
Chairman of the Risk Management
Committee, Chairman of the Human
Development Committee, Company
Secretary and Chief Commercial Officer

Shareholding : None

Education :

Master of Business Administration
(MBA), Sasin Graduate institute of
Business Administration of
Chulalongkorn University

Bachelor of Statistics, Chulalongkorn
University

Thai Institute of Directors Training :
Director Certification Program (DCP)
Year 2007

Director Accreditation Program (DAP)
Year 2004

Certificate Program in 2019 : -

Experience :

« Oct 15, 2019 - Present : Chief
Commercial Officer

RS Public Company Limited

. 2011 - Present : Chairman of the
Corporate Governance Committee

RS Public Company Limited

. 2010 - Present : Chairman of the Risk
Management Committee

RS Public Company Limited

- 2008 - Present : Company Secretary
RS Public Company Limited

« 2007 - Oct 14, 2019 : Chief Operating Officer
RS Public Company Limited

. 2004 - Present : Director, Member of
the Executive Committee and Chairman
of the Human Development Committee
RS Public Company Limited

Directorships in other companies that
are not owned by the RS Public
Company Limited : -

Shareholding at the beginning of year
2019 (shares) : -

Shares buying during year 2019
(shares) : -

Shares selling/transferring during
year 2019 (shares) : -

Shareholding at the ending of year
2019 (shares) : -

Relation among Family with Other
Directors and Management : None
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Myr. Darm Nana
Age 50

Position : Director, Member of the Executive
Committee and Chief Financial Officer

Shareholding : None

Education :

Master of Business Administration (MBA),
University of Notre Dame, Indiana, USA
Bachelor of Arts in Economics (BA Econ),
Thammasat University

Thai Institute of Directors Training :
Director Certification Program (DCP)
Year 2008

Director Accreditation Program (DAP)
Year 2008

Certificate Program in 2019 :
Beyond Treasury Management, The
Federation of Accounting Professions

Experience :
« 2007 - Present : Director, Member of the
Executive Committee and Chief

12

Financial Officer

RS Public Company Limited

. 2011 - 2016 : Member of the Corporate
Governance Committee

RS Public Company Limited

« 2010 - 2016 : Member of the Risk
Management Committee

RS Public Company Limited

. 2002 - 2007 : Senior Vice President
Corporate Banking HSBC Thailand

Directorships in other companies that
are not owned by the RS Public
Company Limited : -

Shareholding at the beginning of year
2019 (shares) : -

Shares buying during year 2019 (shares) : -
Shares selling/transferring during
year 2019 (shares) : -

Shareholding at the ending of year 2019
(shares) : -

Relation among Family with Other
Directors and Management : None



Mr. Danaisidh Peslapunt
Age 64

Position : Director, Member of the
Corporate Governance Committee,
Member of the Risk Management
Committee and Chief Legal Officer

Shareholding : None

Education :

Thai Barrister at Law from The Institute
of Legal Education Thai Bar Association
Bachelor of Law from Ramkhamhaeng
University

Certificate of International Trade, Institute
of Legal Education Thai Bar Association
Certificate of Tax Law, Institute of Legal
Education Thai Bar Association

Thai Institute of Directors Training :
Director Certification Program (DCP)
Year 2008

Director Accreditation Program (DAP)
Year 2008

Financial Statements for Directors
(FSD) Year 2008

Certificate Program in 2019 : -

Experience :

. Feb 1, 2017 - Present : Member of the
Corporate Governance Committee and
Member of the Risk Management Committee
RS Public Company Limited

. 2015 - Present : Chief Legal Officer
RS Public Company Limited

- 2008 - Present : Director

RS Public Company Limited

« 2007 - 2015 : Executive Vice President -
Central Legal Office

RS Public Company Limited

« 2012 - 2014 : Member of the Nomination
and Remuneration Committee

RS Public Company Limited

« 1997 - 2007 : Law Consultant

RS Public Company Limited

Directorships in other companies
that are not owned by the RS Public
Company Limited : -

Shareholding at the beginning of year
2019 (shares) : -

Shares buying during year 2019
(shares) : -

Shares selling/transferring during
year 2019 (shares) : -

Shareholding at the ending of year
2019 (shares) : -

Relation among Family with Other
Directors and Management : None
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Mr. Sorat Vanichvarakij
Age 46

Position : Director
Shareholding : 10.08%

Education :

Master of Business Administration (MBA),
Asian Institute of Technology (AIT)
Bachelor of Marketing Business
Administration, Assumption
University of Thailand (ABAC)

Thai Institute of Directors Training :
Director Certification Program (DCP)
Year 2013

Certificate Program in 2019 : -

Experience :

. 2012 - Present : Director

RS Public Company Limited

- 2000 - Present : Chief Executive Officer
Pan Asia Industrial Company Limited

14

Directorships in other companies that
are not owned by the RS Public
Company Limited :

Managing Director, Pan Asia Industrial
Company Limited

Shareholding at the beginning of year
2019 (shares) : 113,000,000

Shares buying during year 2019
(shares) : -

Shares selling/transferring during
year 2019 (shares) : 15,000,000
Shareholding at the ending of year
2019 (shares) : 98,000,000

Relation among Family with Other
Directors and Management : None



Mr. Phisit Dachanabhirom
Age 78

Position : Independent Director, Chairman
of the Audit Committee and Chairman
of the Nomination and Remuneration
Committee

Shareholding : None

Education :

Bachelor of Accounting, Thammasat University
Bachelor of Commerce, Thammasat University
Certified Public Account No.g66

Thai Institute of Directors Training :
Director Certification Program (DCP)
Year 2007

Audit Committee Program (ACP) Year 2005
Director Accreditation Program (DAP) Year 2004

Certificate Program in 2019 : -

Experience :

« 2018 - Present : Chairman of the Committee
BJC Staff Savings Cooperative Limited
. 2014 - Present : Director

Don Muang Tollway Public Company Limited
« Feb 2007 - Present : Independent Director,
Chairman of the Audit Committee and
Chairman of the Nomination and
Remuneration Committee

RS Public Company Limited

. 2003 - Present : Director, Chairman of
Audit Committee and Vice Chairman of
Selection and Remuneration Committee
Jaymart Public Company Limited

« 2001 - Present : Chairman of the Executive
Committee Professional Alliance Group
Limited

1992 - Present : Director and Member of
the Executive Committee

Polipharm Company Limited

2002 - 2014 : Member of the Executive
Committee Phuket International
Hospital Company Limited

Directorships in other companies that
are not owned by the RS Public
Company Limited :

- Chairman of the Committee

BJC Staff Savings Cooperative Limited
« Director

Don Muang Tollway Public Comparty Limited
« Chairman of the Executive Committee,
Professional Alliance Group Limited
« Director and Chairman of Audit Committee
Jaymart Public Company Limited

« Director

Polipharm Company Limited

Shareholding at the beginning of year
2019 (shares) : -

Shares buying during year 2019
(shares) : -

Shares selling/transferring during
year 2019 (shares) : -

Shareholding at the ending of year
2019 (shares) : -

Relation among Family with Other
Directors and Management : None
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Mrs. Wansuda Thanasaranart
Age 68

Position : Independent Director, Member
of the Audit Committee and Member of
the Nomination and Remuneration Committee

Shareholding : -

Education :

Master of Business Administration
(MBA), Thammasat University
Bachelor of Accounting, Chiangmai
University

Thai Institute of Directors Training :
Director Accreditation Program (DAP)
Year 2016

Certificate Program in 2019 : -

Experience :

. Jan 2016 - Present : Independent Director,
Member of the Audit Committee and
Member of the Nomination and Remuneration
Committee

RS Public Company Limited
16

. 2010 - Present : Senior Vice President
- Chinese and Corporate Customers
Bangkok Bank Public Company Limited

Directorships in other companies
that are not owned by the RS Public
Company Limited : -

Shareholding at the beginning of year
2019 (shares) : -

Shares buying during year 2019
(shares) : -

Shares selling/transferring during
year 2019 (shares) : -

Shareholding at the ending of year
2019 (shares) : -

Relation among Family with Other
Directors and Management : None



Mr. Chakkrit Parapuntakul
Age 60

Position : Independent Director, Member of
the Audit Committee and Member of the

Nomination and Remuneration Committee

Shareholding : -

Education :

Master of Business Administration (MBA),
Angelo State University, Texas, US.A
Bachelor of Accounting, Thammasat University

Thai Institute of Directors Training : -

Director Accreditation Program (DAP) Year 2004
Board Matters and Trends (BMT 4,/2017) Year 2017
Ethical Leadership Program (ELP 9/2017) Year 2017

Certificate Program in 2019 : -

Experience :

« Jul 9, 2019 - Present : Independent Director,
Member of the Audit Committee and
Member of the Nomination and
Remuneration Committee

RS Public Company Limited

« 2019 - Present : Director and Chairman of

the Independent Director,

Synnex (Thailand) Public Company Limited
« 2018 - Present : Chairman of the Committee ,
NBD Healthcare Company Limited

« 2018 - Present : Chairman of the Committee,
ASEAN Potash Chaiyaphum Public Company
Limited

« 2018 - Present : Chairman of the Committee
and Chairman of the Audit Committee,
Sabuy Technology Public Company Limited
« 2017 - Present : Deputy Permanent Secretary,
Ministry of Finance

- 2017 - Present : President, Federation of
Accounting Professions under The Royal Patronage
of His Majesty The King

« 2017 - Present : Director,

Esso (Thailand) Public Company Limited
« 2015 - Present : Director and Member of the
Nomination, Compensation and Corporate
Governance Committee Siam Commercial Bank
- 2014 - Present : Director,

Pinthong Industrial Park Public Company Limited
« 2017 - 2018 : Director

TRIS Corporation Company Limited

« 2015 - 2017 : Director - General,

Treasury Department

« 2015 - 2017 : Chairman,

Dhanarak Asset Development Company Limited
« 2014 - 2015 : Director,

Krung Thai Bank Public Company Limited
« 2013 - 2016 : Director,

Vichitbhan Palmoil Public Company Limited
« 2011 - 2016 : Director,

PTT Exploration and Production Public
Company Limited

« 2003 - Apr 2019 : Chairman of the
Committee and Independent Director,

MPG Corporation Public Company Limited

Directorships in other companies that are
not owned by the RS Public Company
Limited :

« Deputy Permanent Secretary; Ministry of Finance
« President, Federation of Accounting
Professions under The Royal Patronage of
His Majesty The King

« Chairman of the Committee, NBD
Healthcare Company Limited

« Chairman of the Committee, ASEAN
Potash Chaiyaphum Public Company Limited
« Chairman of the Committee and
Chairman of the Audit Committee, Sabuy
Technology Public Company Limited

« Director and Chairman of the Independent
Director, Synnex (Thailand) Public Company
Limited

« Director and Member of the Nomination,
Compensation and Corporate Governance
Committee, Siam Commercial Bank

« Director, Pinthong Industrial Park Public
Company Limited

« Director, Esso (Thailand) Public Company
Limited

Shareholding at the beginning of year
2019 (shares): -

Shares buying during year 2019 (shares) : -
Shares selling/transferring during year
2019 (shares) : -

Shareholding at the ending of year 2019
(shares) : -

Relation among Family with Other
Directors and Management : None
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RS Public Company Limited (“RS” or “Company”)
was established in 1976, starting from a comprehensive
music business. Later, it was converted into a public
company, listed on the Stock Exchange of Thailand in
2003 with a registered capital of 560 million baht. The
Company later changed its name to “RS Public Company
Limited". As of December 31, 2019, the Company’s issued
and paid-up capital was 972,495,202 shares, with a par
value of one baht. The Company has expanded
continuously since its music business days, going into
radio and television media and event business. Since
April 2014, the Company has adapted its existing
“Channel 8", which originally aired on the satellite TV
system, to a standard-definition digital TV instead. In the
same year, the Company has started to sell health and
beauty products, advertising them through the
Company's television and radio media platforms,
including product launches online and via modern retail
stores. Also, the Company has developed a telemarketing
system that analyzes customer data to recommend
products and close sales, as well as a more effective after-
sales support system. From 2018 to 2019, the Company
continued to work on and expand distribution channels
through its commerce business and collaborating with
various digital TV channel partners, offering diverse
items including personal appliances, household goods,
accessories and more. In addition, the Company
developed and increased the number of telemarketing
teams to be able to analyze customer data precisely and
support the increasing number of customers, which is in
excess of 1.3 million. These activities have made this
business highly unique, with continuous growth.
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Core Purpose

Inspire and fulfill people with valuable entertainment and solutions.

Motto

Passion To Win

5 - Year Business Direction

RS is an organization that conducts business
with “opportunity” by focusing on market leadership,
continual investment in the business to sustain the
commerce business, and expansion to related
businesses. The contribution from new businesses is
to increase significantly, strengthening the Company'’s
total revenue.

Significant Changes and Developments in
the Past 3 Years

The Company has evolved from being a leader
in the media business to becoming a commerce business
that provides content and powerful entertainment as well
as sells both its own products and that of its partners.
This includes estabilishing a system to analyze customer
data and a telemarketing system through the brand “RS
Mall”. The Company also continuously expands its
distribution channels to be more diverse for both itself
and its partnetrs.

Overview of the Business Operations of the
Company and its Subsidiaries
Currently, RS’s main business operations are

divided into 3 groups, which are the commerce business,
media business, and music and other businesses. The
commerce business commands the highest proportion
of income, conducting its activities under RS Mall
Company Limited and Lifestar Company Limited to sell
health and beauty products, personal appliances and
household goods, accessories and more. Distribution is
conducted through the media channels of the Company,
including television media, with Channel 8 being a leader
in the digital TV group under R.S. Television Company
Limited, and 3 satellite TV channels; radio media through
the station COQOLfahrenheit; online channels; and
modern retail stores. In addition, the Company has invested
through various subsidiaries, with the below details.

Subsidiaries Owned and Operated by the
Company

- RS Mall Co., Ltd. (99.99%) operates commerce business
- Lifestar Co., Ltd. (99.99%) operates commerce business
- R.S. Television Co., Ltd. (99.99%) operates digital
television business

- Thai Copyright Collection Co., Ltd. (99.99%) operates
copyright collection

The Company’s Investment Structure

RS Public Company Limited

99.99%
Lifestar Co., Ltd.

99.99%
RS Mall Co., Ltd.

Remarks

99.99%
R.S. Television Co., Ltd.

99.99%
Thai Copyright
Collection Co., Ltd.

- The percentage shown is the percentage of RS’s investment in each company.
- The remaining shareholders of subsidiaries that are not owned 100% by the Company are not related to

the Company.

- The temporarily suspended subsidiaries consist of Coolism Co., Ltd, R.S. Sportmaster Co., Ltd., RS
International Broadcasting and Sports Management Co., Ltd., R Alliance Co., Ltd., Yaak Co., Ltd. and

Goodlife Group Co., Ltd.
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Description







Business
Description

Type of Revenue

Commerce business 1.389.1

Media business 1,703.5
Music & Other business 409.1

Total Revenue 3,501.7

Commerce Business

Life

LIFESTAR COMPANY LIMITED

Mall

The commerce business, operated under RS Mall
Company Limited and Lifestar Company Limited, offers
avariety of products including Health & Beauty Products,
Home & Lifestyle Products and Accessories. The health
and beauty products are divided into skin care products
under the brand “Magique’, hair care under the brand
“Revive” and food supplements under the brand “S.O.M",
of which the company has collaborated on with research
institutions and local and overseas manufacturers. The
latter are producers of quality products that meet
international standards as well as address the needs of
customers. Also, the Company has partnered with the
product owner. As a result, there are over 100 items sold
through the distribution channels of the commerce
business. The procurement of products stems from
research data from leading research and testing
laboratories that the Company works with, including
direct data collection from customers. This helps the
Company understand the trends and needs of the overall
market as well as the consumers’ needs before developing
each type of product. Before and during the sale of each
type of product, the Company conducts a random
inspection of product quality by regularly submitting
components for inspection with the laboratory. If the
product is from a partner, it is randomly inspected before
being sent to the warehouse and while it leaves the
warehouse before it reaches the hands of the consumers.

Regarding many of the Company’s distribution
channels, there is continuous development and promotion

26

At present, RS Group has 3 main core businesses which consist
of Commerce, Media, and Music & Other businesses.

Revenue Structure

Amount [ ShareinTotal § Amount [ShareinTotal i Amount [ Share in Total
(million baht) Rezl(%;ue (million baht) Rex%;ue (million baht) Re‘((%l)lue

40 2,126.8 56 2,012.4 56
49 1,344.7 35 1,069.2 30
11 355.2 9 529.5 14
100 3,826.7 100 3,611.1 100

of product variety under the brand “RS Mall” using the
Company's offline and online media channels, including:
1) Offline media owned by the Company including
Channel 8, satellite TV channels and radio media through
COOLfahrenheit, as well as two other digital TV channels
owned by partners, namely, Thairath TV and Workpoint,
that can reach over 30 million viewers per day; 2) Online
media on the Company's own platform of www.rsmall.
co.th and LINE SHOP via @RSMall, which have over
500,000 followers, and during the year, the Company also
entered into trade agreements with other leading online
platforms in the country to present products through
channels such as Shopee and Lazada; and 3) Sell through
more than 600 modern retail stores nationwide.
Should the customer wish to buy products and
services, they can do so through the various channels
(except for products placed in modern retail stores and
cosmeceutical outlets) via the Company's call center
agent and system. The Company has continuously
developed a telemarketing system to support a growing
customer base of more than 1.3 million people; it is also
able to analyze customer data to precisely meet the needs
and lifestyles of customers. The Company has developed
the skills and capabilities of its outbound call center in
order to be able to recommend and effectively sell
products that meet the needs of customers. The Company
also added a customer relationship management (CRM)
team to take care of important VIP customers, ensure
customer satisfaction, and maintain loyalty of the






customer base to the RS Mall brand and increase the
number of repeat purchases. In addition, the Company
organizes sales and marketing activities throughout the
year such as “Shop1781 Mid Year Super Sales” and “RS
Mall New Year Celebration 2020” to stimulate customer
spending from both new customers and existing
customers in the Company's database, which has grown
to 1.3 million at the end of 2019.

The Company has outsourced an external
company to deliver products to the customers. For
customers in Bangkok and its perimeters, the goods will
be sent within the day following the date of purchase.
Customers in the provinces will receive their products
within 1 to 5 days. More than g9 percent of payments is
from the collection of cash upon delivery.

Marketing and Competition

The Thai retail market has a market size of 4 to
5 trillion baht, with a steady growth rate of approximately
5 percent per year. However, in 2019, the growth rate
decreased to 3.1 percent, and in 2020, it is expected to
grow at a level of 2.7 to 3.0 percent. However, the
E-Commerce market targets customers with medium to
high purchasing power, and it still has the tendency to
perform better than other retail markets. It also plays an
increasing number of roles, with a growth rate that is
higher than 20 percent per year, especially in Thailand
which has the highest such growth rate in the ASEAN
region. At the end of 2019, more than go percent of
revenue from the Company's commerce business was
from advertising and distribution through the Company's
offline media. When considering competitive aspects, it
can be deemed that the Company does not have direct
competitors. The purchasing behavior of customers
through the above mentioned channels stems from
satisfaction and product purchasing decisions based on
product features, pricing and promotions that meet the
current needs of customers. Viewers, listeners, music fans
and program fans of the Company's media are approached
at the same time which differentiate the Company from
the media of other companies.

It is the view of Kasikorn Thai Research Center
that, although the online shopping market will play a
greater role in consumers’' purchasing behaviors in the
next 5 years, consumers are still expected to choose to
buy products through both offline and online channels,
depending on the type of product and their emotional
states, moods or demands at that time. However, retailers
must differentiate their products, as well as offer services
thatimpress or create new experiences for each customer.
They must also have the flexibility to adapt quickly to
meet the needs of each client who is always looking for
new experiences or new things, in order to encourage
repeat purchases and get such customers to share
information or such experiences to other potential new
customer groups. Through this approach, which is
consistent with the method of expanding the commerce
business of the Company, it can be seen that in 2019, in
addition to advertising and selling through the Company's
media channels with a high growth rate due to the in-
depth analysis of data surrounding the needs of customers
as well as the support of a telemarketing team with
increased efficiency, the Company is also expanding new
distribution channels both in its online channels and
modern retailers, as well as developing sales channels
through Application COOLISM, a platform of
COOLfarenheit. This allows nearly 2 million active users
to listen to online music, which can be considered a new
channel that will be launched in 2020, in line with
current consumer behavior patterns.

Procurement of Products or Services

The Company, in collaboration with the
International Research Institute, invented important
ingredients that comprise each product. Once a vital
ingredient or extract is obtained, it is produced by leading
national manufacturers. Some components are also
produced by the Company’ partners who are contracted
to produce quality products. The Company then
advertises and brings the products to the market through
the Company’s distribution channels.

Media Business
RS media business consists of two major
media channels i.e. Television and Radio.

Television Media Business

RS operates “Channel 8" digital TV and 3 satellite

TV channels, including Sabaidee TV, Channel 2 and
SATYV that have distinctive formats and target viewers,
as follows:
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Channel 8

The “Channel 8" television channel, under the
concept “Everyone Can Watch Channel 8, Press Number
27", presents programs that respond to the needs of the
majority of the audience in the country. The concept is to
feature free television that can reach people of many
genders and ages. There are programs that serve as the









magnets of the channel, such as news programs with the
slogan “Channel 8 News, Reliable and Easy to
Understand”, which continues to be popular, along with
“Morning News”, “Evening News” and “Late Evening
News” as well as other news programs presenting talks
and grievances, delicious menus and various popular
tourist attractions, such as “Cho Praden’, “Pak Tong Dong
Ru" and “Sakit Kao Rop Lok”. This also includes programs
in the boxing sports group which has continuously
improving ratings like “8 Muay Thai Super Champ”;
added time for “Muay Hardcore” boxing program on
Saturday where the unique difference is the use of open-
fingered gloves (MMA fighting); and “Ultimate Fighting
Championship (UFC)” world-class boxing that has been
licensed for live broadcasting. Channel 8 also maintained
its leadership in international series that have been
popular for a long time. In 2019, Channel 8 began
production of a 4-part series under the name “The Series
8", which has increased over 70 percent in popularity
among a new audience in Bangkok and its vicinity. Ten
new dramas in 2019, including “Dong Poodee”, “Matchurat
Holiday”, “Bussaba Pean Foon”, “Pom Rak Salap Huajai",
“Preng Lablae”, “Manee Naka”, “Thepthida Khon Nok”,
“Perng Ritsaya’, “Lae Ranjuan” and “Sang Nang Prai”,
remain viewers' favorites in 2019, and Channel 8 will
continue to produce quality shows in the drama, fantasy,
mystery and beliefs genres throughout 2020. The year
will also see Channel 8 advance further into the drama
segment, catering to the preferences of Channel 8
viewers, as well as increase its entertainment factor with
a range of variety programs that have always been
popular, including “Krua Lan Thung”, “Eung Teung Siew”,
“Plaek Tua Tid", and new programs that have proven to
be extremely popular online like “Chong Song Phee".
With such a variety of popular program types, “Channel
8" enjoys top ratings in the country, based on surveys
conducted by AGB Nielsen Media Research (Thailand)
throughout 2010.
aNan"™ ‘ 2
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Satellite Television

consists of 3 main channels: Sabaidee TV,
Channel 2 and SATV. Each channel maintains its own
concept and types of programs, as follows:

Sabaidee TV

“Sabaidee TV - Number One Hit Music
Television Station in Thailand” targets Thai music lovers,
presenting a variety of music genres, including folk songs,
music for life, string music, popular songs in the past, and
old songs that are hard to find. The strength of Sabaidee
TV channel lies in overseeing the production and
management of content under the RSiam music label,
resulting in a variety of programs. Coupled with the
selection of unique program operators, the programming
is memorable and loved by a variety of groups, making
the Sabaidee TV channel a fun way to watch television
throughout the day. And, ongoing events make it possible
to communicate with and reach out to more audiences.

Channel 2

“Channel 2" showcases superb dramas and
international series from China, India and Korea that
have been highly popular on Channel 8. Each has been
carefully selected and concisely presented on Channel 2,
to retain the audience base by catering to their favorite
entertainment styles.

SATV
“SATV” or “Satellite Variety” presents MV of hit
songs, leading series and movies, throughout the day:.

Marketing and Competition

The television media industry competes for
viewers and ad spending is more intense than in the past.
In terms of digital TV licenses in the business, there has
been an increase to 24 licenses (22 channels). In 2019, the
Office of the National Broadcasting and Telecommunications
Commission (NBTC) terminated the licenses of 7 digital
TV channels, resulting in 15 remaining channels.
However, this does not reduce competition in the
business as it is still concentrated among the leading
channels. Channel 8 reflects a channel with extensive
experience in television media, having been engaged in
the satellite TV business. The Company has the
knowledge and capability, continuously producing good
quality works that draw audiences. It is still being affected
by the slowdown in the overall media industry, although
the number of TV viewers in the past 5 years has not
changed much.

The current high competition among operators,
along with the economic slowdown, has caused ad
spending to be quite limited, with some budgets shifting
to online media advertising. To be able to survive in this
industry, operators must produce outstanding programs
that are interesting and relevant to the needs of the target
group. They must also apply proper cost management of
their program productions, an extremely important
factor. Another thing that cannot be ignored is to put out
interesting content on online media at the right time,
which can be another source of income.

The intense competition resulted in rich and
diverse content on digital TV, which in turn made the
viewership of satellite TV decrease. Nevertheless, as the
cost of satellite TV is not high, compared to that of digital
TV, the Company will continue to impart importance to
its satellite television channels, aiming to maintain its
leadership position in the satellite TV business as well as
to control production costs at a moderate level. One
measure is to re-broadcast content that was popular in
the past in order to attract diverse and unique viewers.
Another measure is to seek new sources of revenue by
using television as an additional marketing and
distribution channel for the Company’s commerce
business.

For the marketing strategy, in addition to setting
clear target audience groups, and designing and
producing quality programs, the Company has also
leveraged its competitive advantage. Channel 8 focuses
on an audience aged 35 years and up because this is still
the main audience watching television programs. It is a
large market with a high purchasing ability. The Company
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also targets the youth market and the country music
market, which it has been involved with since the past.
It also produces programs on satellite TV channels with
content from artists, singers, actors and MCs involved in
music and others. Used as a key component in the
production of programs, combined with the strength of
ateam that is experienced in the production of television
programs, the production results are of high quality and
receive good feedback. This is enhanced with the flexible
structure in management and cost management,
including using the company’s staff in some of the
production processes, employing external personnel
(outsourcing) and using the same personnel in the digital
TV and satellite TV channel operations. Managing the
cost of television media is going as planned, and the
Company can focus on quality as well, in order to be
accepted and trusted by both the audience and customers.
While analysis of the needs of the target audience helps
to develop the format of the programs to match the needs
of the audience and customers, and raise the popularity
of the programming, another important component is
that the production quality must satisfy the audience and

customers, including services both before and after sales,
such as responding to customer needs quickly and
precisely, listening to and solving problems for customers,
creating a pack for selling advertising to meet the needs
of customers and maximizing their benefits, etc.

Procurement of Products or Services

The Company has signed contracts with various
personnel. It has also selected employees, from the front
end to the back end, that are capable, skilled and accepted
by the target customer group. For front end staff, there
is a focus on artists and performers in the RS network,
butindependent performers and artists are also selected.
As for production process, the Company’s team handles
the formatting and production management. While
production is handled by the Company’s employees to
one extent and contract productions are also employed.
The Company maintains partners who are leading
domestic and international companies to help
continuously select new and interesting programs for
local audiences.

Radio Media Business

The Company engages in the radio media
business through the radio frequency system of F.M. 93.0
MHz around Bangkok and vicinity, through online
channel at www.COOLISM.net and mobile platform via
COOLISM application under the brand of
COOQOLfahrenheit, with the following details:

COOL
COOL

23 .
fahrenheit

| o

Concessioner Navy Radio Station
Airtime 24 hours
. Bangkok and vicinity, and through online
Slgnal Coverage and mobile channels nationwide

Program Concept GEN COOL Living Young & Beyond

Target Audience Generation C, aged between 20 to 44 years

COOLfahrenheit Radio Station

COOLfahrenheit follows the Digital
Transformation strategy. Without attaching its brand
solely to a FM Analog radio station, the station has
forayed into the digital platform and plans to maintain a
hybrid system. The Company continues to fully operate
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commercial radio by continuing to focus on maintaining
its popularity. At present, COOLfahrenheit, under the
concept “GEN COOL Living Young & Beyond”, has been
able to keep its listener base and popularity all over the
country, as well as maintain its number 1 rating in the
target category for over 16 years. These results are from
a survey conducted by AGB Nielsen Media Research
(Thailand), which resulted in advertising firm clients and
product owners remaining confident in utilizing the
Company's advertising media.

Programming Format

COOLfahrenheit is a station offering
international and Thai music for Generation C that
connects with the online world; they are aged between
20 t0 44 years, located both in the Bangkok metropolitan
region and major cities nationwide. The station has been
recognized by audiences for more than 16 years, and it is
the first station to continuously play popular music, with
carefully chosen songs based on a survey of listeners. The
experience is enhanced by a professional COOL] team
that is unique and popular with listeners. The station also
organizes activities that speak to the lifestyles and
continually broadens the outlook of a new generation of
professionals. Signature activities include COOL Outing,
which gives a grand prize winner the chance to take their
office to popular tourist destinations domestically and
internationally; Ink Eat All Around, an event for foodies
that showcases delicious local and global food, backed by
M.L. Pasan Sawasdiwat; and COOL Music Fest, a music
festival for Gen Y. These factors have all helped to make
COOLfahrenheit the number one music station
continuously, according to an AGB Nielsen Media
Research (Thailand) survey from 2002 to the present (date
from December 2019) in the Thai and international music
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radio program groups, with listeners aged 20 to 44 years.

Marketing and Competition

Marketing and competition in the radio media
business remains high due to reduced ad spending.
Customers thus choose to purchase advertising media at
stations that are highly popular. While this is the main
factor of consideration, pricing strategy is also an
important point for such decision making. As such, the
Company leverages its strengths of being the number
one-rated station in terms of CPM or cost per thousand,
a comparison of the ratio of listeners and advertising
prices per unit that indicates value for money, allowing
customers to get maximum efficiency and reach the most
targeted audiences. In addition, new media bundle
packages have been created for sale under the COOL
brand, including On Air, Online and On Mobile. With
over 49 million online listeners per month in the past
year, this platform takes the number one spot in Asia.

Marketing Strategy
1. “Value for Money” strategy

Creating the most benefit for the customer's
existing ad spending in a sales package format includes
the selling of advertising time and marketing and
promotional activities, making the investment
worthwhile.

In addition, the Company has designed packages
that reach a target audience in either the FM Analog and
Digital Platform systems, focusing on Gen Y across the
country, who are also likely to increase their use of digital
online media, to meet the media buyer's needs.

2. Strategy of promotional activities

The radio media business has become intensely
competitive for those who want to create unique
programming that adds value for the radio station and
the customers as well as for the products featured in
various promotional activities. Advertising alone is not
sufficient to meet the needs of the customers, and to build
the brands of the company and station. For this reason,
the Company has improved its implementation strategy
to focus on the promotion of a strategic partnership with
partners in various fields by participating as a media
partner in an event or a concert with the same target
group. This also results in added value of the products in
the promotional activities that are done between the
show and the audience.

As for the promotional activities, the Company
will focus on activities that can provide quality
information and entertainment to the event participants.
At the same time, the activities should be able to
effectively fulfill the customers’ marketing policies. They
should also be clear and appropriate for the target
audience, and ultimately enable the Company to generate
another income stream for the customer.

In addition, the Company also leverages its
advertising and public relations departments to publicize
the activities of COOLfahrenheit and its clients, to
become widely known and accepted via press releases
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and advertising in other media, such as online media,
television shows, and out of home (OOH) media, etc.

3. Strategic planning of advertising services

The personnel of the Company have been in the
radio segment for a long time; they possess good
knowledge and understanding of the radio media
business. They can advise customers on how to plan for
the management of the best quality media as well as how
to purchase advertising time or advertising packages that
suits their purposes and listeners. The Company can plan
special ad hoc activities to meet customer needs and
accommodate any shortcomings in each type of product.
The Company maintains a policy of partnership with
each product that supports a program, which factors into
advertising planning to glean the most value from the
services of the Company.

Procurement of Products or Services
1. Radio hosts and creative and production personnel

The Company has created a new generation of
radio hosts; each must increase their potential and
capacity. In particular, they must have basic knowledge
of marketing, know how to use technology and social
media to achieve maximum benefit. They must also be
able to carry the program in line with the expectations
of the target audience. Currently, the hosts of the
Company must have the skills to facilitate on ground
promotional events and accommodate special
promotional events. The host will serves as a key
contributor in building the popularity of the station.

2. Broadcasting System

The Company has chosen to use a computer
system to control the broadcast automation technology
to meet international standards. The software is also
constantly updated to be modern, and the broadcasting
quality of FM radio systems and digital platforms can be
accessed from all types of devices.

Music Business

RSIAM

The music business of RS is comprehensive,
covering every format. The business focuses on working
without borders, to create content that is varied and
meets the needs of the artist, market and target group
through a media strategy, marketing, artist management
and song content management in terms of the artist and
song through both online media such as streaming, social
media and downloads; and offline media such as
television, events and showbiz.



1. To structure the music business model, the production of
music begins with the offering of ideas, the concept and a
definition of the target audience with artists who are ready
to partner with RS, which features a team that is efficient
and experienced in a variety of media channels, including
both offline and online formats. This makes it possible to
produce a wide variety of music to satisfy every target group,
as well as produce music to market constantly. The process
then includes the presentation of the concept and strategy
to the Music Business Management Board for approval.

2. To set an appropriate production policy, stressing the
importance of quality of the works and closely supervising
the products on the market from beginning to end. Also,
by focusing on communicating with artists on social
media channels, the Company was able to stick to
production based on the initial planning of each project;
they were also able to measure and evaluate both the
quality and response of the target group through various
social media channels.

3. The use of various media, especially the social media of
artists and music networks of the Company and its
affiliates, has helped to make public relations work effective
while leveraging all available media for maximum efficacy.

4. Systematically and efficiently manage music rights to
generate additional revenue for the Company.

5. To add value to the artists who produce the works can
be done via events and other kinds of showbiz, including
taking on brand ambassador and presenter roles for
products with the same positioning and target group as
the artist.

6. To implement a policy that creates opportunities for new
artists, songwriters and new music creation channels or
new media channels, always keeping the Company’s songs
up to date and covering the target audiences.

The music business operations include three
main revenue sources, as follows:

1. Revenue from events and showbiz of the artists under
the label reflects a strategy for event sales and artist
showcases throughout the year. It is also a way to extend
the image of the artist in terms of being a brand ambassador
or presenter for a variety of goods and business extension
with partners through artists’ social media channels such
as branded content.

2. Revenue from the sales of music products in various
formats through digital content, both in terms of music
played by online streaming through various platforms such
as JOOX and Spotify; listening to music and watching online
music videos through platforms such as YouTube and AIS

play; downloading songs and ring tones via the mobile
phone; or downloading full songs from other channels like
iTunes or via wireless application protocol (WAP).

3. Revenue from copyright collected by a Thai copyright
collection Co., Ltd. (TCC), a subsidiary that serves to store
the Company’s copyrighted works used in a commercial

capacity.

Artists/Singers

At present, the Company has artists and singers
with good potential under the RSiam brand, which is part
of the strategy to tackle the changing media landscape and
adapting target groups. In 2020, there will be the addition
of more artists in the strings song category.

Artists and singers under the label, including both
solo artists and groups, are those with the ability to
perform and can add value to the business. They feature a
wide range of music, covering all target groups across the
country. Examples of RSiam artists include Baitoey RSiam,
JaRSiam, Kratae RSiam, Ble Patumrach RSiam, Lulu Lala
RSiam, Flame, Tanya RSiam and Aof Dokfa RSiam etc.

Marketing and Competition

Currently, consumers have different behaviors
when it comes to listening to music, compared to the past.
The important factors for the shift are the use of the
internet and the widespread increase of smartphone usage,
which have both gotten consumers to listen to music
online through various websites or social media,
increasingly so through their smartphones. There has also
been a lot of artists and singers who release their works
online, which has created more competition.

As such, the Company must impart importance
to the music business and lay plans that respond to the
target groups as well as use social media that changes
according to the preferences of the target groups. These
areas of focus will help to reach consumers quickly and
align with the respective lifestyles of each target group.
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RS PCL and its subsidiaries (“Company”) has
assessed and evaluated the risks that might
affect its Companies and subsidiaries that
may result in impacts toward its business
operations as follows:

Risks from relying on product manufacturers

The Company has reputable partners for
production and distribution for its commerce business.
In terms of the products of the Company itself, the
Company determines the active ingredients used as well
as the overall product properties, working together with
leading research institutions around the world. This
includes manufacturers in the development of production
formulations and processes. However, the manufacturer
will procure the raw materials and oversee the whole
process. In cases where a manufacturer has an issue
where they cannot produce such products for the
Company, resulting in the Company being unable to
deliver products on time or according to the needs of
customers, and if this concerns a product under an
affiliate brand, which may cause problems and the
manufacturer is unable to deliver the products according
to the quantity or quality that the Company requires,
which may affect the overall operating results of the
Company, the Company has a policy to manage such
risks. By distributing its orders to many leading
manufacturers in the country, the Company does not rely
on only one manufacturer, while engaging in efforts to
build good relationships with new manufacturers that
are fully qualified. This allows the Company to negotiate
with the manufacturers and be able to control the product
costs more effectively. As for the partner, the Company
will randomly check the quality of the product regularly,
including having plans between each party to prepare
enough products for each sale.
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Risks from health and beauty products expiring

Production orders of health and beauty products
must be in large quantities to reduce cost. Inventory
levels must be maintained adequately for further
distribution to retailers throughout the country. Due to
these necessities, the Company has risk of losing
products to expirations. On average, most health and
beauty products can last up to 3 years. In cases where
consumer trends change, or the Company is in its stages
of higher growth, or the Company must offer new
products frequently to the market, it is important to
research trends before creating a product. Research helps
with analysis, accurate sales forecasts, and market trends.
It is important to keep track of product expiration dates
as well as managing stock appropriately. If a product will
expire within 18 months and there is a slow-moving rate,
the products will be reconsidered by management for a
marketing campaign and promotions to liquidate the
products as soon as possible.

Risk from impact of other non-standard
products in the market

Manufacturers and distributors of non-standard
health and beauty products have caused consumers to be
negatively affected by such counterfeit goods. Also, it
created panic among consumers, leading to some
misunderstandings about all products in the market. The
Food and Drug Administration has thus implemented
intensive monitoring and detection measures that help
weed out non-quality products from the market. On the
part of the Company, we have widely shared public
relations advertisements, to communicate the quality of
the Company’s products to consumers, including the fact
that they are produced from reliable sources and that the
Company sources quality products continuously in order
to guarantee that customers use quality products that
cater to every aspect of their needs. It is vital for
consumers to maintain trust in the Company’s products
and make repeated product purchases.

Risks from announcements on regulations
from the Office of the National Broadcasting
and Telecommunications Commission (NBTC)

The Company operates television business in
the digital terrestrial television and the satellite television
business. The television business is considered a mass
communication business that is very influential to the
people as people can reach and receive information
thoroughly more than any other mass media channels,
hence, business operations of the television business is
essentially operated under the laws. Office of the National
Broadcasting and Telecommunications Commission
(NBTC) is the regulatory authority that issues guidelines
in order to control and supervise television operators in
a setting with free and fair competition. It also oversees
ethical standards and protects consumers, so they gain
benefits and not be taken advantage of by operators. For
example, this covers the supervision of program content
to be of quality suitable for the target group, classification
of programs for the protection of children and youth,

advertisement, promotion and protection of the rights of
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the disabled to access, recognize and utilize the programs,
etc. Also, the NBTC has the duty to develop and promote
the television broadcasting and telecommunication
businesses in Thailand, so that they have sufficient
capacity to support rapid technological development. As
such, the NBTC continuously revises the rules and
regulations to be suitable for the issues of all operators
in each time period. This includes revising the spectrum
management plan that has been modified to restore
certain frequency bands, so that reallocation is more
suitable and beneficial than before; it also complies with
national policies and plans for digital development for
the economy and society, as well as with national strategy
and country reform plans. As such, the various
regulations for controlling the television business of the
Company are not fully established. It would take some
time to see all the regulations coming into force, and the
subsequent impact they would have on the business
operations of the Company, reflecting the risk factors for
the business.

Risks from intense competition in the
television media business

Since the beginning of digital television
broadcasting in the middle of 2014, the television
industry has encountered intense competition as each
channel operator makes various adjustments and
adaptations. The operators have to fight for most of the
ratings and ad spending in the market. Many strategies
have been used to gain popular rating using contents as
the main important magnetism to attract audiences,
especially during prime time that will have the most
intense competition. Thus, audiences will benefit from
variety of choices, and the media agencies will have more
selections on advertising clients. Hence, “rating” and
“good value for money” will be criteria for determining
the advertising choices, thus, making it more difficult to
sell the advertising time. However, due to the facts that
the Company has experiences in the producing of
television programs business and in management of its
own channel for a long time, having clear target audience
group, strong and various contents with patterns that
match the tastes of the target audience, as well as the
organization of various types of the marketing promotion
activities in order to constantly stimulate audiences, and
to be known in a wider area, and thus, eventually place
the Company'’s television channel in a high ranking
position of the AGB Nielsen Media Research (Thailand).
The Company also creates sales packages to glean the
most value for money. These will enable the Company to
maintain market share from competitors in the industry.
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Risks from concessions renewal
Concession for Satellite Television Business

The NBTC has made announcements on the
regulations and methods in giving permission for
television broadcasting in order to organize the satellite
television and cable television operators into its
regulatory mechanisms. The NBTC will issue licenses to
operators periodically in which the initial permits will
have one year duration, and after that consideration will
be made to issue licenses of no more than two years ata
time. NBTC will take into consideration, complaints on
violation of inappropriate contents, or advertising that
contravene with the law, or any actions that are contrary
or inconsistent with the regulations on consumers’
protection, including other new regulations that NBTC
will introduce in future, as the basis to consider the
issuing of the renewal licenses to each operator. The
periodic issuing of licenses with a rather short operating
time may limit business operations, manufacturing plans,
and revenue generating of the Company, however, the
Company realizes the importance of strictly complying
with rules and regulations in order to create confident
that continuous renewal of license on satellite television
will be granted.



Concession for Radio Business

Normally, the leasing period for the radio

station's broadcasting is about two years, if the leasing
time has not been extended, it will result on impacts on
the broadcasting continuity and the Company’s revenue.
This will include risk on any changes in the contract
conditions which may result in the inferior condition
from original contract. Moreover, searching for the new
radio broadcast’s airing time as replacement may result
in losing business continuity, and in building similar
popularity rating as the previous program, or may cause
higher cost as well. However, the Company truly believes
that due to its continuously producing good quality
performances and receiving high popularity with
constant listeners’ base group, including as an important
business operator who abides with standard payment
and strictly conforms to payment conditions on airing
time as well as on building good relationship with the
concession provider, the Company will receive some
trust and, thus, reduce some risk that may happen during
concession renewal. Nevertheless, the Company will
consider value of the concession renewal by comparing
with investment cost. If the concession renewal does not
benefit the Company, investment on concession renewal
may not be considered. However, the Company was
approved a renewal of the concession for two years
which will end in 2021.

Since December 20, 2016, the order by National
Council for Peace and Order, using Article 44 of
constitution of The Kingdom of Thailand extends the
same right and control of frequencies for radio
broadcasting which ended in 2017 for another five years.
The Company realizes the radio business will benefit by
the Order, this results in no change of concession cost
and rights of use of radio broadcasting.

Risks associated with the advancement of
technology

Technology influences the lives of people around
the world. As a result, people’'s communication behavior
has changed rapidly according to the progress of
technology. Communications and access to entertainment
news is within reach, now at one’s fingertips. People
today are able to seek information as well as be a creator
of information for others to access on their own. This is
coupled with the quick spread of information via the
Internet to electronic devices that are in everyone’s hands
such as smartphones, tablets or other portable devices,
which serves as the second screen after television.
Therefore, it is important that the role of television
programs change, adapting to support social media
communications. The Company recognizes the shift
towards these technologies and the opportunity to
communicate with audiences through these avenues. An
important aspect related to social media is the increasing
control, monitoring, and regulation by the government.
However, it is an early stage and information on social
media is less controlled than information on TV, which
is under the supervision of the NBTC. Thus, it is likely a
department will be delegated to supervise and regulate
social media in the near future. This will cause any

businesses operating through these channels to be more
restricted. It will affect business license applications, fees,
and controls on information. However, the Company
always operates with caution and within legal
frameworks, thus ensuring that the Company will be able
to adapt to any situations.

Risks from copyright violation

Over the years, the music industry has been
primarily affected by copyright infringement in a variety
of formats, from physical to digital piracy. Downloading
music from unauthorized websites; taking music content
to create income for entrepreneurs, shops, restaurants
and karaoke shops; organizing various events and
concerts; and using content for commercial purposes or
for personal entertainment via online channels, comprise
activities that infringe on copyrights. As a result, the
revenue from the music segment does not accurately
reflect actual consumption.

However, the Company realizes the importance
of this problem and steps have been enforced to correct
it by always reviewing the new business plan to alleviate
the problem. This is to create flexibility, suitability and
update the situation such as adjustment of the internal
structure of functional work in order to serve the
changing workflow, using sale strategy to be in
accordance with present consumers behavior and
suitable for such media channel at present and in the
future.

The development of the internal working system
is to serve with various existing streaming platforms in
the present market and new platforms that will occur in
future. This also includes having department that is
especially responsible in protection and suppression of
copyright violation, which receives cooperation and
support from government agencies in law enforcement
against operators who are guilty in copyright violation.
From the above mentioned measures, the Company
expects to significantly reduce the impact on risk of being
copyright violated.
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Property Used
in the Business

Property used in the business operations of the Company and
subsidiaries company (RS Group) is detailed as follows:

Office Building

Location

1. 419/1-3 Soi Ladphrao 15,
Ladphrao, Chatuchak,

Rental/
Service Fee/
Month
(million baht)

Ownership

Obligation

RS and subsidiaries made
rental agreement for 1 year

Warehouse

Location

1.9/102 Moo 5, Phaholyothin
Road, Klong 1, Klongluang,

Ownership

RS's subsidiaries made rental

Rental/

Service Fee/
Month
(million baht)

Obligation

Bangkok vl B s 5.65 Nil it agreen?ent forlyyear 0.21 Nil
Total space of 12,882 sq.m. (Jun'18 - Jan'20) Total space of 1,200 sq.m. (May'19 - Apr'zo)
y . 2.9/46 Moo 5, Phaholyothin
2. 203/18-20 Soi Ladphrao 15, RS's subsidiaries made rental Road, Klong 1, Klongluang RS’s subsidiaries made rental
]E“;zil;]l:io’ Chatuchak, agreement for 1 year and 8 0.25 Nil Pathl; i ' ' agreement for 8 months 0.10 Nil
months (Jan'1g - Aug'1g)
Total space of 600 sq.m. (fun'18 - Jar'20) Total space of 600 sq.m.
3.9/119 Moo 5, Phaholyothin . T
3. 203/34-36 Soi Ladphrao 15, ' - Road, Klong 1, Klongluang RS’s subsidiaries made rental ‘
RS's subsidiaries made rental ¢ ! ¢ agreement for 9.5 months 0.10 Nil
Ladphrao, Chatuchak, 0.20 Nil Pathumthani
Bl agreement for 1 year and 8 ’ (Nov'18 - Aug'19)
g TS Total space of 600 sq.m.
Total space of 600 sq.m.
(Jun'18 - Jan'20)
4.9/253-256 Moo 5,
Phaholyothin Road, RS'’s subsidiaries made rental
E ul men t Klong, KloTxgluang, agreement for 5 years 0.50 Nil
q p Pathumthani (Sep'1g - Aug'24)
Total space of 2,932.50 sq.m.
. Book Value
Ownershlp Year 2019 Obligation
(million baht) . .
Concession and Radio leases
1. Studio recording and .
broadcast equipment Qe 5 il Contract
Station Station Owner Tleraml
2. Software and operational G ) Nil

equipment

F.M. 93.0 MHz

Remark

Navy Radio
Station

Jan 1,2018 - Dec

31,2019

* The lease is currently extended to January 1, 2020 - December 31, 2021.

Broadcast transmission service agreement
One of its subsidiaries has entered into a broadcast transmission
service agreement and other related services are as follows:

Contract Term

Service Providers

1. Office of The National Broadcasting and RS oYZ 028

Telecommunications Commission

2. Thaicom Public Company Limited Dec 20, 2019 - Sep 10, 2021

3.TC Broadcasting Company Limited Dec 20, 2019 - Sep 10, 2021

4. Symphony Communication Public Apr 1, 2019 - Mar 31, 2020

Company Limited
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License for operation rights in spectrum of
digital television

R.S. Television Co., Ltd., a subsidiary of the
Company, is permitted to operate the television business,
providing digital television services as a national level
service business in the general category with standard
definition. The license from the Board of the Office of the
National Broadcasting and Telecommunications
Commission (NBTC) number B1-S20031-0012-57 at the
bidding price of 2,265 million baht (exclusive of VAT) is
valid for 15 years from April 25, 2014 to April 24, 2029.

Later, the Order of the National Council for
Peace and Order no. 4/2562 (2019) dated April 11, 2019
waived the last 2 installments of license fee, resulting in
a decrease of fee from 2,265 million baht (exclusive of
VAT) to 1,511 million baht (exclusive of VAT). In 2019,
R.S. Television Co., Ltd. has paid all license fee.
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Legal

Disputes
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The Company and its subsidiaries had no legal
dispute that significantly affected the Company’s business
or posed negative effects on the Group’s assets of which
its overall value, as at December 31, 2019, was higher than
5% of shareholders’ equity. The Company and its
subsidiaries had no legal dispute arisen from an out-of-
the-ordinary course of business of the Group either.
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General Information
and Other Important
Information

General Information

Company’s Name : RS Public Company
Limited

Type of business : Three main businesses:
Commerce, Media including Television
and Radio, Music & Other businesses
Addpress : Chetchotisak Building, 419/1
Soi Ladphrao 15, Ladphrao Road, Chomphon,
Chatuchak, Bangkok 10900, Thailand
Registration No. : 0107546000016
Website : www.rs.co.th

Telephone : +66 2511 0555

Fax :+66 2511 2324

Registered Capital : 1,161,997,216 baht
including 1,161,997,216 ordinary shares at
one baht par value (as of December 31,2019)
Paid-up Capital : 972,495,202 baht
including 972,495,202 ordinary shares at
one baht par value (as of December 31, 2019)

Securities Registrar : Thailand
Securities Depository Co., Ltd.

93 Ratchadaphisek Road, Dindaeng,
Bangkok 10400, Thailand

Website : www.set.or.th/tsd
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Telephone : +66 2009 gooo
Fax : +66 2009 9991

Auditor : Pricewaterhouse Coopers
ABAS Limited

15th Floor Bangkok City Tower, 179/74-80
South Sathorn Road, Bangkok 10120, Thailand
Website : www.pwc.com/th

Telephone : +66 2844 1000

Fax : +66 2286 5050

Legal Consultant : Legal Office, RS
Public Company Limited

Chetchotisak Building, 419/1 Soi
Ladphrao 15, Ladphrao Road, Chomphon,
Chatuchak, Bangkok 10900, Thailand
Telephone : +66 2511 0555

Fax : +66 2938 5622

General Information of the
subsidiary that the company holds
more than 10 percent

Company Name : RS Mall Co., Ltd.
(Formerly: Buntoeng Variety Co., Ltd.)
Address : 3rd Floor Chetchotisak
Building 2 419/2 Soi Ladphrao 15,
Ladphrao Road, Chomphon, Chatuchak,
Bangkok 10900

Tel. +66 2511 0555

)
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Fax. +66 2511 2324

Type of Business : Commerce Business
Type of Share : Ordinary shares
Registered Capital : 1,000,000 Baht
Paid-up Capital : 1,000,000 Baht
Percentage of Shareholding : 99.99

Company Name : Lifestar Co., Ltd.
Address : 419/2 Soi Ladphrao 15,
Ladphrao Road, Chomphon, Chatuchak,
Bangkok 10900

Tel. +66 2902 1933,

+66 2511 0555

Fax. +66 2938 5621

Type of Business : Commerce Business
Type of Share : Ordinary shares
Registered Capital : 200,000,000 Baht
Paid-up Capital : 200,000,000 Baht
Percentage of Shareholding : 99.99

Company Name : R.S. Television Co.,Ltd.
Address : 419/2 Soi Ladphrao 15,
Ladphrao Road, Chomphon, Chatuchak,
Bangkok 10900

Tel. +66 2902 1933,

+66 2511 0555

Fax. +66 2938 5621

Type of Business : Digital Television
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BusinessType of Share : Ordinary shares

Registered Capital : 300,000,000 Baht
Paid-up Capital : 300,000,000 Baht
Percentage of Shareholding : 99.99

Company Name : Thai Copyright
Collection Co., Ltd.

Address : 419/2 Soi Ladphrao 15,
Ladphrao Road, Chomphon, Chatuchak,
Bangkok 10900

Tel. +66 2511 0555

Fax. +66 2938 5694

Type of Business : Copyright Collection
Type of Share : Ordinary shares
Registered Capital : 5,000,000 Baht
Paid-up Capital : 5,000,000 Baht
Percentage of Shareholding : 99.99

Company Name : Coolism Co., Ltd.*
Address : 419/2 Soi Ladphrao 15,
Ladphrao Road, Chomphon,
Chatuchak, Bangkok 10900

Tel. +66 2511 0555

Fax. +66 2938 5694

Type of Business : -

Type of Share : Ordinary shares
Registered Capital : 6,250,000 Baht
Paid-up Capital : 6,250,000 Baht
Percentage of Shareholding : 99.99

NS

Company Name : Yaak Co., Ltd.*
Address : 419/2 Soi Ladphrao 15,
Ladphrao Road, Chomphon,
Chatuchak, Bangkok 10900

Tel. +66 2511 0555

Fax. +66 2938 5694

Type of Business : -

Type of Share : Ordinary shares
Registered Capital : 2,500,000 Baht
Paid-up Capital : 2,500,000 Baht
Percentage of Shareholding : 99.97

Company Name : Goodlife Group Co., Ltd.*
Address : 419/1 Soi Ladphrao 15,
Ladphrao Road, Chomphon,
Chatuchak, Bangkok 10900

Tel. +66 2511 0555

Fax. +66 2511 2324

Type of Business : -

Type of Share : Ordinary shares
Registered Capital : 37,000,000 Baht
Paid-up Capital : 37,000,000 Baht
Percentage of Shareholding : 99.99

Company Name : R Alliance Co., Ltd.”
Address : 203/34-36 Soi Ladphrao 15,
Ladphrao Road, Chomphon,

Chatuchak, Bangkok 10900

Tel. +66 2511 0555

Fax. +66 2511 2324

Type of Business : -

Type of Share : Ordinary shares
Registered Capital : 80,000,000 Baht
Paid-up Capital : 80,000,000 Baht
Percentage of Shareholding : 99.99

Company Name : RS International
Broadcasting and Sports Management
Co., Ltd.*

Address : 419/3 Soi Ladphrao 15,
Ladphrao Road, Chomphon,
Chatuchak, Bangkok 10900

Tel. +66 2511 0555

Fax. +66 2511 2324

Type of Business : -

Type of Share : Ordinary shares
Registered Capital : 9,375,000 Baht
Paid-up Capital : 9,375,000 Baht
Percentage of Shareholding : 83.33

*The temporarily suspended subsidiaries

Other Important Information
-None-

55



—— —
s | e ] |
3 L
- N - = =
— S
S |

Securities and —

Shareh ler










Securities and Shareholder Information

Registered Capital and Paid-up Capital

As of December 31, 2019, the Company has the registered capital of 1,161,997,216 baht including 1,161,997,216
ordinary shares at one baht par value. The Company has the paid-up capital of 972,495,202 baht including 972,495,202
ordinary shares at one baht par value.

Shareholders
The 10 major shareholders as at the book closure date No. 6 : Thai NVDR Company Limited
No. of shares held : 36,051,929

on December 30, 2019 are as follows:
Percentage : 3.70
No. 1: Chetchotisak Group*®

No. of shares held : 201,618,364
Percentage : 20.73

No.2 : Mr. Sorat Vanichvarakij
No. of shares held : 98,000,000
Percentage : 10.08

No. 3 : Srivaddhanaprabha Group**
No. of shares held : 95,000,000

No. 7 :The Hongkong and Shanghai Banking
Corporation Limited

No. of shares held : 20,000,000

Percentage : 2.06

No. 8 : Ms. Patteera Pairatvej by KTB Securities
(Thailand) PCL

No. of shares held : 18,740,000

Percentage : 1.93

Percentage : 9.77
No. 9 : Kasikorn Securities PCL (LNS)

No. 4 : BTS Group Holdings PCL*** No. of shares held : 17,990,000

No. of shares held : 72,130,100 Percentage : 1.85
Percentage : 7.42

No. 10 : Phatra Securities PCL
No. 5 : Bangkok Bank PCL No. of shares held : 15,882,700
No. of shares held : 50,331,900 Percentage : 1.63
Percentage : 5.18

Remarks

* Chetchotisak Group including

1. Mr. Surachai Chetchotisak holds 201,268,300 shares (20.70%)

2. Mr. Chet Chetchotisak holds 64 shares (0.0000066%)

3. Mr. Chot Chetchot holds 350,000 shares (0.036%)

** Srivaddhanaprabha Group including

1. Ms. Aroonrung Srivaddhanaprabha holds 47,500,000 shares (4.884%)

2. Mr. Apichet Srivaddhanaprabha holds 47,500,000 shares (4.884%)

*** BTS Group Holdings PCL, listed on the Stock Exchange of Thailand, operates mass transit, real estate development, media and service businesses.

List of major shareholders who, according to their conducts, were able to assert their influences towards the

management policy and operation procedure of the Company with ulterior motives (Shareholding groups or shareholders who owned over 10% and holding position
as the Company’s director or sending representative as the Company’s director).
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The Issuance of Other Securities

Warrant of RS Public Company Limited Series 3
(RS-W3)

RS Public Company Limited Warrants Series 3
(“RS-W3") was approved to trade on the Stock Exchange
of Thailand since June 1, 2017. The details are as follows:

Type of securities : Warrants to purchase ordinary shares
of RS Public Company Limited Series 3 (RS-W3)

Secondary market : The Stock Exchange of Thailand
Number of offering warrants : 193,332,760 units

No. of new ordinary shares reserved for exercise of
warrants : 193,332,760 shares

Warrant issuer : RS Public Company Limited allocated
to existing shareholders whose names appeared in the
shareholders register book on April 18, 2017 in accordance
with Section 225 of Securities and Stock Exchange of
Thailand Act B.E. 2535 (1992) regarding the closing
method of the shareholders register book and determining
the rights of the shareholders on April 19, 2017 at a ratio
of 5 existing ordinary shares to 1 unit of warrant with no
cost

Right of warrant : 1 unit of warrant to 1.0047 ordinary
share at exercise price of 12.4419 baht, the price and ratio
related to the exercise of this right may change at a later
date, in accordance with the Protection Measures for
Warrant Holders (Exercise ratio before adjustment is 1
unit per 1.0028 ordinary share and the exercise price
before the adjustment is 12.4658 baht per 1 ordinary
share. The Board of Directors' Meeting No. 4,/2562 (2019)
held on August 13, 2019 approved payment of dividends
during that time. Such payments required the Company
to adjust the exercise price and ratio per Clause 4.2 (Jor)
of Terms, Conditions and Obligations of the Warrants
Issuer and Warrant of RS Public Company Limited Series 3)

Type of warrant : Transferable named certificate
Tenor : 3 years from the date of issue of warrants
(The date of issue of warrants is on May 24, 2017 and the
last exercise date is on May 23, 2020, where the warrants

shall be terminated on the next day)

Offering price of warrant : o baht per unit (zero baht)
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Exercise period : Warrant holders can exercise the right
on the last business day of April and October of each year
until the end of tenor of warrants. The first exercise date
is on October 31, 2017 and the last exercise date is on May
23, 2020.

Dividend Payment Policy

The Company and its subsidiaries will pay a
dividend not less than 50 percent of net profit after tax
and legal reserve. However, the Board of Directors may
consider and decide not to follow this policy, or adjust it
in order to maximize the benefit to the shareholders.
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Management Structure

Management structure of the Company consists
of seven set of committees and subcommittees including:
Board of Directors, Audit Committee, Nomination and
Remuneration Committee, Executive Committee, Risk
Management Committee, Corporate Governance
Committee and Human Development Committee.
Details are as follows:

The Board of Directors

As at December 31, 2019, the Board of Directors consists
of enght following qualified persons:

1. Mr. Surachai Chetchotisak
Chairman and Chairman of the Executive Committee

2. Mrs. Pornpan Techarungchaikul

Director, Executive Committee,

Risk Management Committee Chairman, Corporate
Governance Committee Chairman, Human Development
Committee Chairman and Company Secretary

3. Mr. Darm Nana
Director and Executive Committee

4. Mr. Danaisidh Peslapunt
Director, Risk Management Committee and Corporate
Governance Committee

5. Mr. Sorat Vanichvarakij
Director

6. Mr. Phisit Dachanabhirom
Independent Director, Audit Committee Chairman and
Nomination and Remuneration Committee Chairman

7. Mrs. Wansuda Thanasaranart
Independent Director, Audit Committee and Nomination
and Remuneration Committee

8. Mr. Chakkrit Parapuntakul
Independent Director, Audit Committee and Nomination
and Remuneration Committee

Remarks

1. General Pairoj Panichsamai resigned from being an Independent Director of
the Company, effective from May 2, 2019.

2. Mr. Chakkrit Parapuntakul was appointed from the meeting of the Board of
Directors No. 3/2562 (2019) as a Director to replace General Pairoj Panichsamai,
effective from July 9, 2019.

3. Mr. Ong-Art Singlumpong resigned from being a Director of the Company,
effective from October 1, 2019.
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Definition of Independent Directors

Independent Directors are defined as external
Director, not involving in Executives, company staff,
Executive Director or authorized signatory Director, and
be independent from major shareholders, Executives and
related parties. In addition, Independent Directors are
able to consider equitable treatment to shareholders and
to preempt any possible conflict of interest between the
Company and related parties. Independent Directors
shall possess the qualifications as follows:

1. Not hold shares exceeding 0.5% of the total number of
shares entitled to voting rights in the Company, the
parent company, the subsidiary companies, the associated
companies or any corporations that may cause a conflict
of interest, which shall be inclusive of the shares held
his/her related parties®.

2. Not be Executive Directors*™ nor have been an
employee/staff member/advisor getting salary paid, both
in present time and two years before the appointment,
of /by the Company, the parent company, the subsidiary
companies, the associated companies, the affiliated
companies*** or any corporations that may cause a
conflict of interest.

3. No relationship by blood or legal registration as parent,
spouse, sibling, son/daughter and/or son/daughter in-
law of an Executive or a major shareholder, a person with
controlling power, or a candidate who will be nominated
as an Executive or a person in charge of the operations
of the Company or the subsidiary companies.

4. Business relations can be divided as follows:
(a) Relationship types

- Relationship between professional service
providers and users

«Features : Auditors, other professional
service providers such as legal
consultants, financial advisors, property
appraisers, etc

« Significant levels that are categorized
non-independence

- Auditors : Be prohibited in all
cases

- Other professional service
providers : Transaction value
exceeds 2 million baht a year.

- Trade/Business Relations (apply the similar
guidelines to the Stock Exchange's requirements
regarding related party transactions)

« Features : Business transactions in all
types including normal transactions,
real property leases/out-leases, asset/
service-related transactions, and
financial assistance grants or receipts.

« Significant levels that are categorized

non-independence : Transaction value

is 2 20 million baht or > 3% of the

Company’s NTA (net tangible assets),

whichever is lower. While considering

a value in each time of transaction, the
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total value of previous transactions over
the past 6 months shall be inclusive.

(b) The same relationship as Type (a) with
corporations that are categorized non-independence
such as major shareholders, Directors (except
independent/audit Directors) and Executives or partners
of those corporations.

(c) Prohibited period for no relationship in both
types (a) and (b) : In present time and 2 years before the
appointment.

(d) Exemptions: In a necessary and reasonable
case which does not happen frequently or constantly, an
independent/audit Director may bear a relationship
beyond the significant levels, as set out above, during his
or her term in office, provided that a prior and unanimous
approval from the board of the Company is obtained.
Furthermore, the board of the Company must provide
the disclosure of information regarding the aforesaid
relationship in a registration statement for a public
offering or securities placement (filing form), an annual
information disclosure (Form 56-1) and an annual report
(Form 56-2). If that independent/audit Director is
nominated for another term, the board of the Company
shall provide a description of the said relationship in the
notice of the shareholders’ meeting on an agendum for
the election of Director.

5. Not be appointed as a representative of any board
members or major shareholders of the Company, as well
as being not appointed as a representative of other
shareholders who bear relationship with major
shareholders of the Company.

6. No restrictions that make him/her unable to freely
express his/her opinions.

7. An independent Director, with the complete
qualifications, as stated in clauses 1-6, may be designated
and authorized by the board of the Company to make a
decision regarding the operations of the Company, the
parent company, the subsidiary companies, the associated
companies, the affiliated companies and/or other
corporations that may cause a conflict of interest, which
such decision can be collectively made (collective
decision).

If an independent Director of the Company also
holds office as an independent Director for the parent
company, the subsidiary companies and the affiliated
companies, the board of the Company shall provide the
disclosure of such information as well as the disclosure
of overall remuneration that certain independent Director
gets paid, in the filing form, Form 56-1 and Form 56-2
respectively.

Remarks

* Related parties mean persons under Section 258 of Securities and Exchange
Act.

** Executive Directors mean persons who involve in the management of the
Company, hold office and are in charge of the Company as an Executive, and are
authorized signatories to execute a binding document on behalf of the Company,
except a specified person in any transaction already been approved by the Board
to sign a binding document jointly with other Director(s).

*** Affiliated companies mean subsidiaries of two and up having the same parent
company.
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Directors Who are Authorized to Sign on Behalf of

the Company

Directors authorized to sign for the Company
are Mr. Surachai Chetchotisak, Mr. Danaisidh Peslapunt,
Mrs. Pornpan Techarungchaikul and Mr. Darm Nana.
Two of above Directors can jointly sign and affix the
Company seal.

Roles and Duties of the Board of Directors

The Extraordinary General Meeting of
Shareholders No. 1/2546 (2003) held on January 13,2003
had the resolution to determine the scope of the Board
of Directors’ authority in that Board of Directors is
authorized to commit any acts necessary for or related to
the normal business operation of the Company. The
Board of Directors is in charged with overseeing the
Company’s operations to be in compliance with the
country’s laws and regulations as well as the policies and
resolutions of shareholders’ meetings. The Board of
Directors can appoint the Executive Director or assign
any other persons to take any or several actions under the
control of the Board of Directors except for the actions
stated below. Those actions can be performed after
receiving the approval from the shareholders’ meeting.
In cases where the Committee or any person has a
conflict of interest with the Company or its subsidiaries,
the Committee involved in that conflict may not vote on
that case:

1. Any case that the laws mention must be approved by
the shareholders’ meeting.

2. Performing cases where the Committee gains the
interest or where the laws and regulations the Stock
Exchange of Thailand are mentioned must be approved
by the shareholders' meeting.

The following cases must be approved by the
Board of Directors meeting and the shareholders’' meeting
with a voting score of three-fourths of the number of
shareholders attending the meeting and voting:

1. Selling or transferring the whole Company’s businesses
or an important part of the business.

2. Acquiring or receiving transferred business from other
companies or private entities to the Company.

3. Entering into, rectifying or terminating the renting
contracts for the entire business of the Company or an
important section of it. Appointing any person to run the
Company’s business or form a merger with any person
for the purpose of profit and loss sharing.

4. Amending the Company's Articles of Association or
Memorandum of Association.

5. Increasing or reducing capital, issuing debentures,
forming mergers or closing the Company.

6. Any actions mentioned in the Securities Act or
announcements by the Stock Exchange of Thailand
requiring the approval of the shareholders’ meeting, such
as the acquisition or disposal of assets of the listed

company or any related items.
The responsibilities of the Board of Directors,
including their authorization, of the Company are below:

1. Overseeing the objectives and main goals of the
business to be sustainable. The goals and objectives are
consistent to create value for the Company;, its customers,
its stakeholders, and society as a whole.

2. Ensuring that the objectives and goals, including
strategies, in the medium term and/or annually are in
accordance with the objectives and goals of the Company
by using innovation and technology appropriately and
safely.

3. Using care in creating a corporate culture that adheres
to ethics. Respect the rights and responsibilities of
shareholders and stakeholders. Benefit society, develop
or reduce negative impacts on the environment, and act
as a model.

4. Monitoring the administrative structure and practices
of the Board to be appropriate towards efficiently
achieving the objectives and main goals of the business.

5. Ensuring that all Directors carry out their
responsibilities with a duty of care and a duty of loyalty
to the organization. Also ensure adherence to laws,
regulations, and resolutions of the shareholders' meetings.

6. Overseeing the performance evaluation of the Chief
Executive Officer.

7. Overseeing the determination of the remuneration
structure, ensuring that it enables employees to work in
line with the objectives and main goals of the
organization, formulation of guidelines, and evaluation
factors for the Company.

8. Considering and approving the setting and revision of
the vision and mission, strategies, business direction,
plans for the year, and annual budget. Also, supervise the
management to be in line with policy and plans efficiently
and effectively.

9. Considering the appropriate risk management systems
and internal controls.

10. Determining the appropriate authorization levels that
are suitable for the management and their responsibilities.

11. Assessing the framework for the allocation and
management of resources to be effective and efficient.
Take into account the impact and development of
resources throughout the entire value chain in order to
achieve the objectives and main goals in a sustainable
manner. This includes development and budgeting such
as making a management plan for employees as well as
policies concerning information technology, which
provide a framework for the governance and management
of information technology for the organization that is
consistent with the Company's needs. Also ensure that
information technology is used to increase business
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opportunities as well as in the development of operations
and risk management so that the Company can achieve
its objectives and goals.

12. Assessing the monitoring and evaluation of the
operations.

13. Overseinge that the disclosure of financial and non-
financial information is reliable and appropriate.

14.Monitoring the adequacy of liquidity and ability to pay debts.

15. Ensuring that, in the case where the business is
experiencing financial difficulties, or is likely to encounter
trouble, the Company has a plan to fix the problem. Or,
ensure that other mechanisms are available that can
resolve the financial issues, subject to consideration of
the rights of stakeholders.

16. Ensuring that various actions adhere to the good
corporate governance policy and the Company's ethics
guidelines.

17. Considering and approving significant issues, as
defined in the law, regulations, policies, and related
standards, or under authority of the Company.

The Company’s Board of Directors is responsible
for consideration the list of new Directors who have been
screened and presented by the Nomination and
Remuneration Committee. The listed Directors must be
ready to dedicate their time, knowledge, and capabilities
for the Company, and also understand the duties and
responsibilities of Director. The Company has in place the
procedure to keep new Directors informed about its
business and operation for them to possess profound
knowledge and understanding in the Company’s business.

In addition, the Board of Directors conduct the
annual assessment of their performance in line with the
self-assessment form to inspect, as well as enhance the
efficiency of their performance.

Roles and Duties of the Chairman

Serving as the Chairman of the Board of Directors entails
having the decisive vote in the case where the Board of
Directors votes and there is a tie, being able to call a
meeting of the Board, acting as the Chairman of the
General Meeting of Shareholders of the Company, and
carrying out the legal duties defined as the specific duties
of the Chairman:

1. Monitoring and supervising to ensure that the duty of
the Committee is carried out effectively and to achieve the
objectives and goals of the organization.

2. Ensuring that every Director has been involved in
promoting a culture of ethical behavior and good corporate
governance.

3. Setting the agenda for the meeting of the Board of
Directors and discussing with the Chief Executive Officer
and taking measures to ensure that the important issues
are on the agenda.
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4. Allocating sufficient time for the management to
propose issues and gather enough members to discuss key
issues carefully, and encouraging each Director to use their
discretion judiciously and to express themselves freely.

5. Strengthening the relationship between the Executive

and non-Executive Directors as well as between the Board
and the management.

Board of Directors Meeting Attendance for year 2019

Mor. Surachai Chetchotisak
Chairman

No. of Attendance
6/6

Mrs. Pornpan Techarungchaikul®*  No. of Attendance

Director 5/6
Mr. Darm Nana No. of Attendance
Director 6/6

Mr. Danaisidh Peslapunt No. of Attendance

Director 6/6
Mr. Ong-Art Singlumpong** No. of Attendance
Director 4/6
Mr. Sorat Vanichvarakij No. of Attendance
Director 6/6

Mr. Phisit Dachanabhirom
Independent Director

No. of Attendance
6/6

No. of Attendance
1/6

General Pairoj Panichsamai***
Independent Director

No. of Attendance
6/6

Mrs. Wansuda Thanasaranart
Independent Director

No. of Attendance
3/6

Mr. Chakkrit Parapuntakul****
Independent Director

Remarks

* The Board member was unable to attend the meeting due to personal
commitments.

** Mr. Ong-Art Singlumpong resigned from being a Director of the Company,
effective from October 1, 2019.

*** General Pairoj Panichsamai resigned from being an Independent Director of
the Company, effective from May 2, 2019.

****Mr. Chakkrit Parapuntakul was appointed from the meeting of the Board
of Directors No. 3/2562 (2019) as a Director to replace General Pairoj Panichsamai,
effective from July 9, 2019.



Audit Committee

Asat December 31,2019, the members of the Audit
Committee consist of three following qualified persons:

Mr. Phisit Dachanabhirom

Audit Committee Chairman

Mrs. Wansuda Thanasaranart
Audit Committee

Mr. Chakkrit Parapuntakul
Audit Committee

Remarks

1. Mr. Phisit Dachanabhirom is the Audit Committee Member who has
knowledges and experiences in reviewing the Company’s financial statements.
He is the certified auditor CPA License No. 966. He renders his audit services for
non-listed company.

2. General Pairoj Panichsamai resigned from being an Audit Committee of the
Company, effective from May 2, 2019.

3. Mr. Chakkrit Parapuntakul was appointed from the meeting of the Board of
Directors No. 3/2562 (2019) as a Director to replace General Pairoj Panichsamai,
effective from July 9, 2019.
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Roles and Duties of the Audit Committee

1. Attending the Board of Directors meetings as to
participate in policy determination, business decision
making and corporate governance issues.

2. Considering and recommend the appointment and
withdrawn of the auditor and the proposed audit fee
including the following issues:

(a) To ensure the independence of the external
auditor, the Audit Committee shall consider any non-
audit service that may conflict with the auditor’s efficient
and professional operations eg. accounting system design
etc.

(b) To freely discuss significant matters, the
Audit Committee shall meet privately with the external
auditor once a year, without the management team being
present.

3. Considering the policy and code of conduct of the
internal audit department as to ensure their continual
appropriateness and effectiveness.

4. Reviewing the annual audit plans of the internal audit
department.

5. Reviewing the internal control and internal audit
system as to ensure their appropriateness and
effectiveness by coordinating with the internal and
external auditors. The Audit Committee shall consider
the following issues:

(@) To strengthen the independence of the
internal audit department, the Audit Committee shall
approve any selection, promotion, rotation or termination
of the department head.

(b) To ensure the independence of the internal
audit department, the Audit Committee shall consider
other factors, including reporting and supervision
processes, as well as reporting line of the department.

6. Considering the quarterly audit report and
recommendations of the internal and external auditors
as well as follow up the action taken according to such
recommendations.

7. Reviewing the quarterly financial reports of the
Company and subsidiaries as to ensure that they are
accurate, credible and have adequate information
disclosures according to the good corporate governance
procedure.

8. Ensuring that the Company is in compliance with the
rules or regulations prescribed by the Stock Exchange of
Thailand and any other laws related to its business.

9. Reviewing the related transactions of the Company
and any transactions that may cause the conflict of
interest to be in compliance with the rules or regulations
prescribed by the Stock Exchange of Thailand, and to
ensure that the related transactions are in appropriate
conditions and for the maximum benefit of the Company.

10. Coordinating with the external auditor to consider
any problems or restrictions encountered in performing
financial statements audit.

11. Preparing the Audit Committee report. The report
must be signed by the Chairman of the Audit Committee
and disclosed in the Company’s Annual Report. Its report
should include the following information:

(@) The number of Committee meetings and
attendance of each member.

(b) The Audit Committee’s comments on:

« Accurateness, completeness and
creditability of the Company’s financial
report.

«Adequacy of the Company’s internal
control system.

«Compliance with SEC's and SET's laws
and regulation and other laws relevant
to the Company’s business.

« Suitability of the external auditor.

«Transactions that may cause conflicts
of interest.

«Other concerns that have arisen as the
audit Committee performed its duties
as defined in the Committee’s charter.

(c) Anything else which should be made available
to shareholders and general investors within the scope
of duties and responsibilities assigned by the Board of
Directors.

12. The Audit Committee is authorized to invite the
Executive Directors, management or related persons to
either provide necessary information or attend the
meeting.

13. Considering any other matters as assigned by the
Board of Directors with the consent of the Audit
Committee.

Nomination and Remuneration Committee

As at December 31, 2019, the Nomination and
Remuneration Committee consists of three qualified persons:

Mr. Phisit Dachanabhirom
Nomination and Remuneration Committee Chairman

Mrs. Wansuda Thanasaranart
Nomination and Remuneration Committee

Mr. Chakkrit Parapuntakul
Nomination and Remuneration Committee

Remarks

1. General Pairoj Panichsamai resigned from being a Nomination and
Remuneration Committee of the Company, effective from May 2, 2019.

2. Mr. Chakkrit Parapuntakul was appointed from the meeting of the Board of
Directors No. 3/2562 (2019) as a Director to replace General Pairoj Panichsamai,
effective from July 9, 2019.
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Roles and Duties of the Nomination and Remuneration
Committee

1. Considering criteria and procedures for selecting a
person who is qualified to hold office as a Director, select
best candidate in adherence to the procedures set out,
and make the recommendation to the Board of Director
who shall subsequently propose the nominee to the
shareholders’ meeting. The duties and responsibilities can
be outlined as follows:

(a) Determine qualifications of a Director in
accordance with the structure, size and composition set
forth by the Board, by taking the following steps:

« Consider a combined suitability of
knowledge, experience and expertise to
determine desired qualifications.

« Assess the independence of each
candidate to see whether he/she is
completely or incompletely qualified as
an independent Director, and to
consider whether it is necessary to seek
anew independent Director in the case
that the numbers of independent
Directors do not reach the numbers as
stated in the Board's policy.

« Consider each candidate’s promising
dedication of time.

(b) Select and nominate a suitable candidate for
the Board to consider and propose that nominee for final
consideration and appointment by the shareholders’
meeting of the Company.

« Determine a method of Director
selection that suits the Company'’s
characteristics.

« Consider the list of candidates, and
select the best one who meets the
qualification requirements set out.

«Conduct a careful check to make sure
that the best candidate who will be
nominated for the appointment being
duly qualified in accordance with the
rules and regulations established by the
authorities.

« Approach that qualified candidate to
make sure that he/she agrees to accept
the position as a Director when he/she
is appointed by the shareholders of the
Company.

« Propose his/her name for
consideration and approval by the
board. Upon the board’s approval, a
notice of the meeting of the shareholders
of the Company in this regard will be
made for approval.

2. Establishing a model and guidelines on the payment of
Directors’ remuneration which will be proposed to the
board who will further propose to the shareholders’
meeting of the Company for approval.
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3. Establishing guidelines for evaluating Chief Executive
Officer’s performance.

4. Determining the annual remuneration of Directors.

5. Considering new ESOP (or warrants) to Directors and
employees under diverse conditions that will induce
Directors and staff members to perform duties with their
best effort, add long-term value to the shareholders, and
truly enable to retain efficient and competent personnel;
however, there is not too high such incentive scheme and
should be fair to the shareholders of the Company.

The Board of Directors’ Meeting No. 3/2550
(2007) on February 26, 2007 had approved the
appointment and the scope of authority of the Board
Nomination and Remuneration Committee.

Executive Committee

As at December 31, 2019, the three qualified members of
Executive Committee consist of:

Mr. Surachai Chetchotisak
Chairman of the Executive Committee

Mrs. Pornpan Techarungchaikul
Executive Committee

Mr. Darm Nana
Executive Comittee

Roles and Duties of the Executive Committee

The Board of Directors Meeting No. 1/2546
(2003) held on January 28, 2003, the Board of Directors
Meeting No. 2/2556 (2013) held on May 14, 2013 the
Board of Directors Meeting No. 6/2562 (2019) held on
December 18, 2019 had the resolution to determine the
scope of Executive Committee’s authority as follows:

1. Approving loans, lendings or applying for credit from
financial institutions as well as acting as surety or making
payments for general activities of the Company. The
credit limit of each item must be less than 300 million
baht or equivalent.

2. Appointing and withdrawing the company employees
who are ranked below Chief Executive Officer (previously
called Managing Director).

3. Initiating, suggesting and formulating policy for the
business direction and business strategy of the Company
and present to the Board of Directors.

4. Setting up corporate and management structures and
Executive Committee. To oversee all aspects of the
recruiting, training, employment and layoff of the
Company's employees.

5. Formulating business plans and management powers,
approve the annual budget for business operations and
expenses, manage business plan and strategy of the
Company according to the policy and business direction
which presented to the Board of Directors.
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6. Being responsible for other duties assigned by the
Board of Directors in each period.

Approval for carrying out the activities
mentioned above would not be granted in cases where
the Executive Committee, or parties authorized by the
Executive Committee, is authorized to approve activities
that may conflict with the Company and its subsidiaries’
interests (under the Company's Articles of Association
and the announcements of the Securities and Exchange
Commission (SEC)). Exceptions would be made for those
activities carried out under policies and regulations
approved by the Board of Directors, whereby the Board
of Directors has the authority to amend or change the
responsibilities of the Executive Committee whenever
necessary.

Risk Management Committee

As at December 31, 2019, the Risk Management
Committee consists of two qualified persons:

Mrs. Pornpan Techarungchaikul
Risk Management Committee Chairman

Mr. Danaisidh Peslapunt
Risk Management Committee

Roles and Duties of the Risk Management Committee

The Company's Board of Directors meeting No.
5/2553 (2010) on August 16, 2010, had the resolution to
appoint the Risk Management Committee and approved
its scope of duties and responsibilities as follows:

1. Considering the policy, framework and procedure on
the risk management, and including giving advice to the
Company's Board of Directors and management team on
risk management.

2. Supervising and supporting the risk management so
that it is according to plan, and results in achievements
for the organization as well as in the project level.

3. Considering the Company’s important risks on the
organizational level, and evaluate the risk management
procedures to be in accordance with the Company'’s
strategy and business plan.

4. Reporting performance to the Audit Committee and
the Company’s Board of Directors.

Corporate Governance Committee

As at December 31, 2019, the Corporate
Governance Committee consists of two qualified persons:

Mrs. Pornpan Techarungchaikul
Corporate Governance Committee Chairman

Mr. Danaisidh Peslapunt
Corporate Governance Committee

Roles and Duties of the Corporate Governance
Committee

The Company’s Board of Directors meeting no.
1/2554 (2011) on February 23, 2011, had the resolution to
appoint the Corporate Governance Committee, and
approved its scope of duties and responsibilities as
follows:

1. Proposing guideline or policy on the good corporate
governance to the Audit Committee and the Company's
Board of Directors.

2. Reviewing or improving guideline or policy on the
Company's good corporate governance.

3. Giving suggestions on good corporate governance to
the Audit Committee and the Company’s Board of
Directors.

4. Supervising Directors and the management to comply
with the good corporate governance’s policy.

Human Development Committee

As at December 31, 2019, the Human
Development Committee consists of two qualified persons:

Mrs. Pornpan Techarungchaikul
Human Development Committee Chairman

Myr. Chakrit Pichyangkul
Human Development Committee

Remark
Ms. Praornsri Udompol resigned from being a Human Development Committee
of the Company, effective from December 1, 2019.

Roles and Duties of the Human Development
Committee

1. Presenting human resource policy and management
direction

2. Drawing techniques and strategies for human resource
development

3. Overseeing and supervising human resource operation
4. Considering and making decisions on human resource

development issues based on the direction approved by
the Company’s Executive Committee
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Executive Team

As at December 31, 2019, the members of
Executive Team consist of seven qualified persons as
follows:

Mr. Surachai Chetchotisak
Chief Executive Officer

Mrs. Pornpan Techarungchaikul
Chief Commercial Officer

Mr. Darm Nana
Chief Financial Officer

Mr. Danaisidh Peslapunt
Chief Legal Officer

Ms. Kunchanya Karuhadej
Chief People Officer

Ms. Nongluk Ngamroj
Senior Executive Vice President

Mr. Ong-Art Singlumpong
Senior Executive Vice President

Remarks

1. Executive refers to executive as per definition from Notification of the Securities
and Exchange Commission No. Kor Chor. 17/2551 (2008) Re Determination of
Definitions in Notifications relating to Issuance and Offer for Sale of Securities.
2. Ms. Kunchanya Karuhadej was appointed as Chief People Officer on December
11,2019.

Roles and Duties of the Chief Executive Officer

The Board of Directors Meeting No. 1/2546
(2003) held on January 28, 2003, the Board of Directors
Meeting No. 2 /2556 (2013) held on May 14, 2013 and the
Board of Directors Meeting No. 6/2562 (2019) held on
December 18, 2019 had the resolution to determine the
scope of Chief Executive Officer’s authority in that Chief
Executive Officer (previously called “Managing Director”)
is authorized to approve any acts necessary for or related
to the normal business operation of the Company with
the credit limit of each item less than 50 million baht or
equivalent. However, the Chief Executive Officer has no
authority to deal with any Related Party Transaction
(RPT) or Acquisition and Disposition of major Assets of
the Company and/or matters concerning persons who
may be in conflict with, or have conflict of interest with
the activities of the Company or affiliated companies. In
such instances, they will be approved by the Audit
Committee and /or the Board of Directors, depending on
the case.

Nomination of Directors and Executives

The Board of Directors Meeting No. 3/2550
(2007) held on February 26, 2007 had its resolution to
appoint the Nomination and Remuneration Committee
and also approved the duties of the Nomination and
Remuneration Committee. Hence, personnel selection
for the Company’s Director must proceed through the
Nomination and Remuneration Committee. The
Director’s selection procedures must be done by the
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Nomination and Remuneration Committee whose
consideration will be based as per qualification in section
68 of the Public Company Limited Act B.E. 2535 (1992)
and the related announcements of the Securities and
Exchange Commission. Moreover, considerations will
be based on ability, experience, knowledge and specific
skill for the benefit and development of the Company’s
business, and dedicating their time and efforts in
conducting their duties. Then, the list will be submitted
to the Board of Directors and shareholders' meeting for
approval.

To appoint the Board of Directors, the
shareholders’ meeting appoints the Director based on
majority scores with the following regulations and
guidelines as follows:

1. One shareholder has one vote per one share.
2. Shareholders can vote for each directorial appointment.

3. Persons who receive the highest sequential votes will
be appointed as Directors equal to the required number
of that particular election. In the case of any persons
receiving equal sequential votes which are more than the
required number, the Chairman will make the final
decision.

Company Secretary

The Board of Directors has appointed the Chief
Commercial Officer to be the Company Secretary. The
current Company Secretary is Mrs. Pornpan
Techarungchaikul. The Company Secretary duty is to
ensure that the operation of the Company in compliance
with the Good Corporate Governance of the Stock
Exchange of Thailand.

Mrs. Pornpan Techarungchaikul

Position : Director, Executive Committee
Corporate Governance Committee Chairman,
Risk Management Committee Chairman,

Human Development Committee Chairman,
Company Secretary and Chief Commercial Officer

Age: 49

Education :

Master of Business Administration (MBA),

Sasin Graduate Institute of Chulalongkorn University
Bachelor of Statistics, Chulalongkorn University
Executive Development Program 4 (EDP 4) Year 2009,
Thai Listed Companies Association

Capital Market Academy Leader Program (Batch 23),
Capital Market Academy

Shareholding : None

Relationship between Management : None
Experience :

. October 15, 2019 - Present : Chief Commercial Officer
RS Public Company Limited

2008 - Present : Company Secretary

RS Public Company Limited

- 2004 - Present : Director and Executive Committee
RS Public Company Limited



2007 - October 14, 2019 : Chief Operating Officer
RS Public Company Limited

The Person Supervising Accounting
Mrs. Nuansong Limpanaruk

Position : Accounting Supervisor,
Senior Vice President of Accounting

Age: 48

Education :

Bachelor of Accounting, Bangkok University
Shareholding : None

Relationship between Management : None
Experience :

December 1, 2006 - Present : Senior Vice President of
Accounting

RS Public Company Limited

Director and Executive Remuneration

1. Cash Remuneration
1.1 Directors

|
List

ember Amount (baht) Detail of Remuneration

Annual remuneration

© 2210000 and meeting allowance

Fixed remuneration and

3 1,883,387 meeting allowance

The detail of annual remuneration and meeting allowance
are as follows:

Year 2019
Fixed Ann feeting
remuneration zemlmennon allowance
(baht) (baht) (baht)

No. Board of Director

1 Mr. Surachai Chetchotisak = = 150,000
2 Mrs. Pornpan Techarungchaikul - - 100,000
3 Mr. Darm Nana _ _ 120,000
4 Mr. Danaisidh Peslapunt = = 120,000
5 Mr. Ong-Art Singlumpong = = 80,000
6 Mr. Sorat Vanichvarakij _ _ 120,000
7 Mr. Phisit Dachanabhirom = 400,000 120,000
8 General Pairoj Panichsamai _ 300,000 20,000
9 Mrs. Wansuda Thanasaranart = 300,000 120,000
10 Mr. Chakkrit Parapuntakul - - 60,000
Total = 1,000,000 1,010,000

Remarks

1. Director remuneration is the benefit paid to the Company’s Directors in accordance
with Section 9o of the Public Company Limited Act B.E.2535 (1992) (excluding salary
and relevant benefits paid to the Directors who also serve as the Company’s
Executives). There is no remuneration for the directors of subsidiaries.

2. Mr. Ong-Art Singlumpong resigned from being a Director of the Company,
effective from October 1, 2019.

3. General Pairoj Panichsamai resigned from being a Director of the Company,
effective from May 2, 2019.

4. Mr. Chakkrit Parapuntakul was appointed from the meeting of the Board of
Directors No. 3/2562 (2019) as a Director to replace General Pairoj Panichsamai,
effective from July 9, 2019.

1.2 Executive Directors and Management

. Year 2019
List
Amount (million baht) Detail of Remuneration

Salary, bonus and other

7 L allowance

2. Other Remuneration

2.1 Directors

-Nil-

2.2 Executive Directors and Management

In 2019, the Company has paid provident fund to 5
Executives approximately 3.10 million baht.

Personnel

The number of employees in the Company
Group as of December 31, 2019 is 1,301 persons of which
categorized into RS Public Company Limited's employees
of 335 persons and subsidiaries’ employees of 966
persons. The total rewards of company staff amounted to
833.53 million baht, paid in the form of salaries, bonus,
other personnel expenses and provident fund totaling
approximately 18.63 million baht.

Details of the number of employees by business groups
of the Company as at December 31, 2019

Number of Elnployees

Commerce business 520
Television Media business 428
Radio Media business 54
Music business 36
Others 263
Total 1,301



Human Resources Development Policy

1. The Company realizes the importance of employees as
human capital, the most valuable factor that is
instrumental in steering the organization towards
growth on a sustainable basis. Hence, annual operational
plan and budget have been clearly specified and arranged
accordingly. Human resources development is divided
into 3 levels i.e. Organization Development, Career
Development and Training Development. In 2019, there
are altogether 86 training courses of 23 classes, which
can be separated; in-house training of go hours and
external training of 349 hours and details are as follows:

1.1 Organization development has promoted the
creation of corporate culture within companies under
the RS Public Company Limited and since the orientation
of new employees through Welcome Day Activity and
Lotus Notes Program Training, totaling g classes of 84
attendees.

1.2 Employees’ Career Development that defines
progressive career path and stipulates the promotion path.

1.3 Training Development guidelines have been
developed using the framework of competency base
training, along with survey results concerning training
needs. In-house Ttraining covers Knowledge
Development, Attitude Development and Skill
Development, including: 1) Viewing E-Pay Slip with the
program ESSPACE for employees, with 1 class with 31
attendees 2) Workshop on "How to Motivate a Telesales
Team”, with 2 classes of 25 attendees and 3) OKR
Workshop, with 6 classes of 100 attendees.

The Company also holds training programs as
required by law: 1) General Safety for Employees and
New Employees with 4 classes of 93 attendees . 2) Safety,
Health, and Environment in the Working Place with 1
class of 45 attendees.

2. The Company has continuously focused on creating
employee engagement by providing various activities,
such as:

The “Drops for Mom” activity that encouraged
employees to donate blood at the Thai Red Cross, along
with many artists and performers.

“Doing Good Deeds without Hesitation” for
Telesales staff who are the top sales people of each team;
each person received 2 concert tickets for Raptor 25, with
a total of 50 prizes given.

Activities to create closeness and participation
between employees themselves, employees and artists,
and employees and executives include Meet & Greet with
artists that are currently launching works, inviting
employees to join a dance competition in the new single
of Lulu-Lala, or inviting employees to take a photo with
Jah RSiam on the day of the artist’s new single promotion.

The "Passion to Win Birthday Voucher" gives a
special drink to employees every month during their
birth month.

3. The Company has announced policy on safety, health,
and environment in the working place by arranging all
levels of employees to join in many levels of safety levels.
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This is to move its safety policy to be more substantially
viable and correspondence with related laws and safety
standards.

In 2019, the Company has expanded and
monitored the safety performance by applying to all level
of employees in order to make continuous improvement
such as 1) Monitor, report and follow up on unsafe spots
in the working place; 2) Make improvement in the
working area at points where accident might occur, and
setting up of various safety signs; 3) Improve the fire
escape route system, fire exit signs, and the emergency
light according to the established standard; 4) Regularly
check fire extinguishers in each building; and 5) Collect
record of accident and sickness of employees who use
service of the Company’s nursing facility in order to
analyze the cause, solution, and supply with information
concerning knowledge in health, and safety in the work
place so that employees can adjust their working behavior
for a better health and safety;, etc.

In 2019, the unemployment rate of employees
using the Company’s medical room was at 8.5% per month.
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Corporate
Governance

The Company has stipulated its policy on
corporate governance by emphasizing on the control and
internal audit system and corporate governance of
Management to efficiently following its policy. This is for
long term benefits of shareholders, including
transparency on business operations, information
disclosure and with proper risk management as well as
social and environment responsibility for sustaining
development.

In 2019, the Company has been continuously
granted the Excellent CG Scoring by Market
Capitalization from Thai Listed Companies Good
Corporate Governance Survey Year 2019.

The summary of corporate governance practices
in 2019 is as follows:

Corporate Governance Policy

The Company’s Board of Directors stipulates
policy on good corporate governance in a written format
and considers reviewing a good corporate governance
policy and code of conduct manual for the Company
Group. Following up on evaluation of policy compliance
is set to at least once a year. The Company publishes
manuals to Directors and employees for references and
practices and posts on the Company’s intranet.

The Board of Directors maintains a process to
review the adoption of good corporate governance
principles for listed companies in 2017 and CG Code
practices, which are adapted to suit the business
conditions at least once a year.

At the Board of Directors Meeting No. 2/2563
(2020) held on February 20, 2020, there was the
consideration, review, revisal and approval of the good
corporate governance policy and code of conduct manual
for the Company Group as well as monitoring and
evaluating the implementation of such policies. The
Board of Directors recognizes its role as the governing
body of the organization and more than half of its
Directors have studied the CG Code and understood the
benefits and best practices in creating value for the
business in a sustainable manner. They are also equipped
to assess compliance with CG Code practices to ensure
that each of the CG Code principles can be put to use, or
have plans to develop such practices for the business.

In addition, the Company has followed the
principles of good corporate governance in accordance
with Corporate Governance Code for listed companies
2017, which is determined by the Securities and Exchange
Commission to cover good corporate governance for
listed companies on the Stock Exchange of Thailand.
There are 5 areas covered, including:

- Shareholder Rights

- Equal Right to Shareholders

« Roles of Stakeholders
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- Information Disclosure and Transparency

- Responsibilities of the Board of Directors and
Sub-Committees

Shareholder Rights

The Company stresses the importance of
respecting the shareholders’ right by following
regulations as stipulated by law. In 2019, the Company
had Annual General Meeting of Shareholders on April g,
2019 and all Directors attended the meetings (The details
of the Company’s Board of Directors attendances are
listed in the minutes of the shareholders' meeting).

The Company encourages and facilitates
shareholders and investors to participate in shareholders’
meeting by seeking the meeting place where is accessible
and sufficient public transports are provided.

The Company has policy on equal treatment of
shareholders by realizing on the importance of
shareholders’ right on sufficient and timely information
disclosure. Concerning shareholders’ meeting, the
Company will distribute an invitation letter for meeting
which includes details on different meeting’s agendas to
shareholders at least 7 days prior to the meeting date as
stipulated by law.

In 2019, Thailand Securities Depository Co., Ltd.,
which is the Company’s registrar, distributes the
invitation letter for the meeting to shareholders at least
7 days or 14 days prior to the meeting date as stipulated
by law.

In 2019, the Company had distributed the
invitation letter for the meeting which included details
on different meeting’s agendas prior to the meeting date
as stipulated by law, and each agenda contained principles
and reasons, and suggestions of the Board of Directors.
Moreover, the Company also published the invitation
letter for shareholders’ meeting and supporting
documents in Thai and English language on the
Company's website on www.rs.co.th/investor.html at
least 30 days before the meeting date and the Annual
Report was posted on the Company’s website at least 7
days before the meeting date, as to facilitate rapid access
for shareholders. Prior to the start of shareholders’
meeting, the Chairman of the meeting had authorized the
Company Secretary to explain voting procedure to the
meeting, and during the meeting, the Chairman gave
equal opportunity to shareholders in asking additional
questions and making suggestions prior to vote casting
in each agenda. Using voting paper in case of important
agenda was given for transparency and accountability. In
addition, the minute of the meeting was written correctly
and completely within the specific timeframe as
stipulated by law, submitted to the Stock Exchange of
Thailand and posted on the website within 14 days after
the meeting. The Company had good filing system for
shareholders’ checking.

In 2019, the Company has provided the
shareholders more than what is stipulated by law such
as publishing important and updated information
through its websites, and not curtailing the shareholders’
right on the Company'’s information that had to be



disclosed by regulations. Concerning the meeting, no
additional meeting agenda, or changing of important
information would be conducted without prior
notification to shareholders, including additional
important information would not be distributed abruptly
in the meeting, and not limiting shareholders’ right to
come in late for the meeting etc. During the meeting, the
Chairman gave equal treatments to shareholders to ask
questions, giving ideas, and making suggestions on
operating results of the Company. Moreover, shareholders
were given rights to send their questions before the
meeting date through the Company’s websites, or by mail
to the Board of Directors. Thus, rights given to
shareholders and supporting shareholders to exercise
their rights were in accordance with good corporate
governarnce policy.

Equal Right to Shareholders

For shareholders who cannot attend the meeting,
the Company proposes proxies to be given to the
Independent Director, who is the Chairman of Audit
Committee, to vote on their behalf in the meeting. In the
2019 shareholders’ meeting, there were 190 shareholders
who gave proxy to the Chairman of the Audit
Committee.

On November 29, 2019, the Company published
information through its websites for minority
shareholders to propose agenda for the general meeting
of shareholders. This included clear regulations in
advance for consideration on additional agenda for
minority shareholders to make proposal. The Company
also regulated procedures for minority shareholders to
propose candidate for consideration as a Director and
including supporting information on qualifications and
consent of the proposed candidate. However, there was
no agenda and candidate for a Director proposed to the
general meeting of shareholders.

The Company has conducted the measure in a
written statement to prevent Directors, Executives, staff
members and employees from abusing insider
information in the interests of their own or their related
parties. By this measure, the Company’s Directors,
Executives, staff members and employees are required
to report a transaction that may cause a conflict of interest
between themselves and their related parties via the
designated law office to screen and forward such report
to the Board and the Board is fully authorized to make a
decision on any transaction, which may cause a conflict
of interest, for the Company’s overall benefit. The
Company’s Directors and Executives with their interests
in any transactions shall be banned from participating in
a decision making process on those transactions, as
disclosed in Monitoring Internal Use of Internal
Information; moreover, related party transactions shall
be made in accordance with relevant requirements
established by the Stock Exchange of Thailand, as detailed
in the topic of Measures or Steps of Approval in Related
Party Transactions. The certain policy has been
implemented since the year 2008 for banning Directors
and top Executives” from trading the Company’s shares

within 3 weeks before the publication of financial
statements and 2 days after the disclosure.

Remark

* means Executive as per definition of the Securities and Exchange Commission
(SEC) who is responsible for changes in shareholding as stipulated by law.

The Company regulates in prohibiting the use
of opportunity or information given by Director,
Executive or employee for their own benefits, or
conducting business competition with the Company, or
with related business. This includes using inside
information for the Company’s stock trading. All
regulations have been listed in the code of conduct
manual, and discloses in the topic of Use of Inside
Information.

Roles of Stakeholders

The Company recognizes the importance of
rights for all groups of stakeholders both internal
stakeholders such as employees, the Company’s and its
subsidiaries’ Executives, or external stakeholders such as
competitors, creditors, government agencies and other
related parties. The Company realizes the importance of
encouragements from stakeholders especially from
communities and society (Example is listed in the topic
of Role and Social Responsibility and Human Resources
Development Policy). Regulations and procedures are in
written format, including rules on disciplinary
punishment, so that there will be guideline procedures
for related persons e.g. Directors, Executives and
employees of RS Group to follow when performing
duties for the Company with honesty and ethics towards
the Company and groups of stakeholders. The details of
the Company Group's code of conduct manual which
covers business operation’s and employee’s code of
conduct are as follows:

Responsibilities toward social and environment

The Company has a policy to conduct business
in a way that is beneficial to the economy, society and
environment, taking into account the duties and
responsibilities that one should have for the nation,
society and environment. The businesses shall be
operated and controlled completely under the laws and
regulations. The Company shall adopt the business
knowledge and experiences to improve the projects
which are beneficial to communities. For environment
aspect, the Company is commited to refrain from
operating the business with the negative impacts to the
environment covering e.g. energy control in the office,
the water usage, renewable resources uses and
greenhouse gas emission, including determinations to
press on developing trends for social quality and
environment by cooperating with government agencies
and communities. Responsibilities toward social and
environment must be whole-heartedly and consistently
promoted to all levels of employees and staff on becoming
good citizens who make beneficial contributions toward
communities and societies. Employees shall be supported
to jointly participate in activities for communities and
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societies in order to create good corporate culture in the
future. By reviewing, evaluating, and following up
consistently on the Company’s long term progress are to
ensure that policies on social and environment shall be
executed as planned. Also, the Company has promoted
the campaign of efficient use of resources e.g. paperless
campaign, encouraging the use of both sides of a piece of
paper, surfing Internet and using e-mail; and energy
saving by turning off air-conditioner and electricity
during break time. The Company also provides
information and promotes campaigns that recognize
efficient use of resources (example is listed in the topic of
Role and Social Responsibility and Human Resources
Development Policy).

Customers

The Company is committed to providing quality
products and services to its customers in compliance
with the law and relevant standards, taking into account
health, safety, fairness, customer privacy and after-sales
service over the lifetime of the products and services. It
also tracks customer satisfaction to improve products
and services, including responsible advertising, public
relations and promotions, without causing
misunderstanding or misleading customers. The
Company is also responsible for strict compliance with
agreements, including having agencies to offer services,
take care of, clarify doubts and solve problems for
customers.

Shareholders

The Company is run with a good and efficient
expertise. The current and future risk is carefully assessed
for the benefit to shareholders and controlled to be
certain that the operational results and financial
situations of the company as well as information to
shareholders are completely disclosed.

Staff and Employees

The Company treats its staff and employees as
valuable attributes. Thus, the value of the staff and
employees is an important issue, one that is compliant
with the law and relevant standards. The Company treats
its staff and employees with fairness and respect for
human rights in compliance with the law and relevant
standards. The Company provides appropriate benefits
for its employees that are no less than what is specified
by law. It also provides rewards and other benefits that
are fair and aligned with each employee's knowledge,
abilities, responsibilities and individual performance
which are in line with the Company’s performance in the
short term. Such benefits include a salary, bonus, and
provident fund. This is consistent with the Company’s
long term performance measures, including Key
Performance Indicators (KPI) and comparable
compensation in the same industry. Also, the RS Group
always focus on maintaining health, hygiene, safety and
a good working environment to keep the lives and
property of employees safe and secure. Training and
knowledge acquisition, capacity development, promoting
advancement, providing the opportunity for employees
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to develop skills in other areas and adhering to labor laws
are also key factors. In addition, the Company organized
health checkup for employees as well as arranged for life
insurance, health insurance and regular safety inspections
of the workplace.

The Company’s Board of Directors also considers
and approves the policy concerning safety, occupational
health and environment in the workplace.

The Company supports knowledge training for
its employees, Directors and Executives (example is listed
in the topic of Social Role and Responsibilities, and
Human Resources Development Policy).

Partners and Creditors

The Company is committed to honesty and
fairness to its suppliers, taking into account the best
interests of the Company. There is a process to ensure
fairness in procurement and agreement terms, based on
fairness in compensation for both parties. There is to be
an avoidance of bias or situations that cause conflicts of
interest, as well as adherence to and compliance with
agreements, terms of an agreement and obligations
towards suppliers and creditors. This includes helping to
impart knowledge, developing capacity, elevating
products and services to meet standards, and ensuring
that partners respect human rights and treat their
workers fairly. There is also a focus on social and
environmental responsibility, as well as monitoring and
evaluating partners to develop a sustainable business. If
the case where compliance with the terms of an
agreement is not possible, the Company will inform the
creditors in advance, to jointly access the situation and
find solutions. However, the Company has a liquidity
management plan to prepare for the repayment of debt
to its creditors, according to the loan maturation
schedules. Also, the Company does not support
corruption and bribery concerning business benefits for
the Company. This also includes anti-corruption and
anti-bribery payment to obtain benefit for the Company’s
business (example is listed in the topic of Policies on
Anti-Corruption).

The Company'’s criteria for selecting partners/
vendors/outside service providers is as follows:

« Quality of Product and Service

- Ability, Specialization, Expertise and
Experience

« Trading Policy
« Business Reputation
- Financial Status

Competitors

The Company supports a competition policy, and
free and fair trade, including treating competitors
professionally. Business is conducted openly and in a
transparent manner, without creating unfair competitive
advantages.

Virtue
The Company is engrossed in doing the rightful




things and performing its duties with honesty and
straightforwardness in accordance with legislations and
regulations. This conduct is applied to any activities and
decision-making. The company operates its business with
honesty and takes into account the influencing risks.

Equality and Human Rights for All Parties Concerned

The Company neither hinders or withholds the
privileges from, nor discriminates against any persons
who are different in races, nationalities, religious,
genders, age, or education, including non-involvement
on any human rights infringement.

Copyright

The Company has the policy on non-violation
of any copyright.

The Company’s Board of Directors reviews and
makes improvement on code of conduct manual of RS
Group at least once a year. In 2020, the Company’s Board
of Directors meeting No. 2/2563 (2020), has reviewed,
improved and approved RS Group’s code of conduct
manual and published on the Company's intranet. It
includes information on new employee’s training for all
employees’ acknowledgement, and controlling process
for strict compliance on the code of conduct.

The Company has had the policy that Directors,
Executives and staff members at all levels are required to
strictly observe and follow the best practices described
in the Group's code of conduct manual. In the past year,
the Company and the subsidiaries had no legal dispute
that significantly affected the Company’s business or
posed negative effects on the Group's assets of which the
overall value, as at December 31, 2019, was higher than
5% of shareholders’ equity. The Company and the
subsidiaries had no legal dispute arisen from an out-of-
the-ordinary course of business of the Group.

The Company has anticipated in sharing the
development mechanism with stakeholders in
strengthening operating results of the Company. This is
to build business security with information transparency,
listening to comments, complaints, or suggestions (except
the appeals regarding fraud or misbehaved employee in
the organization and the additional information is listed
on Policies on Anti-Corruption) either from employee
and stakeholder via Executives, Internal Audit unit,
Investor Relations unit, Company Secretary or Audit
Committee as to pass to the Board of Directors through
website at www.rs.co.th/investor.html or through
telephone numbers at +66 2938 4307 and +66 2511 0555
ext 1496 or direct to the stated units above. All
information will be collected and checked through the
Company's stipulated process and will be reported to the
Board of Directors.

Complaint of financial and accounting reports,
internal control, risk management, compliance with law
and code of conduct can be done through the Company
Secretary who receives and summarizes all topics, and
quarterly submits to the Audit Committee and Board of
Directors. The Company gives importance to the secrecy
of information received in order to build confidence to
sender, and complaint will only be known to assigned
and related persons.
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Information Disclosure and Transparency

The Company places an importance to efficient
internal control system on the management and
operational levels, by clearly stipulated the employee and
Executive's operational authorizations. Assets' usages are
controlled, and responsibilities of operator, controller,
and evaluator are separated from each other to create
suitable check and balance system. Moreover, there is
internal control on the financial system with systematic
reporting direct to the designated management unit.

The Company’s internal control unit reports
directly to the Audit Committee to be certain that the
main operations and important financial activities
proceed efficiently within the directed guidelines. The
Company has its policy on Compliance Control in
correspondence with the concerned law and related
regulations.

Responsibilities of the Board of Directors
and Sub-Committees
Sub-Committees

The Company’s Board of Directors appoints the
Sub - Committees to make details screening by regulating
their responsibilities and scope of duties within each
committee.

Most members of the Sub-Committees are
Independent Directors except the Executive Committee,
Risk Management Committee, Corporate Governance
Committee and Human Development Committee. The
Chairman of the Board will not hold any positions as
member in all committees. Moreover, it also regulates
Independent Directors as Chairman of each committee
with exception in the Executive Committee, Risk
Management Committee, Corporate Governance
Committee and Human Development Committee. At
present, the Company has 6 Sub-Committees of the
Audit Committee, Nomination and Remuneration
Committee, Executive Committee, Risk Management
Committee, Corporate Governance Committee and
Human Development Committee.

The details concerning the member's names,
duties and responsibilities are listed in topic of
Management Structure. The Company’s Board of
Directors appoints sub-committees in order to operate
and oversee the Company, detailed as follows:

« Audit Committee

It has duration of 3 years, and consists of 3
Independent Directors. Names and duties of the Audit
Committee are listed in Management Structure.

The Company's Board of Directors appoints Mr.
Phisit Dachanabhirom, the Independent Director, who
has vast knowledge and experiences in financial and
accounting field, and to become Chairman of the Audit
Committee.

In 2019, the Audit Committee had 5 meetings in
which all members attended all meetings and consistently
reported their operating results to the Company’s Board
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of Directors. There were 5 meetings that the Audit
Committee met privately with the external auditor
without the Executive team being present.

Audit Committee Meeting Attendance for year 2019

Mr. Phisit Dachanabhirom
Chairman

No. of Attendance
5/5

No. of Attendance
1/5

General Pairoj Panichsamai*
Committee

No. of Attendance
5/5

Mrs. Wansuda Thanasaranart
Committee

Mr. Chakkrit Parapuntakul**
Committee

No. of Attendance
3/5

Remarks

* General Pairoj Panichsamai resigned from being a Director, Independent
Director and Audit Committee of the Company, effective from May 2, 2019.

** Mr. Chakkrit Parapuntakul was appointed from the meeting of the Board of
Directors No. 3/2562 (2019) as a Director, Independent Director and Audit
Committee to replace General Pairoj Panichsamai, effective from July 9, 2019.

« Nomination and Remuneration Committee

The Company’s Board of Directors meeting No. 3/2550
(2007), on February 26, 2007, has appointed the
Nomination and Remuneration Committee, its scope of
authority, and remuneration. The committee consists of
3 qualified persons which has 3 Independent Directors
in which one of them is the Chairman of the Nomination
and Remuneration Committee, the committee has 3 years
duration. Details are listed in the topic of Management
Structure.

In 2019, the committee had 3 meetings in which
all members attended all meetings. The committee
consistently reported their operating results to the
Company's Board of Directors.

Nomination and Remuneration Committee Meeting
Attendance for year 2019

Mr. Phisit Dachanabhirom No. of Attendance
Chairman 3/3

General Pairoj Panichsamai* No. of Attendance
Committee 1/3

Mrs. Wansuda Thanasaranart  No. of Attendance
Committee 3/3

Mr. Chakkrit Parapuntakul**  No. of Attendance
Committee 1/3




Remarks

* General Pairoj Panichsamai resigned from being a Director, Independent
Director and Audit Committee of the Company, effective from May 2, 2019.

** Mr. Chakkrit Parapuntakul was appointed from the meeting of the Board of
Directors No. 3/2562 (2019) as a Director, Independent Director and Audit

Committee to replace General Pairoj Panichsamai, effective from July 9, 2019.

The details of important performances in 2019
were summarized as follows:

1. Considered the nomination and selection of qualified
and suitable person as replacement for the Board of
Directors retired member.

2. Considered, reviewed and approved the charter of the
Nomination and Remuneration Committee.

3. Considered and reviewed the appropriateness of the
pattern and criteria of the remuneration.

4. Reviewed the annual Directors’ remuneration.

5. Considered the Chief Executive Officer’s evaluation
criteria.

6. Evaluated the performance of the Nomination and
Remuneration Committee in 2019.

7. Reported their duties to the Board of Directors on
regular basis.

The Nomination and Remuneration Committee
commented that the stated items were suitable to the
utmost long-term benefit for the Company, shareholders
and stakeholders.

. The Executive Committee

It consists of 3 qualified persons. Their names
are listed in the topic of Management Structure.

In 2019, the Executive Committee had in total
of 36 meetings.

The details of important performances in 2019
were summarized as follows:

1. Prepared, suggested and stipulated guideline on
business policy of the Company to the Board of Directors.

2. Stipulated business plans and administration, and
approved the budget for the annual business plan and
annual spending budget, including proceed as per
business plan and business strategy in accordance with
the stated business policy and guideline as stated to the
Board of Directors.

3. Oversaw, controlled and supervised on the
management in accordance with the laid down strategies
and plans.

4. Other assigned duties given in specific periods by the
Board of Directors.

The Executive Committee had performed its
duties with caution to its full capability and in relation
with good corporate governance policy and code of
conduct of the Company’s group for the benefit of the
Company, shareholders and stakeholders in the long term.
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- Risk Management Committee

The Company's Board of Directors meeting No.
5/2553 (2010) on August 16, 2010 had the resolution to
appoint, authorize the scope of responsibilities and
consider remuneration of the Risk Management
Committee. The Committee consisted of 2 qualified
persons. The details are listed in the topic of Management
Structure.

In 2019, the Company’s Risk Management
Committee had 1 meeting to plan, review the system, or
evaluate efficiency of the risk management.

The details of important performances in 2019 were
summarized as follows:

1. Considered major risks of the Company, proceed with
risk management and evaluated risk management to be
in accordance with strategies and business plan of the
Company.

2. Supervised and promoted the risk management as
planned.

The Risk Management Committee had
performed its duties with caution to its full capability
and in relation with good corporate governance policy and
code of conduct of the Company’s group for the benefit of the

Company, shareholders and stakeholders in the long term.

. Corporate Governance Committee

The Company’s Board of Directors meeting
No. 1/2554 (2011) on February 23, 2011 had the resolution
to appoint, authorize the scope of responsibilities and
consider remuneration of the Corporate Governance
Committee. The Committee consisted of 2 qualified
persons. The details are listed in the topic of Management
Structure.

In 2019, the Corporate Governance Committee
had a meeting to review and improve the good corporate
governance policy, code of conduct manual and other
relevant policy as well as follow up the assessment of
such policies.

The details of important performances in 2019
were summarized as follows:

1. Reviewed the good corporate governance policy and
code of conduct manual of RS Group and other relevant

policy.
2. Promoted the administration works to be in accordance

with the good corporate governance policy and code of
conduct manual of RS Group and other relevant policy.

3. Gave advises on the good corporate governance to the
Company's Board of Directors.

4. Set up guidelines and reviewed report on good
corporate governance to publish in the annual report.

The Corporate Governance Committee had the
opinion that the stated items were appropriate and for
the benefits of Company, shareholders and stakeholders
in the long term.
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. The Human Development Committee

It consists of 3 qualified persons. Their names
and responsibilities are listed in the topic of Management
Structure.

In 2019, the Human Development Committee
had 4 meetings.

The details of important performances in 2019
were summarized as follows:

1. Reviewed and developed the policy, and given
guidelines on human development.

2. Developed the strategies and techniques on the human
development.

3. Supervised and supported operations on human
development.

4. Considered and made decisions on issues concerning
the human development as per approved guidelines by
the Board of Directors.

The Human Development Committee had
performed its duties with caution to its full capability
and in relation with good corporate governance policy
and code of conduct of the Company’s group for the
benefit of the Company, shareholders, and stakeholders
in the long term.

Company Secretary

The Board of Directors has appointed the Chief
Operating Officer to be the Company Secretary, Mrs.
Pornpan Techarungchaikul. The Company Secretary duty
is to ensure that the Company complies with the Good
Corporate Governance of the Stock Exchange of Thailand.
The major role and duty of the Company Secretary are as
follows:

1. Advice the legal, accounting and tax issue and necessary
regulations to the Board of Directors.

2. Oversee and take care of the Board of Directors’
activities.

3. Coordinate the concerned party as to ensure the
implementation of the resolutions of the Board of
Directors.

The Company Secretary has both accounting
and legal knowledge. Additionally, the Company also
promotes people who support the work of the Company
Secretary and the Company’s Board of Directors to attend
the “Company Secretary Program” (CSP) of the Thai
Institute of Directors (IOD). Moreover, the legal office has
been assigned by the Company to work for the Board of
Directors to be in accordance with rules, regulations, or
law as a compliance unit.

Director Meeting

The Director meetings are arranged at least
quarterly and extraordinary meetings in between as
deemed necessary. All meetings have apparently set out
agenda and planned meeting date and are intended to
consistently monitor company's performance. Invitation,
agenda and information handouts are duly distributed 7
days prior to the meeting so Directors have a chance to



familiarize themselves to the issues. The Chairman of the
Board of Directors, the Chief Executive Officer and one
Independent Director make decision on agendas for the
Board of Directors’ meeting with emphasizing that
important subjects have to be in the meeting agendas.
The Directors can freely submit agenda and the Board of
Directors can access necessary information from the
Chief Executive Officer. The Independent Director/Audit
Committee (the definition and qualification is shown in
Management Structure) shall attend all meetings. In 2019,
there were 6 meetings at the Company’s head office.
Every Director attended all meetings except Mrs.
Pornpan Techarungchaikul who was unable to attend 1
meeting due to personal commitment.

If any Director has significant conflict of interest
in any agenda, such Director shall not attend the meeting
during the consideration of that agenda.

In addition, the Board of Directors’ minimum
quorum for meeting resolution must not be less than two
third of total number of Directors.

The Company’s Board of Directors has its policy
in allowing the non-Executive Directors to conduct their
own meeting as deemed necessary. This is to debate all
issues concerning management without the Executives’
presence, and the Chief Executive Officer will be
informed of the result of the meeting.

Self-evaluation on the Performance of the Board of
Directors

The Company’s Board of Directors arranges for
its self-evaluation annually by using the Company'’s
self-evaluation form. The Board of Directors will
individually and jointly consider their performances for
their joint consideration in order to improve for more
efficient operations.

Self-evaluation elements consist of the structure
and qualification, roles, duties, responsibilities, meeting
and duties of the Board of Directors, relationship with
management, self-development of the Board, and
development of Executives.

In addition, the Nomination and Remuneration
Committee shall provide suggestions on regulations for
the evaluation on performance of Chief Executive Officer
and propose for the approval of the Board of Directors.
Results of the performance will be evaluated by the
evaluation form specified by the Nomination and
Remuneration Committee and to be evaluated by the
Company'’s Board of Directors which only consists of
Independent Directors for further consideration and
improvement.

The Company’s Board of Directors arranged for
its self-evaluation on yearly basis. On February 20, 2020,
the Company’s Board of Directors’ meeting No. 2/2563
(2020), had made annual consideration on self-evaluation
of the Company’s Board of Directors of 2019, so that the
Company's Board of Directors could jointly consider the
performances, and problems for further improvement.
Results on performance of the Chief Executive Officer
for the year 2019 had been evaluated by the Company’s
Board of Directors which consisted of only Independent
Directors for further consideration and improvement.

Moreover, the Board of Directors has assessed
performance evaluations of all other committees and
individual person including Audit Committee,
Nomination and Remuneration Committee, Corporate
Governance Committee, Risk Management Committee,
Executive Committee and Human Development
Committee.

Remuneration

The Company has clearly and transparently
stipulated policy on remuneration for the Chief Executive
Officer and high level Executives. The Company has both
short-term and long-term policies to provide appropriate
benefits that are fair and aligned with knowledge,
abilities, expertise, duties, responsibilities and individual
performance as well as the expected benefit from each
Executive that is in line with the Company's strategy,
long term objective and performances in both short-term
and long-term, including to be within the similar level of
the same industry. The Executives’ remuneration policy
has been approved by the shareholders. During the
Company’s Board of Directors' meeting No. 1/2561 (2018)
and the Annual General Meeting of Shareholders 2018,
remuneration for Directors was approved to be within
the similar level of the same industry which was high
enough to attract the qualified Directors and align with
the Company’s operating results. For Chief Executive
Officer's performance evaluation, the Nomination and
Remuneration Committee regulated the performance
evaluation of Chief Executive Officer and proposed for
the approval of the Board of Directors. Also, the Chief
Executive Officer's performance was evaluated by the
Company’s Board of Directors which only consisted of
Independent Directors (the details of remuneration for
the Directors and Executives were listed in the topic of
Management Structure).

Directors and Executives’ Development

The Company's Board of Directors has the policy
on assigning the present Director to introduce the new
Director to the Company, and lecturing on the
summarization of the Company’s business plan, operating
results, strategy, competitive situations, vision, corporate
culture, corporate governance, business ethics and other
details concerning the Company’s operation etc.

The Company’s Board of Directors has the policy
to create and develop new knowledge for Directors and
Executives by encouraging them to attend seminars and
meetings which provide useful topics that have been
arranged by the Thai Institute of Directors and other
related organizations in order to support efficient
operations, with all costs to be financially supported by
the Company. In 2019, the Company has supported for
the training detailed as follows:

Mr. Darm Nana

Position : Director, Executive Committee and Chief
Financial Officer

2019 Training Courses : Completed a continuing
development course in accounting knowledge for 6 hours
with “Beyond Treasury Management” by Federation of
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Accounting Professions under The Royal Patronage of F:_
His Majesty The King Year 2019

Succession Plan for the Chief Executive Officer and
High Level Executives

The Company’s Board of Directors supports the
arrangement of succession plan that will assist in smooth
operation of the Company. Moreover, the Board of
Directors also makes preparation for the executive
development program for the succession plan of the Chief
Executive Officer and high level Executives in case that
they cannot perform their duties. This is to reduce risks
from dis-continuation in corporate management with
the following procedures:

1.The Executive Committee and Human Development
Committee shall consider and select high potential
Executives for further development and preparation.

2.The Human Development Committee shall develop the
assigned group by preparing for the high level
development plan for high level Executives.

3. The Executive Committee and Human Development
Committee shall together make the appropriate selection
on candidates for the positions of the Chief Executive
Officer and high level Executives. For the selected
position of the Chief Executive Officer, the selection shall
proceed to the Nomination and Remuneration
Committee, and the Company’s Board of Directors for
consideration.

4. The Nomination and Remuneration Committee shall
make consideration on the proposed person concerning
the suitability, knowledge and competency that will
benefit the Company with other necessary related
information for proposal in the Company’s Board of
Directors meeting for further appointment.

Investor Relations

The Company’s Board of Directors realizes that
financial and non-financial information result in decision
making impact of investors and stakeholders. Hence,
disclosure of information shall be importantly correct,
complete, transparent and adequate through various
media channels of the Stock Exchange of Thailand, and
the Company's website. Moreover, meetings have been
arranged between the Company’s Executive team and
equity analysts, institutional fund and general investors
in order to have question and answer sessions equally.
The Company assigns the “Investor Relations Unit” to
communicate and provide services on information,
corporate news, and the Company’s various activities to
institutional investors, shareholders, analysts, related
government agencies, and the general investors. The
Investor Relations Department can be reached at

Telephone : +66 938 4307 and +66 2511 0555 ext 1496
Website : www.rs.co.th/investor.html
Facebook : www.facebook.com/RSInvestorRelations/
Twitter : https://twitter.com/rs_ir

E-mail Address : ir@rs.co.th
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And latest Investor Relations channel through LINE
Account:ir_rs

In 2019, the Company disclosed information
about the Company through the following activities:

- Analyst meetings were held, to discuss the
Company’s operating results on a quarterly basis.
Analysts got to meet the management who answered
questions on various issues. Meeting documents were
made available through the company’s website.

. Attendance at events held by The Stock
Exchange of Thailand (SET) and the securities companies
to meet institutional investors and foreign investors,
including Roadshow in Hong Kong by CLSA Securities
(Thailand) Limited, Local Fund Conference by CLSA
Securities (Thailand) Limited, Corporate Day by Bualuang
Securities PCL, Thailand Investment Conference 2019 by
Phatra Securities PCL and Bank of America Merrill
Lynch, Local Fund Conference by KGI Securities
(Thailand) PCL and Corporate Day by UOBKayHian
Securities (Thailand) PCL. Also, the Company provided
opportunities for local and international investors as well
as shareholders to meet with senior management of the
Company who answered questions concerning various
issues and to learn the direction of future operations, new
strategies and partnership deals during the year.

- The management and investor relations team
met with analysts, investors, local and foreign funds.
Topics discussed were included the overall industry and
the performance overview of the Company and the
growth of new business.

. Also, the Company prepared an annual
information statement (Form 56-1) and Annual Report
(Form 56-2), published on the SETPortal of the Stock
Exchange of Thailand as well as on the Company's
website. The Company's Annual Report has been
distributed to shareholders annually; copies and CDs
were also provided for the shareholders at the Annual
General Meeting of Shareholders.

Nomination of Directors and High Level Executives

The Board of Directors Meeting No. 3/2550
(2007) held on February 26, 2007 had its resolution to
appoint the Nomination and Remuneration Committee
and also approved the responsibilities of the Nomination
and Remuneration Committee. Hence, personnel
selection for the Company’s Director must proceed
through the Nomination and Remuneration Committee.
The Director's selection procedures must be done by the
Nomination and Remuneration Committee whose
consideration will be based as per qualification in section
68 of the Public Company Limited Act B.E. 2535 (1992)
and the related announcements of the Securities and
Exchange Commission. Moreover, considerations will
be based on ability, experiences, knowledge and specific
skill for the benefit and development of Company's
business, and dedicating their times and efforts in
conducting their duties. Then, the list will be submitted
to the Board of Directors and shareholders' meeting for
approval.

To appoint the Board of Directors, the
shareholders’ meeting appoints the Director based on

majority scores with the following regulations and
guidelines:

1. One shareholder has one vote per one share.
2.Shareholders can vote for each directorial appointment.

3. Persons who receive the highest sequential votes will
be appointed as Directors equal to the required number
of that particular election. In the case of any persons
receiving equal sequential votes which are more than the
required number, the Chairman will make the final
decision.

Diversity policy in the Board of Directors’ structure

The Company Board of Directors has stipulated
the qualification for director selection so that it will
correspond with the business operations’ strategy of the
Company, and contains diversity for those who perform
their duties as Directors. Consideration will be made for
the shortage skill presented in the Board of Directors
including profession, specialized skill, and gender, etc.
Hence, in 2015, the Board of Directors consists of one
female Independence Director to add to the diversity of
the Board of Directors’ structure. Moreover, the Board of
Directors also uses the information in the director pool
to search for the new director but the qualification is still
not suitable to the Company at the time. For the Director
selection, the Board of Directors prepares the Board Skill
Matrix to specify qualification of the required director
with consideration from business operations’ strategy of
the Company.

The Board of Directors Independence from
Management

The Company’s Board of Directors consists of
four non-Executive Directors (three Independent
Directors), and four Executive Directors. The details of
each Director are listed in the topic of Board of Directors.

The Chairman of the Board of Directors is the
same person as the Chief Executive Officer, and
represents major shareholder. However, as structure of
the Company’s Board of Directors consists of three
eighth of Independent Directors, which shall have check
and balance in business operations.

The Company's Board of Directors acknowledges
that the three Independent Directors have qualified as
per regulations stipulated by the Company as detailed in
the topic of the Company's Management Structure. The
Company's Board of Directors is in agreement and
appoints Mr. Phisit Dachanabhirom, the Independent
Director, who has vast knowledge and experiences in
financial and accounting field, to become Chairman of
the Audit Committee.

Suitability of the Board of Directors

The Company's Board of Directors has stipulated
suitable qualifications for persons to hold this position
as person with knowledge, experiences, and specific
capability for Company’s benefit. This includes dedicating
time, knowledge, capability and effort in performing duty
for the Company. There is also regulations for all
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Directors and high level Executives® to report their
securities holding consistently to the Company's Board
of Directors.

The Director, in the Company’s Board of
Directors, is not allowed to hold position as Director in
the public companies of more than 3 companies, and
Executive Director is not allowed to hold position as
Director in other public companies of more than 2
companies. This includes holding position as Director of
the Company’s Chairman of Executive Committee and
high level Executive* in other public companies must be
approved by the Company's Board of Directors
beforehand.

The Director or the high level Executive of the
Company must not be employed as employee or partner
of the Company’s external auditor company during the
past 2 years.

Remark

*means Executive under definition of the SEC.

The Board of Directors’ Efficiency in Performing its
Duties

- Policy Stipulation

The Company's Board of Directors participates in
regulating core purpose, motto, culture, core values,
strategy, objective, business plan and budget of the
Company. This also includes supervision on the
Executive team to proceed as business plan, and agreed
budget efficiently and effectively, arrangement on good
corporate governance policy, internal control system,
internal auditing and suitable risk management and
policy, including consistent follow-up on operating
performances in the Board of Directors’ meeting.
Moreover, the Board of Directors has to make
consideration on regulations and separation of duties,
and responsibilities clearly among the Board of Directors,
Audit Committee, Nomination and Remuneration
Committee, Risk Management Committee, Corporate
Governance Committee, Executive Committee, Human
Development Committee and the Chief Executive Officer.

The Board of Directors Meeting No. 2/2563
(2020) on February 20, 2020, the Board of Directors
reviewed and approved the Company’s core purpose,
motto, culture, and core values at least once a year.

- Management Supervision

The Company’s Board of Directors evaluated the
adequacy of internal control and result on risk
management and compliance with the good corporate
governance policy at least once a year and these
considerations were made on February 20, 2020, the
Company’s Board of Directors meeting No. 2/2563
(2020).

Overseeing the Operations of Subsidiaries and
Associated Companies

Nominations and voting for appointment as a
Director, Executive or for controlling interest in
subsidiaries and associated companies must be approved
by the Board of Directors in writing. The exception is
when such company is small and considered to be
operating arms of the Company. The Board of Directors
delegates the Chief Executive Officer as the appointee.
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The person appointed to the Board of Directors, as the
Executive, or as the controlling interest in subsidiaries
or associated companies has a responsibility to ensure
the best interests of its subsidiaries or associates in
accordance with the policies of the parent company. The
Company has also determined that the person who has
been appointed must be approved by the Board prior to
the vote or when voting on important matters. Similarly,
Board approval must be sought if this measure is carried
out by the Company itself.

In addition, in the case of a subsidiary, the person
appointed by the Company must ensure that the
subsidiary is subjected to regulations in relation to the
connected transaction with the Company. Data and
accounting records should be kept for auditing. The
consolidated financial statements should also be collected
and prepared by the deadline, the established system of
internal controls should be appropriate and tight enough,
and all processes should be done legally and according
to relevant guidelines.

In 2019, the Company has conformed to the
Good Corporate Governance except for the following
instant:

1. The Executive Directors' remunerations that have been
received as the Directors of other companies were not
disclosed as it is not information of the Company.

2. The Chairman of the Board of Directors is the same
person as the Chief Executive Officer, and represents
major shareholder. However, as structure of the
Company'’s Board of Directors consists of three eighth of
Independent Directors, which shall have check and
balance in business operations.

3. The Director did not set out the term of the position
for Independent Director not more than g years as the
Director commented that Independent Director has
knowledge, ability and long-term experiences. To serve
as along-term Independent Director will be able to more
in-depth understand the Company's operation.

4. The Company did not require the Director and high
level Executives to report at least 1 day before trading
date to the Board of Director or those who are assigned
about stock trading. As the Company sets out rules and
regulations as well as policy of the use of the company’s
internal information.

Monitoring the Use of Inside Information

The Company has announced to the department
head to understand their responsibilities in reporting the
number of the Company'’s shares held by them, their
spouses and their children who are considered as minors,
and any changes made to the holdings, to the Securities
and Exchange Commission, in accordance with Article
59, where the penalty is indicated in Article 275 of the
Securities and Exchange Act B.E. 2535 (1992). Apart from
the legislative measures, the Company has the policy
covering the internal information usage written in the
Code of Conduct for the group, approved by the Board
of Directors on March 1, 2006, to serve as a guideline to
all Directors, Executives and employees. The code of
conduct was annually reviewed, improved and approved
by the Board of Directors Meeting No. 2/2563 (2020) held
on February 20, 2020. In addition, the Company has laid



out rules and regulations on the use of the company’s
internal information as follows:

1.The Directors, Executives, staff members and the
employees of the Company are obliged to treat the
internal information of the Company with confidentiality.

2.The Directors, Executives, staff members and the
employees of the Company shall not directly or indirectly
disclose confidential or internal information of the
Company for the personal benefit of any individual.

3. The Directors, Executives, the staff members and the
employees of the Company shall not buy, sell, transfer or
receive the Company’s assets by using the confidential or
internal information that may cause direct or indirect
damage to the Company.

The above mentioned regulations include the
spouses or a person who cohabits as husband and wife,
parents, descendant, adopter or adopted, brothers and
sisters or half-brothers and half-sisters of the Board of
Directors, Executives, the staff members and employees
of the Company. Any violation of the Company’s
regulations shall be considered a serious breach of those
regulations which could lead to a penalty ranging from a
verbal warning to being asked to leave the Company.

Since 2008, the Company’s Board of Directors
has specified the policy forbidding Directors, and high
level Executives to trade the Company’s stock during the
periods of 3 weeks before publishing of the financial
statements, and 2 days after disclosing of the financial
statements.

Auditor Remuneration
- Remuneration from auditing service

The Company and its subsidiaries have paid the
audit fees to PricewaterhouseCoopers ABAS Co., Ltd.,
the Company’s auditing company for the year 2019, that
includes person or business related to the auditors and
auditing office under the auditing company during the
past year, to the amount of 5.10 million baht which
separates into 1.39 million baht from the Company and
3.71 million baht from its subsidiaries.

- Other fee

The Company and its subsidiaries have paid the
fees to PricewaterhouseCoopers ABAS Co., Ltd. to
review the form of summarized annual license fee (Nor
Sor 1) and the form of revenue by category (Nor Sor 2),
announced by the NBTC on License Fees for Operating
Radio or Television Broadcasting Business B.E. 2555
(2012), amounting to 0.35 million baht which separates
into 0.15 million baht from the Company and 0.20 million
baht from its subsidiaries.
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Responsibilities
toward Society,

Environment and
Stakeholders
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The Company encourages sustainable
development with responsibilities
toward society, environment and all
stakeholders which is divided into
group activities as shown below.

Equitable Business Practices

The Company strives for legitimacy practice, and
performs its duties with honesty and straight
forwardness under the Company’s rules and regulations
and performs the business ethics in all its activities and
decision-makings of the Company.

Anti-Corruption

The Company recognizes the importance of
fighting corruption. The policy against corruption lays
out the Company's practices even more clearly, and
rejects corruption in all forms. It also builds awareness
and promotes the values of integrity and honesty, as well
as makes the fight against corruption part of the corporate
culture. Anti-corruption efforts fall under supervision,
control, risk management and internal control systems
that help prevent corruption more effectively.

Complying with Human Rights

The Company stresses the importance on
complying with human rights by adhering on its business
practices to be in accordance with human rights which
is the basic rights of all human beings who are born with
equality with the same honor, and privilege without
deprivation or non-allowance of any special rights, or any
discrimination due to their differences on races,
nationalities, religions, genders, color of their skins, ages,
languages, or educational institutions, and including
other items unrelated to the discrimination on human
rights.

Fair Treatment towards Employees

- Treat employees with respect for individuality and
human dignity, with equality in terms of race, religion,
gender and disability

- Respect the right for privacy; personal information of
employees must be protected from abuse, disclosure or
transfer of data

. Provide fair compensation to employees; the
organization pays higher wages than the minimum wage
rate

- Organize benefits for employees, including health
insurance, life insurance, various types of financial
assistance

- Maintain a working environment that is safe for the life
and property of employees at all times

- Appoint, transfer, reward and punish employees in good
faith, based on knowledge, ability and suitability of the
staff
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- Thoroughly impart importance to knowledge
development and the capability of employees

- Prioritize the staff and involve them in giving feedback
and asking questions to jointly develop the organization

Responsibility to Customers and Consumers

The Company intends to create, produce, and
distribute quality goods and services; this includes media
productions and all forms of entertainment to
continuously satisfy customers of the Company, as well
as engage service departments to oversee, clarify doubts,
and solve problems for customers. The Company
welcomes the return of all types of products if they are
found to be defective, do not meet quality requirements,
or cause problems once they have been used.

Environmental Stewardship

The Company maintains an awareness about
conducting its business with social and community
responsibility, taking into account the effects that its
activities may have on natural resources and the
environment. As such, there is a campaign to reduce
paper usage, switching to electronic data storage instead.

Also, the Company helps support various activities
where employees have the opportunity to do good and
foster a spirit of volunteerism, enhance society and
communities, and maintain and restore natural resources.
This includes continuous community development, with
a focus on sustainable development.

Development of a Community or Society

The Company has promoted the development of
a better society through its own efforts as well as working
with the state and community, and encouraging
employees and staff to regularly participate in various
activities for the community and society. There are
tracking means to measure progress and long-term
success in order to ensure that the Company has
complied with its social and environmental policy. In
2019, the Group demonstrated its role and responsibility
towards society through the following activities:

RS believes in helping society,
guided by morality and respect
or human rights.

The Company spotlighted two stars from
the drama "Thepthida Khon Nok" from
Channel 8, lang Sittha Sapphanuchat and
Pleang Kalapas Konjam,and news anchors from
the morning talk show, LeeShare Wiyada
Peerarattakun and U Sathaporn Riyapa,as model
citizens who radiate kindness, create
benefit and engage in charity. They were
part of the fundraising campaign "Ananda
Mahidol Day Pin", raising money to
support the Ananda Mahidol Foundation, the
Thai Red Cross Childrens Home and assistance
for poor monks and other impoverished
patients of Chulalongkorn Hospital and
the Thai Red Cross. The Company also
received the Ananda Mahidol Day pin
from HRH Princess Maha Chakri
Sirindhorn at the Faculty of Medicine
Building of Chulalongkorn University.
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RS maintains a sense of social
responsibility and participates in
community development by
supporting the reduction of new
smokers and reducing cigarette
smoke.

The Company sent Goong Suthirat, an actor
from the drama "Thepthida Khon Nok" on
Channel 8 and a non-smoker with good
behavior, to this campaign, both as a
presenter and to receive a plaque on World
No Tobacco Day 2019 from the Ministry
of Public Health and the World Health
Organization. Honored professor Dr.
Piyasakol Sakolsatayatorn, Minister of
Public Health, presided over the award at
the terrace on the 1st floor of Central
Eastville shopping mall.

RS and Channel 8 were recognized
for their social responsibility, and
responsibility to communities,
customers and consumers.

They present the news with fairness,
openness, awareness, honesty and integrity,
in line with shared values. The evening
news program announcers on Channel 8,
Lukgaed Romklao Amatayakun and Naz
Teekamporn Youkamnerd received the
3rd Nakharaj Award in the category of
Best News Anchor Team of the Year for
the Channel 8 evening news. In addition,
Aof Akkarapon and Lukgaed Romklao
also received the Male-Female Newscaster
of the Year Award, an award that judges
the news quality of Channel 8 both in
front of the camera and behind the scenes.
It was organized by Dara Inside Magazine
and the Association of Journalists of
Thailand, to offer encouragement to those
who do good for society.
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RS and Channel 8 both encouraged
development of the community
by bringing content, news and
knowledge that are beneficial to
people from all walks of life.

The news anchor team from Channel 8
Morning News, including U Sathaporn,
LeeShare Wiyada and Koi Boonyitha were
honored with the Thep Panjasingkhorn
Nakaraj Isaan Award 2019 as the Isaan
people’s favorite news program. The
awards were held to encourage people to
do good through good governance.

RS participates in social
responsibility and responsibility
to its consumers. The Company
joined a campaign for upholding
mother’s grace and being a good
example.

Artists and celebrities Suthiwan
Thaweesin and Chanon Thipkanok from
the story “Lae Ranjuan” on Channel 8
received a plaque for their filial piety From
HRH Princess Bajrakitiyabha Narentira
Thepwadi Kromluang Ratchasinee
Siripatchara Maha Watcharachida at the
Council of Social Work of Thailand under
royal patronage on National Mother's Day.

RSjoined in the effort for community
development and responsibility
to consumetrs.

In regard to the critical PM 2.5 situation,
with dust sized less than 2.5 microns or
PM 2.5, in Bangkok and the suburb areas,
Channel 8 television collaborated with the
PM 2 5 teams of the Department of Health,
Ministry of Public Health, led by news
anchors and actors from Channel 8 from
the drama "Thepthida Khon Nok", Iang Sittha
Sapphanuchat, Lukgaed Romklao Amatayakun,
Naz Teekamporn Youkamnerd and Aof
Akkarapon Thongtharadol were part of a
campaign to distribute Ng5 masks filtering
the small PM 2 5 particles to the people in
Soi Lalaisap, which houses communities
that are most affected by the toxic dust in
Bangkok. They also invited the public to
take care of their health, wear a mask and
live by the principle of “protection first”.

RS helps society with moral
principles, and adheres to
respecting human rights.

Two actors from the Channel 8 drama
“Manee Naka’, Mungkorn Paphawin
Hongkajorn and Mean Aujjima Kosuma
attended a Mahidol Day press conference
as presenters. “Mahidol Day” falls on the
24th of September every year, a day of
remembrance of Ananda Mahidol or the
“Father of Modern Thai Medicine”.
Mangkorn and Min also served as the
leaders of the public relations campaign
with students from the Faculty of
Medicine, Siriraj Hospital and Mahidol
University. They invited people to
purchase the Mahidol flag, raising funds
to help disadvantaged patients at Siriraj
Hospital, and to foster the spirit of charity,
following in his Majesty’s footsteps, at the
Wang Lang Market area of Siriraj Piya
Mahakarun Hospital.
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RS considers helping society with
morality and adhering to respecting
human rights, including co-
developin% communities to live
together harmoniously in the
same society.

Led by RSiam's Lada Suksawatchon, along
with artists and actors from the Channel
8 drama “Sang Nang Prai”, the group acted
as presenters for the awareness of World
AIDS Day. They invited the Thai people to
come together to prevent AIDS, under the
concept of "Community makes a
difference - unite the community to stop
AIDS" with Professor Kittikhun;Dr. Praphan
Phanupak, Director of the Thai Red Cross
Aids Research Center; Dr. Suwanachai
Wattanayingcharoenchai, Director-General
of the Department of Disease Control; and
Professor Narin Hiran Sutthikul, Vice
Chancellor of Chulalongkorn University
as the president. They held a press
conference on World AIDS Day, which
falls on the 1st of December every year.

o/ N

RS ({)articipates in social responsibility
and responsibility to its consumers.
The Company joined a campaign
for upholding mother’s grace and
being a good example

The Council of Social Work of Thailand
under royal patronage chose two actors
from Channel 8, Ohm Thitiwat Ritprasert
from the “Lae Ranjuan” drama and Pleang
Thanyaporn Khongcham from "Thepthida
Khon Nok" drama as volunteer presenters
on “Jasmine for Mother's Day” in 2019 on
“National Mother's Day” (12th of August
of every year). In addition to jointly
publicizing the campaign, they invited the
event participants to buy jasmine
products on Mother's Day.

RSjoins the community develoFment
i

efforts and supports the policy to
reduce the rate of alcohol drinkers
in Thailand.

Two Channel 8 stars, Mungkorn Paphawin
Hongkajorn from the drama “Manee
Naka” and Pleang Kalapas Konjam from
"Thepthida Khon Nok" drama, served as
presenters of the National Alcohol
Abstinence Day from the Office of the
Permanent Secretary, Ministry of Public
Health. They campaigned for Thais to
abstain from drinking alcohol for three
months during Buddhist Lent; this will
help reduce expenses by over 11 billion
baht, serving as a starting point to reduce
and stop drinking alcohol, and strengthen
the family institution under the slogan
“Love life, don't be addicted to alcohol” to
build a healthy life, as well as safe and
inviting communities free from accidents
and serious illness caused by alcohol
consumption.

Due to the flooding in 4o0
provinces in the northeastern
region and northern Thailand,
Channel 8 television opened an
account to receive donations
from people all over the country.

Under the “Channel 8 Sharing Kindness
to Fight Flood” project, in collaboration
with the county Army and provincial
Army, they donated more than 2 million
baht that was collected to help with
homes and schools damaged by the floods.
In addition, sports equipment and
survival bags were provided to six schools
and activities were done to paint the
libraries, clean up the area and distribute
ice cream to the students.



RS joined community develoFment
efforts and supports the policy to
reduce the number of accidents
during the New Year holidays.

Artists of RSiam, part of RS Public
Company Limited, Bao Wee RSiam, Ton
Khao RSiam and Pleang RSiam joined in
the campaign to reduce accidents during
the New Year Festival at the "Safe New
Year, No Drunk Driving, Reduce Accidents
During the 7 Dangerous Days". They gave
away stickers to tour bus drivers and
passengers using the transportation
service at Mo Chit as well as joined a tour
to see and learn how to use alcohol
detectors for bus drivers in order to get
serious on the measures for drunk driving
and to warn the public to respect traffic
rules, use caution when travelling on the
road and live life consciously during the
long New Year holidays from December
27, 2018 to January 2, 2019 (the 7 days of
danger).

RS joined the community and
supports the policy to reduce the
accident rate during the Songkran
festival.

Artists Ton Khao RSiam and Pleang
RSiam from Channel 8's “Thepthida Khon
Nok” drama joined in the campaign to
reduce accidents during Songkran's 7
deadly days by giving out helmets and
spreading awareness to the public from
April 11 to 17, 2019. They also expressed
their intention to see the readiness of Thai
society help prevent and reduce casualties
and destruction of public property. To
further raise awareness on road safely and
the prevention of accidents through the
reduction and abstinence of alcohol
drinking during the Songkran festival,
they gave away stickers and helmets for
drivers and people who use cars.

RS honors the royal benevolence
and maintains responsibility to
the society and the community.

The coronation of His Majesty the King
Rama X is considered a very auspicious
ceremony, and Channel 8's leading actors
and artists from RSiam were present for
the occasion. They wore yellow shirts
adorned with the royal insignia to honor
His Majesty, first official appearance and
the royal land procession.

RS honors the royal benevolence
and maintains responsibility to
the society and the community.

The Company brought volunteer
celebrities and artists to invite people to
dress in Thai costumes to take pictures for
charity in the “Oun Ai Rak Klai Kuam
Nao” event of “Sai Nam Haeng Rattanakosin'”.
Participants enjoyed a photoshoot with
volunteer celebrities and artists from RS
in the area of the Aisawan Throne Hall.
Interested people could participate in this
charity photography event, and all the
income earned, without deduction of any
expenses, will be used to help those in
need throughout the region.
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RS maintains responsibility to
society and communities in
honor of His Majesty the King
Rama X.

On the auspicious occasion of the King's
birthday, actors and actresses from the
drama “Manee Naka’, “Thepthida Khon
Nok", and “Lae Ranjuan” from Channel 8
joined the “10 Streams of Goodness”
Project, to do good from the heart and
come together to donate blood. This was
in honor of His Majesty the King. It also

helped to build a better understanding of
blood donation and encouraged people to
keep this issue close at heart. The event
was organized by the Faculty of Medicine,
Chulalongkorn University, in
collaboration with the Thai Red Cross
Blood Service Center. Many celebrities
and artists wore yellow shirts to donate
blood and they invited the Thai people to
donate blood as well.

< ‘ *tO0 » . A
it W€ rld Blood Donor Day

RS honors the royal benevolence
and maintains responsibility to
society and the community. On
the auspicious occasion of HRH
Queen Sirikit The Queen Mother,

RS organized a “This Drop for Mom”
activity to donate blood on Mother's Day,
to mark gratitude for mothers all over the
country. The effort was led by artists of
RSiam, Channel 8 news presenters and
company staff who all donated blood at
the Thai Red Cross's blood bank to use in
emergency cases.

RS honors the royal benevolence
and maintains responsibility to
society and the community. On
the occasion of His Majesty the
King Rama X’s 67th birthday,

Prime Minister General Prayut Chan-o-cha,
along with Mr. Anutin Charnverakul,
Deputy Prime Minister, led RS actors
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from “Thepthida Khon Nok”” drama and
artists from RSiam of RS to do good in the
project, “Plant Yellow Start Trees in Honor
of HM the King”, which was organized by
the government sector of the Council of
Social Work Thailand under royal
patronage, along with the Miracle of Life
Foundation, Royal Thai Armed Forces,

Ministry of Agriculture and Cooperatives
and Army. They planted 110 Yellow Star
trees and encouraged the Thai people to
express their goodwill to the monarchy
and mark his birthday by wearing yellow
shirts and planting additional Yellow Star
trees.



Innovation and Spreading
Innovation, Operating with
Social, Environmental, and
Stakeholder Responsibility

The Company does not stop in its
search for new businesses that build on
and expand the existing business, amidst
changes that occur in each era. The
Company is ready to adapt, and leverage
the strengths of its existing personnel and
resources for maximum benefit. It also
introduces new technology and
innovation to create the greatest value.
This can be seen from the emergence of
its Commerce business. The Company has
been inspired to produce innovative
global health and beauty products as well
as to develop products to meet the needs
of consumers, providing them with the
best quality of life. The Company wants
Thai people to have equal access to
technology on a global level. The team,
working with partners from research
institutes abroad, produces goods for each
brand under Lifestar Company Limited.
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Internal Control
and Risk
Management




The Company emphasizes the importance of
promoting the internal control to be sufficient and
suitable for its business operations in order to protect
against damage or improper beneficial usage. The audit
department is responsible for auditing important
operations and financial activities, and submitting the
audit report directly to the Audit Committee. This is to
give the audit department enough independence in its
operations.
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At present, the chief of the internal control is Ms. Korapin
Naksuprangsi, Assistant Vice President of the Audit
Department.

Education/Training:
Master degree in Business Administration, Thammasat
University

Bachelor degree in Accounting, Chulalongkorn
University

Participated in various training and seminar courses
from the Federation of Accounting Professions, Institute
of Internal Auditors of Thailand, Thai Institute of
Directors (I0OD), and The Stock Exchange of Thailand.

Experiences:
« Dec 2001 - Present : Assistant Vice President of the
Audit Department

RS Public Company Limited

«1993 - 2001 : Assistant Manager
KPMG Phoomchai Audit Company Limited

During the Board of Directors Meeting No.
1/2563 (2020) on February 20, 2020 in which three
members of the Audit Committee were presented, the
Audit Committee had evaluated the sufficiency of
internal control system by checking information from
the Executives, and reply from questionnaires on
sufficiency of the Company’s internal control system by
themselves. The evaluation on the Company’s internal
control system was summarized into 5 parts as follows:

1. Corporation and Environment: The Company
recognizes good environment in the work place by
stipulating on good corporate governance policy and
using code of conduct manual of the Company Group.
These are publicized as references and guidelines for
operations, and to be followed up and evaluated on the
result of the policy. Moreover, the Company's Board of
Directors has to clearly stipulate the business operations’
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target, review the business plan, and give suggestion to
the management for consideration and operation.

2. Risk Management: The Company emphasizes the
importance of risk management by appointing the Risk
Management Committee to stipulate the policy, oversee,
and support the risk management to ensure that it is in
accordance with the policy, or plan and with successful
implementation.

3. Operational control of the Management: The Company
has the policy, regulation, operational guideline,
authorization, approving power in order to have strict
control.

4. Information Systems and Data Communications: The
Company has provided the information systems that
systematically relate to the accounting, systematic
financial reporting, and in accordance with the
controlling policy and regulations.

5. Monitoring System: The Company’s Board of Directors
acknowledges the operating results comparing to targets
for every quarter, and having the internal control
department that evaluates the sufficiency and efficiency
of the existing control system, and monitoring the
internal control system of various work-units to be in
accordance with the approved controlling plan from the
Audit Committee.

Hence, the Board of Directors had the opinion
that, at present, the Company has sufficient internal
control system concerning transactions with major
shareholders, Directors, Executives, or persons related to
the stated persons. The Board of Directors also had the
opinion that the Company already has sufficient internal
control.
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Policies on
Anti-Corruption
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The Company realizes the importance of
countering corruption. The Board of Directors Meeting
no. 1/2560 (2017) on February 22, 2017 deliberated anti-
corruption policies to set clear guidelines and the Board
of Directors Meeting No. 2/2563 (2020) on February 20,
2020 has reviewed, improved and approved the Policies
on Anti-Corruption, and followed up the evaluation on
the concerning policy.
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Policies and Guidance
The Board of Directors adheres to operate the

business under good corporate governance policy and
code of conduct of RS Group to ensure transparency and
to prevent corruption in all its forms. This promotes
awareness and values of honesty and anti-corruption in
order to create good corporate culture by monitoring and
managing risks and internal control systems to prevent
corruption efficiency.

The guidance is summarized as follow:

1. Set guidelines for offering and accepting gifts, benefits
and relevant financial matters in code of conducts manual
of RS Group.

2. Stipulate practices and regulations for business
relations; including authorities related to countering
corruption, positions related to purchasing or hiring
processes. This includes following the manual of the
purchasing department completely and transparently.

3. Provide adequate and appropriate internal controls
including delegating responsibilities or duties, chains of
approval, and review etc.

4. Communicate the corporate governance policy and
code of conduct manual of RS Group, as well as anti-
corruption policies.

5. Provide channels to report evidence of corruption from
staff members and stakeholders. Also, ensure fairness
and protection for whistleblowers.

Fraud Risks Assessment

The Risk Management Committee considers
plans, reviews systems, and assesses risk management
annually, which includes risks from corruption.

Awareness and Prevention of Risks due to
Corruption and Overseeing the Implementation
of Anti-Corruption Policies

1. Hold training workshops, communicate, and ensure for
staff members acknowledge anti-corruption policy and
guidance.

2. Create opportunity for staff members at all levels to
give opinions and suggestions to improve internal
systems and prevent corruption appropriately and
concisely.

3. Directors, Executives and managers at all levels are
responsible for monitoring their subordinates to actin a
transparent and honest manner, as well as to communicate
with and acknowledge anyone who is involved.

4. The Internal Audit department shall carryout the
Company’s annual assessment. If any risks or related
effects of corruption is found, that information shall be
brought to the attention of the Audit Committee and the
Board of Directors.

5. The channel to report clues and complaints of

corruption, from staff members or the stakeholders, is via
email at [A_ Anti_ Corruption@rs.co.th. Whistleblowers
shall cooperate for every evidence investigation.

Protection and Confidentiality Measures of
the Complainant

The Company realizes the importance of keeping
complaints confidential to ensure the confidence of
whistleblowers. The complaint will only be known to
those who investigate and are involved. This group of
individuals must ensure the confidentiality of the
complainant and their information, and will not reveal it
to anyone unless it is necessary to the investigation or is
requested by law. If an individual purposely reveals the
information, they will receive disciplinary punishment
and/or legal punishment depending on each case.
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Related Party
Transactions
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The details and information of related party
transactions of the Company, subsidiary companies and
related companies are listed in the note of the financial
statements as of December 31, 2019. The Company’s Audit
Committee had examined the related party transactions
and made a remark that those related party transactions
are in accordance with the general commercial conditions,
and rules and regulations of the Stock Exchange of
Thailand with complete evidence of all transactions as
well as adequate disclosure of the financial statements.
In addition, the Company disclosed the details of the past
3 years related party transactions on the Company'’s
website.

In 2019, the Company and its subsidiaries
underwent related party transactions with individuals
who may possess a conflict of interest from January 1,
2019 as follows:
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Person who may Encounter Conflicts

Mr. Surachai Chetchotisak

Chetchotisak Company Limited

Membership Company Limited

Chetchot Company Limited

Remark

Relationship

He is a director and major shareholder who holds 20.70% of the
Company'’s shares.

Mr. Surachai Chetchotisak is a director and shareholder who holds
18.70% of the shares of Chetchotisak Co., Ltd.

Mrs. Sujeera Chetchotisak is a shareholder who holds 6.30% of the shares
of Chetchotisak Co., Ltd. and she is the wife of Mr. Surachai Chetchotisak,
a director and major shareholder who holds 20:70% of the Company’s
shares.

Mr. Suwat Chetchotisak is a director and shareholder who holds 14.35%
of the shares of Chetchotisak Co., Ltd. and he is Mr. Surachai
Chetchotisak’s younger brother.

Ms. Malee Chetchotisak is a director and shareholder who holds 14.50%
of the shares of Chetchotisak Co., Ltd. and she is the older sister of
Mr. Surachai Chetchotisak.

Mr. Surachai Chetchotisak is a director and shareholder who holds
50.00% of the shares of Membership Co., Ltd. This percentage includes
shareholding by his wife on Chetchot Co., Ltd. which is the major
shareholder holding 60% shares of Membership Co., Ltd.

Mrs. Sujeera Chetchotisak is a director of Membership Co., Ltd. and she
is the wife of Mr. Surachai Chetchotisak.

Mr. Chet Chetchotisak is a director and shareholder who holds 30.00%
of the shares of Membership Co., Ltd. and holds 0.0000066% of the
Company'’s shares and he is a son of Mr. Surachai Chetchotisak.

Mr. Chot Chetchotisak is a director and shareholder who holds 10.00%
of the shares of Membership Co., Ltd. and holds 0.036% of the Company's
shares andhe is a son of Mr. Surachai Chetchotisak.

Mr. Surachai Chetchotisak is a director and shareholder who holds
25.00% of the shares of Chetchot Co., Ltd.

Mrs. Sujeera Chetchotisak is a director and shareholder who holds
25.00% of the shares of Chetchot Co., Ltd. and she is the wife of
Mr. Surachai Chetchotisak.

Mr. Chet Chetchotisak is a director and shareholder who holds 25.00%
of the shares of Membership Co., Ltd. and holds 0.0000066% of the
Company's shares and he is a son of Mr. Surachai Chetchotisak.

Mr. Chot Chetchotisak is a director and shareholder who holds 25.00%
of the shares of Membership Co., Ltd. and holds 0.036% of the Company’s
shares and he is a son of Mr. Surachai Chetchotisak.

The shareholding proportion of persons who may encounter conflicts was dated on December 31, 2019.



Nature of Related Party Transactions and Pricing
Conditions and Policy

Setting the price of related party transactions

was principally concentrated on the assets rental and
appropriate determined based on the market price and
other conditions insignificantly different from those in
the market. The related party transactions are comprised
of:

Office Rental

In the financial statements for the year ended
December 31, 2019, the Company and its subsidiaries
made payment of the office rental, common service fee,
and public utilities expense to Chetchotisak Company
Limited and Membership Company Limited in the
amount of 9o.58 million baht and 13.62 million baht
respectively.

The Company also rented the Chetchotisak
building 1-3 from Chetchotisak Company Limited with
the purpose of using them as office buildings by paying
rental and common service fee at the rate of 425 baht per
square meter which is reasonable when comparing to
nearby buildings which charged the rental and common
service fee at 410 - 750 baht per square meter.

For other building rental fee, in the vicinity of
Chetchotisak Company Limited and Membership

Company Limited (as per details in the table, items 4, 5
and 6), the rental and common service fee were on a lump
sum payment (lump sum payment means the rental and
common service fee will be charged for the whole
building rather than the number of square meters based
on the conditions of each building), with the purpose of
using them as offices, studios and car park buildings.

However, the Company’s office rented from
Chetchotisak Company Limited (as per details in the
table, items 5 and 6, and next to Chetchotisak building 2)
was the office that Chetchotisak Company Limited
renovated from the townhouse to the office building with
public utilities provided. The rental/service fees were
charged on a lump sum rate, with average rates of 333 -
600 baht per square meter (calculated from rental /service
charge as total package cost divided by average usage area
of the building) which was at lower average rate than the
Chetchotisak building 1- 3. This was reasonable rate as
explained the comparison in previous section.
Additionally, the reason of sublease from the Chetchotisak
Company Limited was due to the expertise in office
management. The rental agreement with the party with
whom the conflict of interest may arise, the details are as
follows:

Building/Location Renter

Rented by

1. Chetchotisak Building 1 Chetchotisak Co.,

RS PCL

419/1 Soi Ladphrao 15, Chatuchak, Bangkok Ltd.
2. Chetchotisak Building 2 Chetchotisak Co., RSPCL
419/2 Soi Ladphrao 15, Chatuchak, Bangkok Ltd. Lifestar Co., Ltd.
3. Chetchotisak Building 3 )
419/3 Soi Ladphrao 15, Chatuchak, Bangkok ChetChf::isak Co, RS PCL

o RS PCL
s i Membership Co. af
Soi Ladphrao 15, Chatuchak, Bangkok Ltd. P&y RS. Telivulislon Co.,
5. Building no. 203/18-20 Chetchotisak Co. .
Soi Ladphrao 15, Chatuchak, Bangkok Ltd. » Lifestar Co,, Ltd.
@, ISR Chetchotisak Co., .
Soi Ladphrao 15, Chatuchak, Bangkok Lid. Lifestar Co., Ltd.

Remark
* The related party transactions were approved and disclosed as per the regulations of the Capital Market Supervisory Board.

@]
Start End

Rental and Service
Fee/Month
(million baht)

Rental Space

Approved by
(sq.m.)

3,745 1.59 Jun'ig  Jan'20  Board of Directors
5,995 255 Junig  Jan'zo Board of Directors
50 002 Jun'1g Jan'zo Board of Directors
2,242 0.95 Jun'ig  Jan'20  Board of Directors
Lump sum 0.25 (Lump sum)  Aug'18 May'lg Board of Directors
850 051 (Lump sum)  Jun'lg Jan'20  Board of Directors
600 0.25(Lumpsum) Junig Jan'zo  DBoardofDirectors
600 ozo (Lumpsum) Jun1g Jan'2o BoardofDirectors
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During 2020, the Company moves to new office
head quarter to support growth of business in the future.
The Company rents space and common service from
Chetchotisak Company Limited totaling 23,814 square
meters for 3 years. The rental and common service fee
were calculated from the average cost made by 3
independent asset appraisers, approved by the Office of
the Securities and Exchange Commission. The details are
as follows:

Office High Ceiling Satellite
Space Space Space

Rental Space 21,180 sq.m. 2,634 sq.m. 10 spots
Price per sq.m. 450 baht 735 baht -
RenFl /atlvli Stteflvice
ee, onf
(million baht) 953 194 0.08

Land Rental

In the financial statements for the year ended
December 31, 2019, the Company made payment of land
rental to Chetchotisak Company Limited in the amount
of 0.09 million baht per year.

The Company rented the land from Chetchotisak
Company Limited for using as equipment storage

Land
Ladphrao 15, Chatuchak, Bangkok

Chetchotisak
Co., Ltd.

RS PCL

Remark

building and store by charging the land rental at the rate
of 137 baht per square wah, which was considered
reasonable when compared to the rental of nearby land.
The rental details are as follows:

Rental
Fee/Month
(baht)

. )
Start | End (*)

Done by
Management

Approved by

Rental Space

(sq.m.)

52 7150 Junig  Jan'zo

* This agreement was done by Management team due to the size of the transaction lower than the requirement which shall be approved by the Board of Directors as

per the regulations of the Capital Market Supervisory Board.

Purchase of Fixed Assets
-Nil-

Guarantee
-Nil-

The Necessity and Rationale of the Related Party
Transactions

All related party transactions are done under the
necessity and rationale of the transactions to optimize
the Company’s benefit. Throughout 2019, the related
party transactions between the Company and the
subsidiary companies, as well as the Company and
related parties, the core transaction of which are land
rental, office rental and guarantee, were under normal
course of business, no special condition and no transfer
of interest. Pricing, fee rate and/or interest rate was able
to compare with other entities transactions and has been
disclosed in the notes to financial statements of 2019.

The Audit Committee has reviewed the related
party transactions between the Company, subsidiaries
and individuals who may possess a conflict of interest,
including land rental, office rental, sales and purchase of
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goods or assets, copyright, production service, organizing
concerts and marketing activities, sales of advertising,
services, loan interest, and etc., disclosed in the notes to
financial statements of 2019. The Committee has the
comments that the mentioned transactions occurred
under normal course of business, necessity and rationale
of the connected transactions to optimize the Company’s
benefit.

Measures or Steps of Approval in Related Party
Transactions

The Company has set a policy for the approval
of related party transactions. The related party
transactions has rooted in necessity, rationale and
optimum of the firm benefit and conditions are indifferent
to the transaction with external parties. In case of the
significant related party transactions, conducted in
accordance with the rule governing listed securities, all
approval must be consented by the Audit Committee, the
Board of Directors and Shareholders’ Meeting excluding
votes of the related persons. In addition, all operations
shall be in line with concerned regulations of the Capital
Market Supervisory Board.



Policy and Future Potential of Related Party
Transactions, including Acquisition and
Disposal of Assets

The Company shall maintain the policy or the
future potential of related party transactions with related
parties such as office rental, land rental and guarantee of
loan by the Company for the Company Group. However,
the Company shall not do related party transactions with
individuals who may possess a conflict of interest, except
for the case that will optimize the Company’s benefit, as
well as pricing and conditions are indifferent or better
than the transaction with external parties. The Company
will ensure that all related party transactions according
to concerned regulations of the Capital Market
Supervisory Board, will be consented by the Board of
Directors and Shareholders’ meeting.
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RS Public Company (Limited)

Financial Highlight

Statement of Financial Position as at December 31, 2017, 2018 and 2019
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RS Public Company (Limited)
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RS Public Company (Uimited)

Uabiities and equity (Contd)
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RS Public Carmpany (LUimited)

Statement of Comprehensive Income

For the Year Ended December 31, 2017, 2018 and 2019
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RS Public Company (Umited)
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RS Public Company (Umited)

Statement of Cash Flows
For the Year Ended December 31, 2017, 2018 and 2019
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RS Public Company (Uimited)
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RS Public Company (Uimited)
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RS Public Company (Limited)

Key Financial Ratios
Consolidamd fnancial swloments
2017 2018 2019
Liquidity Ratios
Currertt Raso (tme) 089 14 090
Quick Rato (sme) 085 ovo 058
Cash Flows from Operaing Rato (¥me) 085 0sa 0.86
Recaivable Tumowr Rsso (lene) 625 7.18 784
Cotecton Days (dan) 58 51 47
rmevory Tumover Rato (beme) 956 735 743
Axrage Number of Danys Sales (day) 38 S0 4“9
Account Payable Tumover Ratio (Sme) 992 7653 762
Payment Days (day} k14 48 45
Cash Ccle (day) 59 53 48
Profitability Ratios
Geoss Proft Margin (%) 39.19% 42.37% S4.06%
Operating Proft Margin (%) 12.56% 1482% 1361%
Operating Cash Flows 1o Opernating Proft Raso (%) 241.92% 204.75% 21022%
Net Profit Margin (%) 943% 1337% 1003%
Retum on Equity (%) 2721% 336a% 21.40%
Efficiency Ratios
Returm on Asset (%) 1.14% 14.43% 1327%
Return on Foeed Asset (%) 103.26% 17211% 1M122%
Assats Tunover () 085 0% 097
Leverage Ratios
Deobt 10 Equity Rato (sme) 20 144 097
Frinrest Cowrage Rato (tme) 614 a7 1434
Dett Servce Cowrage Rato (Cash basis) (vme) 130 1596 m
Divdend Payout Raso (%) . 84.31% racon’
Per Share
Book Value per Share (baht) 14501 1.7296 17759
Eamings (1oss) per Share (Dahy 03443 05337 03744

* Dividend payout year 2019 The dhvidend payment calculaton was n accordance with the rescluton of the Board of Divecions’
meeting on 13 August 2019, which approved an inlenm cividend payment at the rate of 0.20 baht per share. Also, according 1o the
Board of Directons” meeting on 20 February 2020, 3 resohsion was pasted 10 approve the proposal 10 pay dividends from retained
eamngs as of 31 Decamber 2010 at the rate of 0.10 batt per shace, whoh was presented kor consideration and approval at the
Arnusl Gerond Mosting of Shasehoiders 2020. The 1atal dividend payment i &2 the rane of 0,30 Badt per shar.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

The analysis in this section has been prepared
from the overall turnover of RS Public Company Limited
and its subsidiaries (the “Company”) in accordance with
data based on audited financial statements. In order to
demonstrate the overall performance of the Company, the
analysis has been divided into three main business segments,
including Commerce business, Media business, and
Music & Other businesses, as shown in below table.

Business group Type

* Health & Beauty Products

-The Skin Care Products (“Magique”)

- Hair Care Products (“Revive”)

- The Food Supplements Products
(“S.O.M.)

* Home & Lifestyle Products

* Accessories & Others

1) Commerce Business

“Channel 8”
“Sabaidee TV"
“Channel 2"
“SATV"
(Formerly :

Television Media

2) Media Business Business

“Series Channel”)
RadioMedia N .GOOLfahrenheit”
Business

Digital Business , Copyright

3) Music & Other Collection, Artist Management,

Businesses

Concerts and Marketing
Organization

Summary of 2019 Performance

The overall Thai economy throughout 2019
remained under pressure from various factors both from
inside and outside the country. Issues such as trade war
problems and the appreciation of the Thai baht affected
the economic growth, which impacted exports and
slowed private consumption. Declining household
income and employment, especially in terms of
production of goods for export, coupled with the high
level of household debt dampened both private
consumption and spending as a whole.

The consolidated financial statements of the
Company for the year ended December 31, 2019 show
net profit attributable to the parent company in the
amount of 363.3 million baht, compared to 516.0 million
baht in 2018, which decreased by 152.7 million baht or
29.6 percent.

However, excluding an extraordinary gain from
the adjustment of the digital television operating license
(“license”) payment before tax in the amount of 94.6
million baht (or after tax in the amount of 75.7 million
baht) for 2018, there would be net profit from operating
activities in 2018 of 440.3 million baht; compared to net
profit of 363.3 million baht in 2019, this is a decrease of
only 77.0 million baht or 17.5 percent.

Revenue from commerce business slightly
decreased y-o-y due to the slow economy. This impacted
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consumers, delaying their decision to purchase products,
but the revenue from outbound customers on database
continued to grow. Revenue from the media business also
decreased due to the situation of the overall industry,
which did not see any growth. However, the music and
concert business increased its revenue in the 3rd and 4th
quarters. The Company's gross profit margin improved
10 44.1 percent, compared to 42.4 percent in 2018, thanks
to the performance of the music and other businesses
that have a higher profitability rate. In addition, Channel
8 benefitted from the reduction of the total cost of the
license, per the order of the Chief of the National Council
for Peace and Order No. 4/2562 dated April 11, 2019 that
waived the last 2 installments of the license fee.

Year 2018 Year 2019 Change
-

Revenue from sales and services 38267 1000% 36111 1000% 2155 5.6%

Unit: million baht

- Commerce business 21268 55.6% 20124 557% 1144 -5.4%

- Media business 13447 251% 1,069.2 20.6% -275.4 -205%

- Music & Other 355.2 93% 5295 147% 1743 491%
Cost of sales and services 2,2053 57.6% 20200 559% 1853 -8.4%
Gross margin 16214 42.4% 15912 441% 302 -1.9%
Selling and administrative expenses 1054.4 276% 10998 305% 454 43%
Operating profit 5670 14.8% 4914 13.6% 756 -13.3%
Finance costs 683 18% 346 10% 337 -493%
Net profit/(loss) 5160 13.5% 3633 101% 1527 -29.6%

Note:

There was the extra item booked in Q2/2018 (before tax) equals 94.6 million baht.

Revenue

Revenue from sales and services in 2019
recorded 3,611.0 million baht on a net basis which
decreased from the previous year by 215.5 million baht
or 5.6 percent. This can be explained according to the
following business segments.

Revenue from Commerce Business

Revenue from commerce business consists of
revenue from the selling of products under the company's
own brand as well as products from partners. The items
are sold through the Company’s various channels,
including digital TV, satellite TV, radio media, online and
through retail stores throughout the country. In 2019, the
Company collaborated with two leading digital TV
channel partners to expand product distribution channels
and another channel will start operations in February 2020.

Revenue from the commerce business in 2019
was 2,012.4 million baht, a decrease of 5.4 percent from
2018. This was the result of Thai economic slowdown,
stemming from both inside and outside factors
throughout 2019 which caused consumers to delay their
purchasing decisions and thus affected the total revenue
of the commerce business. However, based on the
Company's continuously growing customer database that
currently has more than 1.3 million customers, the
Company has analyzed and developed methods of
presenting products to meet the needs of each customer.
This includes organizing marketing campaigns
throughout the year, such as "Mid Year Super Sales" and
“RS Mall New Year Celebration 2020", in order to
encourage customers to buy more products.



Revenue from Media Business

Revenue from the media business of the
Company was 1,069.2 million baht, falling 20.5 percent
from 2018, which stood at 1,344.7 million baht. This was
the result of a decline in business revenue of media sector,
primarily due to intense competition.

Revenue from Television Media Business

Overall television industry in 2019, the
advertising spending (ADEX) through digital TV, from a
survey by AGB Nielsen Media Research (Thailand), was
stable from the previous year, at the level of 68 billion
baht. Also, the number of television viewers remained at
the same level, at 8.9 percent as of December 2019,
compared to 9.3 percent in December 2018 (out of a
population of 65 million). However, the result reflected
the growing intensity in price competition in the
industry. The limited ad spending caused “Channel 8”, the
digital TV business of the Company, to experience a
decline in performance.

The ratings of Channel 8 continuously improved
throughout the second half of 2019, with the average
rating of December 2019 for the viewers aged 15+ in 18
hours’ period at 3.8 percent, compared to 3.2 percent as
of June 2019, given the overall increase in popularity of
the main programs, including 10 Thai dramas, 4-part Thai
series under the name "The Series Lak Loung Lorn", and
boxing programs including “8 Muay Thai Super Champ”,
and the additional "Muay Hardcore" boxing show on
Saturday.

From effective management of the entire group
of companies, it has successfully managed all the media
with 100% utilization by advertising and selling a wide
variety of commerce business products of the entire
group, continuously increasing the growth rate.

Revenue from Radio Media Business

Although the radio media industry is likely to
shrink, however, with effective cost controls, the
monetization of packages on all platforms to meet the
needs of customers, and "COOLfahrenheit" remains
popular at number 1 in the Easy Listening category,
together with continuously organizing activities for
listeners such as "COOL Outing", "Ink Eat All Around”
and “COOL Music Fest”. The Company’s radio media
business is still an effective tool for generating good
profits.

Revenue from Music and Other Businesses

Most of revenue of the music business continues
to come from an increase of online streaming, the bulk
sales with large partners such as Facebook, Joox and AIS.
Also, there was an adjustment of the music marketing
strategy, resulting in effective cost management and the
ability to generate more revenue thanks to the fact that
artists are now able to plan the creation of their own
content.

There were additional revenues and earnings
from marketing events and concerts. In the 3rd and 4th
quarters, the Company earned revenue of 89.6 million
baht by organizing concerts, "Raptor Evolution 25 Years
Mai Mee Krengjai" and "D2B Infinity Concert 2019". It
helps to bolster the revenue for the music and other

businesses resulting in the revenue from these businesses
of 529.5 million baht, increased by 49.1 percent from
355.2 million baht in 2018.

Cost of Sales and Services

Cost of sales and services in the amount of
2,020.0 million baht decreased by 185.3 million baht or
8.4 percent from the previous year which stood at 2,205.3
million baht. It declined in proportion to a decrease in
commerce business revenue, effective cost management
of media business and the reduction in the cost of
Channel 8 from waiving the last two installments of the
license fee.

Gross Margin

The Company's gross profit in 2019 was 1,591.2
million baht, declining 1.9 percent from 2018’s figure,
which was 1,621.4 million baht. However, the gross profit
margin increased by 44.1 percent compared to 42.4
percent in the previous year thanks to higher profitability
in the music and other businesses.

Selling and Administrative Expenses, and Finance Costs

Selling and administrative expenses of 1,099.8
million baht rose from the previous year by 45.4 million
baht or 4.3 percent. This was mainly due to an increase
in external media spending in accordance with
distribution channel expansion of commerce business,
higher outbound staff expenses and the increase of
compensation for employee benefits totaling 20.1 million
baht.

Finance costs of 34.6 million baht, decreased by
33.7 million baht or 49.3 percent. This was derived mainly
from a decrease in interest expenses for long-term bank
loans and a reduction of total future finance charge for
license.

Net Profit

Net profit attributable to the parent company
was 363.3 million baht, compared to 516.0 million baht
in 2018, which decreased by 152.7 million baht or 29.6
percent. However, excluding an extraordinary gain from
the adjustment of the license payment before tax in the
amount of 94.6 million baht (or after tax in the amount
of 75.7 million baht) for 2018, there would be net profit
from operating activities in 2018 of 440.3 million baht;
compared to net profit of 363.3 million baht in 2019, this
is a decrease of only 77.0 million baht or 17.5 percent.

Asset
Asset Components

As of December 31, 2019, the Company had total
assets of 3,406.8 million baht, comprised of 33.6% current
assets and 66.4% non-current assets.
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Cash and cash equivalents 339.6 83% 3284 9.6% 12 33%

Unit: million baht

Current assets :

Trade and others accounts

receivable (net) B2 B 5448 260% 5 o
Inventories (net) 2848 70% 2588 76% 260 -91%
Other current assets (net) 87 02% 0.4% 46 529%
Total current assets 11863 291% 11453 33.6% 410 -3.5%
Non-current assets :

Plant and equipment (net) 3315 81% 503.8 14.8% 1723 52.0%
mﬁ;ﬁ;ﬁ:&i}:&) 13957 343% 6707 197% 7250 51.9%
Intangible assets 7201 17.7% 702.8 20.6% -173 -2.4%
Other non-current assets (net) 4397 10.8% 384.2 113% 555 -12.6%
Total non-current assets 2,887.0 70.9% 2,261.5 66.4% -625.5 -21.7%
Total assets 40733 100.0% 3,406.8 100.0% -666.5 -16.4%

As of December 31, 2019, the main assets consist
of: 20.6 percent intangible assets (net); 19.7 percent license
for operation right in spectrum of digital television (net);
16.0 percent trade and other account receivables (net);
14.8 percent Plant and equipment (net); 9.6% cash and
cash equivalents; and 7.6% inventories (net).

Total assets as of December 31, 2019 amounted
10 3,406.8 million baht, representing a decrease of 666.5
million baht or 16.4% from the previous year. The main
reason for this is the decrease in digital TV licenses by
725.0 million baht or 51.9 percent, per the NCPO Chief’s
order No. 4/2562 on 11 April 2019 that waived the license
fees for the last two installment periods. Meanwhile,
Plant and equipment (net) increased by 172.3 million baht
or 52.0 percent from investment in the expansion of call
centers, goods warehouses, broadcasting equipment for
the television stations, and the Company’s new premises.

Quality of the Assets

Trade Accounts Receivable - Others (net)
Trade accounts receivable classified by aging are as follows :

--

Unit: million baht

Current 3243 64.2% 2500 601% -229%
Less than 3 months 1320 261% 1515 36.4% 195 14.8%
3 - 6 months 31 0.6% 71 71% 40 129.0%
6 - 12 months o7 0.2% - - -o7 -100.0%
Over 12 months 449 8.9% 73 1.8% -37.6 -83.7%
Total 505.0 100.0% 4159 100.0% -89.1 -17.6%
Less: Allowance for doubtful 424 -8.4% 72 7% 352 -83.0%
accounts
Trade accounts receivable o - D
~others (e 462.6 91.6% 4087 983% 53.9 11.7%
Key Financial Ratios :
Receivable turnover ratio (time) 718 7.84
Collection days (day) 5t 47
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Asof December 31, 2019, the Company had trade
accounts receivable - others (net) of 4087 million baht,
which decreased from last year by 53.9 million baht or
11.7 percent, due to the decrease of receivables from the
media business group, which fluctuated with the
decrease in income during the year. The Company has
written-off the debtors that were sued, with judgements
of bad debts from a tax standpoint. Said debtors have
already been recorded in the allowance for doubtful
accounts in accordance with the Company's policy. As
such, this past year, the allowance for doubtful accounts
decreased from the previous year by 35.2 million baht or
83.0%. The Company has a policy to assess and review
the allowance for doubtful accounts regularly, to ensure
that the remaining debt in the financial statements
reflects the real or realizable value.

In addition, considering the age of the debtors,
more than 9o% of the debtors are not over 3 months
overdue with their commitments, which is in accordance
with the credit policy of an average of 2-3 months credit
for customers of the media and other businesses and
others. The commerce business is an exception; most
customers have cash or credit of not exceeding 1 month,
making the overall average debt collection period of the
Company at 47 days in 2019, which is close to 2018’s
figure of 51 days.

Inventories (net)

Year 2018 Year 2019

Cost 3123 100.0% 2923 100.0%

275 -88% 335 115% 60 21.8%

Unit: million baht

Less: Allowance for obsolete
inventories

Inventories (net) 284.8 91.2% 258.8 88.5% -26.0 -9.1%

Key Financial Ratios :

Inventory turnover ratio (time)

Average number of days sales (day) B 49

As of December 31, 2019, inventories consisted
of finished goods: 96.7 percent consumer products; and
3.3 percent works in process related to television
programs, concerts and marketing activities and others.
The total net value was 258.8 million baht, decreasing by
26.0 million baht or 9.1 percent from the previous year.
This year, the Company recorded an increase in the
allowance for obsolete products from the previous year
for unsold products and stock that has been stored for a
long time; this is according to the policy that requires the
review of inventory value regularly in every accounting
period, so that the value of inventories, as shown in the
financial statements, is not lower than the net value to be
realized. As aresult, this year, the proportion of allowance
for obsolete products is 11.5 percent, increasing from 8.8
percent in the previous year. At any rate, there are still
plans for engaging in various marketing promotions so
that all the products can be released from the stock.



License for operation right in spectrum of digital

television (net)

s 100.0% 13947 100.0% -635.6 -31.3%

Unit: million baht

Cash equivalent value
(present value)

Less:

Accumulated amortisation 16346 313% 7240 519% 894 ageks

Net book amount 1,395.7 68.7% 6707 481% -725.0 -51.9%

According to the order of the Head of the
National Council for Peace and Order No. 4/2562 on
Measures to Solve Television and Telecommunications
Business Operations on 11 April 2019, the Office of the
National Broadcasting and Telecommunications
Commission must consider payment to or compensation
for the license holder by waiving the final two license fee
installments. As a result, the license, before deducting
accumulated amortization as of December 31, 2019, has
a net value of 1,394.7 million baht, a decrease of 635.6
million baht or 31.3 percent from the previous year. The
amortization for 2019 was 89.4 million baht, a decrease
of 45.9 million baht from the previous year (in 2018, it
was 135.3 million baht). The net balance of the license
value is thus 670.7 million baht, a decrease of 725.0
million baht or 51.9 percent from the previous year.

In addition, the Company has made future cash
flow projections every year in order to assess the
impairment of the use of the license. As of December 31,
2019, the Company has tested the impairment and found
that the recoverable value is higher than the net book
value; therefore, there is no impairment of the said license.

Intangible Assets (net)

Year 2018 Year 2019 Change
o
.6%

Cost 27471 100.0% 29837

Unit: million baht

1000% 2366 3

Less:

Accumulated amortisation gecCs 6o7%

-1912.2 -64.1% 245.8 14.8%
Allowance for impairment -360.6 -131% -3687 -123% 81 2.2%

Net book amount 7201 26.2% 702.8 -23.6% 173 -2.4%

As of December 31, 2019, intangible assets (net)
comprise of: 78.7 percent drama copyrights; and 21.3
percent of music copyrights, computer programs and
others. The total net worth was 702.8 million baht, a
decrease of 17.3 million baht or 2.4 percent from the
previous year due to the decrease of music copyrights,
computer programs and others.

As of December 31, 2019, the Company has an
allowance for impairment of 368.7 million baht, an
increase of 8.1 million baht or 2.2 percent from the
previous year. This was due to the recording of the
allowance for impairment for music copyrights whose
useful life is not known. The Company thus has no
amortization of the benefits, but instead uses an
impairment test. However, the Company has a policy to
regularly review impairment for all types of intangible
assets in every accounting period, to ensure that the
intangible asset value shown in the financial statements
are not less than the amount expected to be realized.

Capital Structure
Liabilities, Equity and Debt to Equity Ratio

R

Interest-bearing liabilities 6537 7754 1217 18.6%

Payable for cost of license for
operation right in spectrum of 8306 - 8306
digital television (net)

-100.0%

Other liabilities 9167 9043 124 -1.4%
Total liabilities 2,401.0 16797 7213 30.0%

Equity attributable to

owners of the parent LR 1724.9 537 3.2%

Debt to equity ratio

(time) 144 97

As of December 31, 2019, the Company had total
liabilities of 1,679.7 million baht, a decrease of 721.3
million baht or 30.0 percent. This was from the reduction
in the cost of the television operating license in the total
amount of 830.6 million baht from the NCPO Chief’s
order No. 4/2562 that waived the last two license fee
installments. Interest-bearing liabilities increased by
121.7 million baht, mainly from short-term loans.

The Company has equity in the Parent Company
as of December 31, 2019 in the amount of 1,724.9 million
baht, an increase of 53.7 million baht from the previous
year or 3.2 percent. This increase reflected the increase
in profits during the year of 345.6 million baht as well as
the receipt of additional capital from the exercise of the
RS-W3 option in the the amount of 70.0 million baht,
meanwhile, the dividend payment during the year was
387.9 million baht.

In 2019, the ratio of debt to shareholders’ equity
is 0.97 times, down from 2018, which had a ratio of 1.44
times - mostly reflecting the reduction of the total debt
from the television operating license.

Liquidity
Cash Flow

Cash flow from operating activities 1161.0 1,033.1
Cash flow from investing activities 518.4 “615.2
Cash flow from financing activities 5338 4291

Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 108.8 -11.2

Cash and cash equivalents, closing balance 1396 3284

As of December 31, 2019, the Company had cash
and cash equivalents of 328.4 million baht. During the year,
11.2 million baht of net cash was used. There was also 615.2
million baht for investing activities: investment in drama
content and series for television media, as well as investment
in call center equipment and systems, warehouses,
broadcasting equipment for the television stations, and the
Company’s new office. In addition, the net cash used in
financing activities was 429.1 million baht from dividends,
the payment of the television operating license fees for the
television business, and the repayment of long-term loans,
as scheduled. Meanwhile, during the year, the Company’s
net cash flow from operating activities increased by 1,033.1
million baht, mainly from cash received from the sales of

products from the commerce business.
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Key Liquidity Ratios

Current ratio (time) 1.04 090
Quick ratio (time) 070 058
Collection days (day) 51 47
Average number of days sales (day) 50 49
Payment days (day) 48 48
Cash cycle (day) 53 48

As for the overview of 2019, the Company
slightly decreased in liquidity from the previous year, as
the Company increased short-term loans for investment
in various equipment during the year. However, the
Company's working capital management is more efficient.
This year, the cash cycle of the company was at 48 days,
decreasing from the previous year, which stood at 53
days.

Key Factors and Influences that may affect the
Performance and Financial Position in the Future

RS is determined to use its “Entertainmerce”
model to fully thrive and dominate the commerce
business. This involves an element of entertainment
combined with the presentation of diverse products to
customers through all platforms, including television,
radio, online and on-ground media; the latter refers to
the organization of events and concerts to reach
customers nationwide. In addition to launching the brand
"RS Mall" on all channels, along with negotiating for new
advertising and distribution partners, 2020 will be the
year that focuses on creating online channels under the
brand "COOQOL Shop" to align with the current behavior
of consumers. This would start with the development of
the "Coolism" Application, with over 2 million listeners
per month, as well as the use of software to analyze
existing customer data from the commerce business,
which currently includes more than 1.3 million
customers. Also, there would be the development of a
telemarketing system to enable repeat customers and to
develop a variety of products. By 2020, in addition to
offering products to the consumer market, the Company
will also expand to offer services such as travel.

"Channel 8" with the slogan "Everyone Can
Watch Channel 8, Press Number 27", will enjoy the
benefits from the cost reduction of the license, while the
Company will receive full support for the digital
television network service fee (Multiplexer or MUX)
from June onwards. As for Channel 8's programs, both
Thai dramas and Thai series have been well received and
enjoy a continuously growing viewer base from 2019.
A "Thai Fight" boxing program will also be launched to
bolster the programming, helping to meet the goals of the
No. 1 boxing channel. Channel 8 will offer diverse
programs, including news and variety shows, and further
serve as an important channel for the commerce business
of the Company. From the great success of 2019, the
Company plans to organize 5 main concerts in 2020 -
they are expected to be an important part of generating
both revenue and profit for the Company throughout the
year.
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Independent Auditor’s
Report

To the shareholders of RS Public Company Limited

My opinion

In my opinion, the consolidated financial statements of
RS Public Company Limited (“the Company”) and its
subsidiaries (“the Group”) and the separate financial
statements of the Company present fairly, in all material
respects, the consolidated and separate financial position
of the Group and of the Company as at 31 December 2019,
and its consolidated and separate financial performance
and its consolidated and separate cash flows for the year
then ended in accordance with Thai Financial Reporting
Standards (TFRSs).

What I have audited

The consolidated financial statements and the separate
financial statements comprise:

- the consolidated and separate statements of
financial position as at 31 December 2019;

- the consolidated and separate statements of
comprehensive income for the year then ended,;
- the consolidated and separate statements of
changes in equity for the year then ended;

- the consolidated and separate statements of
cash flows for the year then ended; and

- the notes to the consolidated and separate
financial statements, which include a summary
of significant accounting policies.

Basis for opinion

I conducted my audit in accordance with Thai Standards
on Auditing (TSAs). My responsibilities under those
standards are further described in the Auditor’s
responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated and
separate financial statements section of my report. I am
independent of the Group and Company in accordance
with the Federation of Accounting Professions under the
Royal Patronage of his Majesty the King's Code of Ethics
for Professional Accountants together with the ethical
T requirements that are relevant to my audit of the financial
I

i
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1] ! ‘

statements, and [ have fulfilled my other ethical
responsibilities in accordance with these requirements.
I believe that the audit evidence I have obtained is
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for my
opinion.

Key audit matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in my
professional judgment, were of most significance in my
audit of the consolidated and separate financial
statements of the current period. These matters were
addressed in the context of my audit of the consolidated
and separate financial statements as a whole, and in
forming my opinion thereon, and I do not provide a
separate opinion on these matters.
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Key audit matters How my audit addressed the hey audit matters

Valuation of the licence for operation right in spectrum of
digital television®

Fiodor 1o note 2.9 and 13 Looance for oparation nght n specoum of | gasn understand the method of assessing the mpasment of
digtal elevision ne()” of the consalidated and separate fnancial e loanse for operaion nght in spectrum of diglal television and

stalements

As at 31 December 2015, the Group had the Licence for
operation nght n spectrum of dglal lelevison which was
valued at Bart 671 mdlion, net of accumulsted amortisation As
m-mmwaum audiences have many

These factors inchcate that the recoverable vaiue of s
kcence might be less than the net bock value. Management
annualy evaluated the impaimment loss on this licanse. This
year he mpament sl ndicated that there was no
imparment loss

| focussed on the imparment test of Bes icence because
it refates to a signdficant amount. Also, assumpions were
made by management 10 determine the recoverable value,
estmatng the overall revenue growth rates and discount
rates in the future cash flow forecast Small changes o
these assumplions could result in a significant change o
the cash fow forecarst and loence mpasrment consideraton

fest the assumptions used by management
recoverabie value of he hoerse. | peronmed he falowng.

»  evaluaing the appropriatencss of the method used in the

in calouiatng e

Group's cash flow forecast and the process by which t
was drawn Lp, and %esting the undedying values used in
the forecast

comparng he Group's cash flow forecast of the cument
year to the previous year and evaluating significant
amendments. Also, comparnng the Group's cash fow
forecast 1o the actual performance of the current year.

chalanging management on their key assumpbons,
including the reverue growth rates and the discount
rate by

performng a sensibvilty analysis of he revenue growth
and discount rate assumpbions to defermne how a
change in hose assumpbions woukd affect he imparment
of he hoence.

As a result of the above procedures, | found that

management s assumptions applied in he loence valuaton
were reasonabie based on the avadable evidence.
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Koy audit matters How my audit addressed the key audit matters

Recognition of production cost amortisation of a drama
senes

Fiofer 1o note 210 and 14 Ttangil assets (nel)' of e consokdated
and company financal staterments

As al 31 Decernber 2019, the Group presented a Bait 498
milion producton cost balance of a drama senes as an
ntangble asset This represents 71% of the total intangible
assets. The produchon costs were carmed o cost with @
deducton for ac cumutaded amodisation It was amotised
basad on he expecied patiem of consumption of he future
econamic benefts embodied in the assels,

Management dvidad 1he procucton Costs INio Wo Components.
The first companent was amortisad basad on the number of
episodes forecast fo be aired under the channel's on-air
schedule. The resicual component was amortised using
| focussed on the amortisaton method for the producton
costs basad on the number of episodes forecast 1o be aired
under the channel's on-air schedule because ths s based on
management’s judgment of the number of epsodes 10 be
aired in the future In addition, the produchon costs were &
signficant amount 10 the fnancal statements.

Deferred tax assets recognised from cumulative tax losses
carried forward

Rafoer to note 214 and 16 Deferred tax assets (nad)” © the
consoldated and comparny financial statements

As at 31 December 2019, the Group had defermed tax assets of
Bat 201 million, of which Baht 43 millon realed 1o hose
recogrsed fom cumuative tax losses camed forward by the
Comparry and the subsckanes. Duning the year, a subsdary
utiised banefits from he tax losses accumulating 1o 13 Balt

The Group has recognised ther Geferred tax assets from
cumulative tax losses camed forward 1o the exdent hat t's
prodable that e tamble profts would allow use of he
cumustie tax losses. Management prepened fnancal proectons
assets from the cumulatve tax iosses camied forward In this

| focussed on s area because he amounts of defermed tax
assets are significant 1o the Group's financial statement
The estmaton of Ature tvabie profts & complex. and the key
assumptons molve signficant udgment by management n
assessng the Ature toabie proft

| undérstood and tested the amonsaton method by
p«fominghuptooodtm:

* assessing the approprialeness of the management's
wmumamdmm
The cost of drama production & divided based on he
revere generaled from the number of episodes of
each drama and e revenue generatied fom he sales of
damarnghis.

¢ assessing the appeoprateness of the
Jdgments about e forecast and estimated number of
ared] epesodes of eadh senes by companng the forecast o
e channel's on-air schedule

*  avauaing the acthual number of ared epsodes of drama
senes by companng them 1 he channel's onvar schedue
used in the amartisaton calculation

* lostng the arfhmetical accuracy of the calcuiaion

| evaluate the drama and senes producton oost amonzation
method and the forecast (o be ared 15 reasonabie and wihin
an acceptable range based on avakable evidence. AS a result
of he 1055 | found no diference between the drama and
senes produchion cost amaontzaton and the number of ackual
epsodes of the senas and the crama broadcasting plans

deferred tax assets and assess
assumpbons that were used in he calouiation du.n
Locabie profit 1o delermming the recoverabity of the defemed
tax assets, | pedformed the folowing.

¢ assessing the avaslable cumulative tax losses camed
forward by teshing ther expiry pancds acoordng 10 any
appicable provisions of he Revenus Code regarding he
recovery of deferred tux assets. This also includes e
evaluaion of the anthmebcal accuracy In the fax
o evauaiing and challenging management's Jdgement and
assumpions apphed in the Group's profit forecasts in
he five-yaar busness plan. Dung the five-year penod,
e Group can use accurmited S ioss by considernng the
probebilty of Adure proft growth resuling fom revenue
Thes a0 roudes reverue gonth nhe

business plan 1o economic and Industry orecast

¢ flestng the reasonabieness of the Group's past proft
estimates and whether using the tax loss benefts is in ine

with the Group's actuad profit
As a result of above procedures, | considernsd management's
key assumpbons used n he estimate of fulure Soable proft
be wihin a reasonabie range

Togmmmuvdnmamm
sgnficant
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Other Information

The directors are responsible for the other iInformation. The other information comprises the information ncluded n
the annual report, but does not Include the consobdated and separate financial statements and my audior's report
thereon The annual repont is expecied 10 be made avalable to me after the date of this auditor's report.

My opinion on the consolkdaled and separate financial statements does not cover the other information and | will not
express any form of assurance condusion thereon.

In connection with my aud of the corsoldated end seperate Bnancal stitements, my responsibiity & % read the other rformaton
identifed above when it becomes avadable and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is matenally
inconsistent with the consolidated and separate financial statements or my knowledge oblained in the auda, or
otherwise appears 10 be materially missiated,

When | read the annual report, f | conciude that theve is a material misstatement therein, | am required 1o communicate the
matier to the audit commitiee.

Responsibilities of the directors for the consolidated and separate financial statements

The drectors are responsible for the preparabon and far presentation of the consohdated and separate financial
statemants in accordance with TFRSs, and for such intemal control as the directors delermine is necessary 10 enabla
the preparation of consolidated and separate financal statements that are free from matenal misstatermnent, whether
due 10 fraud or error

In preparing the consclidated and separate financal stalements, the directors are responsible for assessing the
Group and Company's abidity 1o continue as 8 going concern, dsciosing, as applcable, matters related 1o gong
concern and using the going concerm basis of accounting unless the direciors eher intend to liquidate the Group and
Company or to cease operations, of has no realistic alternative but to do so.

The audt commiiee assicts the dinecions N descharging her resporsiaites, for oversesing e Group and Company's financsl
reporting process.

Auditor's responsibilibes for the audit of the consoldated and separate financiad statements

My objectives are 10 oblain reasonable assurance about whether the consobdated and separate fnancial statements as a
whole are free from materal misstatemant, whether due o fraud or emmor, and to Issue an auddor's report that Ncludes
my opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high Jevel of assurance, but is not 3 guarantes that an audt conducted In accordance
with TSAs will always detect a material misstatemant when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or eror and are
considered material f, indevidually or In the aggregate, thay could reasonably be expected o nfluence the economic
decisions of users taken on the bass of these consolcated and separate financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with TSAs, | exercise professional judgment and maintain professional scepbcism
throughout the audit. | also:

+  enbfy and assess the risks of matenal msstatement of the consohidated and separate financial statements,
whether due 10 fraud or error, design and pedform audit procedures responsive 1o hose risks, and obtan audt
evidence that is sufficent and appropriate o provide a basis for my opnion, The risk of not detecting a material
msstatement resuting from feud s higher than for one resuting from emor, as fraud may voive colusion, forgery,
intentional omissions, misteprasentations, of the override of internal control

+ Obtain an understancing of inemal control relevant 1o the audt In order 10 design audt procedures that are approprate n
he crcumstances, but not e he pupose of Exgressng an opinon on he effecivenass of the Group and Company’s
infemal control

*  Evaluate the appropnateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates
and related disclosures made by the directors



Other information

The directors are responsidie for the other information. The other information comprises the information included in
the annual report, but does not inciude the consclidated and separate financial statements and my auditor's report
herecn. The annual repornt S expectad 1o be made avalabls 10 me afler the date of this audior's report.

My opirson on the consobdated and separate financal statements coes not cover the other informaton and | wil not
expeass any form of assurance conclusion thereon

In connaction with my audt of the consoldated and separate fnancial statements, My responstity 1S 10 read the other infomaton
identified above when it becomes available and, in doing %0, mmmummsw
inconsistent with the consolidated and separate financial statements or my knowledge obtained in the aud®, or
otherwsse appears 1o be materially messtated.

When | read the annual report. If | conclude that there s a matenal misstatement theren, | am required 1o communicate the
matier 10 the audit commutiee.

Responsibilities of the directors for the consolidated and separate financial statements

The drectors are responsble for the preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated and separate financial
statements in accordance with TFRSs, and for such ntemal control as the directors determine is necessary 10 enable
the preparation of cornsolidated and separate Snancial ststements that are free from matenal messtatement, whelther
due to fraud or error

In preparing the consolidated and separate Snancial statements, the dreclors are responsible for assessing the
Group and Company’s abily to continue as a going concern, disciosing, as applicable, matters related to going
concem and using the gong concern bass of accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the Group and
Company or 10 cease cperations, or has no realistic altemative but to do so.

The audt commitiee asssts he drecion in dschargng ther responsibilies for overseaing the Group and Company’s financsl
reporing process
Auvditor's responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated and separate financial statements

My chypactives are 1o obtan reasonable assuranca about whether the consoldated and separate fnancial statemants as 8
whole are fee fom material misstatement, whether due 1o fraud or error, and 10 issue an audtor's report that includes
my opon. Reasonabie assuanoe 5 8 high level of assurance. but 15 not a guarantes that an audt conducted N accordance
with TSAs will always detect a matenal misstaternent when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or emor and are
considered material f, individually or in the aggregate, they coud reasonably be eapected to nfluence the econamic
decrsions of users taken on the basis of these consoldated and separate financal stalements.

As part of an audt in accordance with TSAs, | exercise professional judgment and maintan professional scepticism
throughout the audd. | also:

+  ldentfy and assess the risks of matenial misstatement of the consobdated and separate financial statements,
whether due to fraud or emor, design and perform audit procedures responsive 1o hose rsks, and oblan audt
evidence that i sufficent and approprate 1o provde a bass for my opinion. The risk of not detecting a material
messtatenent resultng fom fraud 5 hgher han for one resulting fom emor, as fraud may Invoive collusion, foery,
nlenBonal cMESSons, Misrepresentations, or the overnde of intarnal control

+  Oblan an understanding of intemal contral redevant 1o the audit in order to design audt procedures that are approprate In
he creumstances, but not for e purpose of expressing an opeson on the effectivenass of the Group and Company’s
mitermal control.

+  Evalate he appropriateness of accounting policies usad and the reasonadleness of accounting estimales
and related disclosures made by the direciors.
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+  Conclude on the appropiateness of the drecions’ use of the gong concem basss. of accountng and, based on the audct
evidence oblained, whether a malerial uncertainty exists related 10 events or condiions that may cast sgnficant
doutt on the Group and Company's abiity 10 continue as a going concem . If | conciude that a material uncertainty
exsts, | am required 10 draw attenbon n my audtor's repert 10 the related dedosures iIn the consobdated and
separate fnancal stalements or, if such disclosures are nadequate, to modéy my opnion. My condusions are based
on the audt evidence obtaned up 10 the date of my audior's report. However, fJuture events or condtions may cause the
Group and Company 10 Caase 10 CoNNUe &5 & GoINg CoNoam

«  Evakate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consoiicated and separate financial statements,
Including the disciosures, and whether the consobdated andd separate fnancsal stalements repeesent the undedying
transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation

+  Obtan sufficient appropnate sudlt evidence regardng the financal information of the enttes or business acivibes witin
the Group 1o express. &n opreon on the consobdated francs staternents. | am resporssbile for the dinection, supenvasion
and performance of he group audt | remain sclely responsibia 1or My auct opron

| communicate with the audit commitiee regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit
and significant audtt indings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that | identify during my audit

| also provde the audt commitice with a statement that | have complied with relevant cthical requirements regarding
independenca, and 10 communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may reascnably be thought o
bear on my independence, and where appiicable, refated safeguards.

From he maners communicaled with the sudt commitiee, | determine those maiers that were of most signiicance in he audt
of the consolidated financial statements of the current perod and are therefore the key audit matiers. | describe these matiers
n my audtor's report uniess law o reguiabion preciudes pubic dsciosure about the matter or when, In extremely rare
creumstances, | detenmine that 8 matter shoukd not be communicated N My report because he adverse consequences of
doing 20 would reasonably be expecied to cutweigh the publc interest banefits of such communication

PricewaterhouseCoopers ABAS Lid

Krit Chatchavalwong
Certifiad Public Accountant (Thafand) No. 5016
Bangkok

20 February 2020



RS Public Company Limited

Statement of Financial Position
As at 31 December 2019
Consolidated financial sttements Separste inancial statements
31 December 31 Decomber 31 Decemnber 31 Decomber
2019 2018 2019 2018
Notes Daht Baht Bam Bahe
Ascets
Current assets
Cash and cash equivalonts 0 328,400 00 18608 857 104205 400 168 511 881
Trade and 0Pers ac0ounts recervable (net) ? 544 B34 508 55,168 290 5%0 090 30 611655048
Shorv-term loans 10 related companes (nt) 324d) . . 1.006.700.000 251,700,000
wentories (net) 8 258,795 418 204 783 658 4147152 11,95 542
Value paded 1ax 21 850025 3816152
Omeor cument assets (net) 9 456384 483 60 1817 B 528 592
Total current assets 1145240082 1,186.342 658 1,707 043778 18743524683
Noacurrent ssets
Twostments in subsidianies (met) 0 . . 532444052 534,507 003
33 nan atod compary (ret) " w25 3991133 - -
Plant and equipment (ne) 2 a3 4 5 08 400 0s6 808 202 850,997
! tor op right in apectn
of Sgtal telovision (net) 13 670,748 815 1305758 282 - -
htangbia assets (not) ta 102,780 851 720,148 700 111000 961 RARR PAR T ]
Propakd eEanse - Non-cument 90 600 9.030.000 - -
Wehnolding tax (net) 1 LSXIEEA 100,009 207 WVANIT0 HLETT AN
Daoforred tax assats (net) "0 200,796,413 BB FAA231% 114.745.960
Ofer non-cument assets (net) 7 13,095 507 14.005. 736 15374009 14,029,008
Total non-current assets 2.269.5047% 200690 487 1216296 40 1,182 044 007
Total assets 3,405,761 658 4073327345 2.923.340210 2868 196,550
Eo———— e ———— 3§
Drector Dwector

The accompanying note on pages 167 to 216 are an integral part of these consolidated and separate financial statements.



RS Public Company Limited

Statement of Financial Position
As ot 31 December 2019
Consalidated financial statements Separate Ninancial statements
31 December 31 Decombaer 31 December 31 Decomber
2019 2008 2019 2018
Notes faht Babe Baht Bahe
Labites and eguty
Cuwrrent labilities
Trace and oer acoounts payable m 051,160 506 TI20 437 M205408 256 248 002
Curmons porton of Aabity undor
Anance lease agreements (net) 1" 6.720.006 11,070,086 6.720.006 11,070,066
Curment porton of payable 4or cost of iconse
for operanon right in spectrum
of Sl delevision (met) 13 . 4072392
Sherttarm loars rom franoal nstautons 20 450,000 000 240 000,000 320 000,000 240 000,000
Shorttonm loar Fom relatod companies e . . 7027425 208027126
Cutrent porten of payable for lngorm loans
fom fnancial natnions n £0,000.000 80,000,000 - .
Value odded tax i) 34,900 454 39,369,040 Reas14 30,280,571
Actraed inceme tax 30580 108 28982918 28712960
Wittoking s payablo 12,065 248 9242313 3531471 508030
Total current liabilities 1,.285848 472 1,145 940 928 TH NN 750,000,898
Noa<urrent Kablites
Liabdties undor Snance loasa
agroemaents (net) el 2,580 505 osToyr 2,990 565 0177
Long-torm cans from firancial nettuton » 236,085 000 310,085,000 - .
Paysble for cost of hoense for oporation rght
n spactrum of dgtal tolovision (net) " . 26541 . .
Employeo boratt abigatons Fa) 16,904 704 89545179 104 8765 8422568
Orar ron-curment Rabdtae 11460 455 62148237 G4 000 T A
Total non-current Raddities 414000728 1255062 086 114570201 85817879
Total abilities 1,679,738 200 2,400 960 B2 B44 204 683 225 511777

The accompanying note on pages 167 to 216 are an integral part of these consolidated and separate financial statements.



RS Public Company Limited

Statement of Financial Position
As at 31 December 2019
Consolidated financial statements Separate inancial statements
31 December 31 Decomber 31 December 31 Decomber
019 2018 019 2018
Notes Baht Bake Baht Bare
Liabiites and equtty (Cort'd)
Equity
Share capetal
AUnaorsed sharo captal 241
11615987 216 oronary shares
of par Bamt 1 each 1,961,857 216 1161897216
———— ———3
Aumorsed share capial
1.200.270.516 orcnary shaves
of par Bat 1 each 1203270516 1203270516
e mr o =
lssued and Ay paid-up shave copitsl
72495202 erdnary shares
of par Bait 1 each 972495202 072495202
1,010,140, 192 oedinary sharos
of par Bate 1 sach 1000 %45, 192 1.000,449,192
Prosmium on sharo capeal 2. 32087210 258257 595 32087210 258257.505
Treasury shares 245 - (465274 840} - (405274 .840)
Ratained sarmings
Appropeatedc - logal reserve 120,327 052 120327052 120 327 052 120327052
Approprated - Boasury share roservo - 405274 840 - 485 274 840
Unagpropnated 309 980 034 J02 483,158 064,135 003 €33 950 504
Equity attributable 1o owners of the parent 1,724 580 558 AR TAB-S[% -1 2079 045217 2022684773
Non-controling intorosts 2132500 1,116,516 - .
Totad equity 1727 022458 S467230.51) 2079045217 2022684773
Total habilities and equity 3408, 761 658 4073327.245 2820, 240210 2.860.196,550
_— e = =

The accompanying note on pages 167 to 216 are an integral part of these consolidated and separate financial statements.



RS Public Company Limited
Statement of Comprehensive Income
For the year ended 31 December 2019

Consoldiated Bnancial statements Separate fmancal statements
2019 2018 2019 2018
Notes Baht Bam Baht Bam
Revenue
Revorne from sales 2012431388 2120850415 27 870 300 8072557
Revorwo from servces 1508 699374 1697 021,878 889 175 64 551 574718
TYotal revenue and services income 3811180782 3,626 £81,000 918,845 924 850 647273
Cost of salos (680,000,091) (712.253.980) (17.604.701) 15.268.1 30}
Cost of sorvicos _1.3%.959.121) 1.493.023.063 (403173 40) (>40.061,929)
Totad cost of sales and services 2.019.982.242) (2.205277.043) (420,777 501) (554 428.004)
Groas proft 1.561.178,550 1621404 048 4595 08T 943 5219209
OPer income 2% 10,719 804 33,749 627 463,545 028 630 208,582
Profit before expenses 1,801,658 444 1655153675 953612971 #5427 ™
Sellrg cxponses (512383 644 (452 680,570 (48234 748 (190,299,228)
AL 42 ¥rvd Qrpenses (587.396,191) (601,744 480) (472 055 284) (497 512.380)
Ravorsal of alowance 1oe imparment on
NVesimants i subsaBanes and ncerued
Nitrest BCOme om subaderes . . 20582 275 %0 480 657
Orer enporaes Fdy (5,880 463) (3,973, 862) (4,778.773) (%0977 857)
Finance coss % (34 631 £859) (88 333, 565) (7,984 452) (11.231.273)
Gan trom modfication of payment term
of loanse for operation rfght in spectum
of dQtad 1elevsion 12 . A4
Profa (loss) before income tax 461 846 487 6232870,008 447,150 408 35767, 750
nconme tax X (07 451 £06) (107 832 327) (81,931 484 (T02,134)
Profn (loas) for the year 364 308 71 596,037,681 365218524 M5065616
Other comprehensive income:
Bomm that wil ot be reclassfied 1o
proi of loss
Romosturomants of post emgpioysant
beneft obigatons 23 (22120 651) . (11,042 223)
INCOMme tax On ferrs that will not be
rociassdod 4424730 . 2.208 565
Other comprehensive income
for the year, net of tax (17,698,921 - (3,834 258)
Total compeebmnaive Income for the year 348 695 570 516,037 681 356, 384 £06 35 065618

The accompanying note on pages 167 to 216 are an integral part of these consolidated and separate financial statements.



RS Public Company Limited
Statement of Comprehensive Income
For the year ended 31 December 2019

Consoldated fnancial statements Separate foancial statements
2019 2018 2019 2018
Notes Baht Baht Baht Baht
Profat (loss) attributatde to:
Owners of the parentt 0 30 .y 510,008 5% 25218924 5 065016
Non - controling inferosts 1050824 (1.849) - -
3064 394,791 $16.037.681 5210924 M4 065616
Totadl compeehensive
InCome atwibutabie to:
Owners of the paremt 56450348 516.0305% 3568 384 28 »5065618
Non « conteoling interests 1050824 (1.049) . .
ME 656870 516,037 681 358 284 256 M5 065618
Earning (loss) per share for geofit
attrctable to the
equity holders of the parest
Basic earning (10as) per share (Bale) 311 03744 0 5337 0.3763 037178
Disted earmng (ioas ) per shave (Bant) N2 0.3533 0 4924 0 %502 03458

The accompanying note on pages 167 to 216 are an integral part of these consolidated and separate financial statements.
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RS Publkec Company Limited
Statement of Cash Flows
For the year ended 31 December 2019

Cash Nows from cpersting sctiviten

Frodt (loss ] belore ecome Yax

Adpntrents
Deprecaation and amonnancn
Arcitsation S pre(and Cape o
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The accompanying note on pages 167 to 216 are an integral part of these consolidated and separate financial statements.



RS Public Company Limited
Statement of Cash Flows (Confd)
For the year ended 31 Decemaber 2019
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The accompanying note on pages 167 to 216 are an integral part of these consolidated and separate financial statements.



RS Public Company Limited
Statemmnt of Cash Flows
For the year ended 31 December 2019
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The accompanying note on pages 167 to 216 are an integral part of these consolidated and separate financial statements.
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RS Public Company Limited
Notes to the Consolidated and Separate Financlal Statements
For the year ended 31 December 2019

1 General information

RS Public Company Limited (the “Company”) is ncorporated as a imied company registered in Thadand on 17 Apal 1892 and
on 15 January 2003, the Compearty converted 1o be a public company limited and listed on the Stock Exchange of Thadand on
22 May 2003, The address of the Company’s regsterad office is as follows:

418/1 Sei Ladphao 15, Ladphao Road, Jompoen, Jatujak, Bangkok, Thailand

For reporting purposes, the Company and its subsidianes are referred 1o as the Group'.

The pncpal business operahons of the Group are Mult-platform Commerce, meda, music dstnbubon and showte.
These conscidated and separate financial statements were auhorised for issue by the board of directors on 20 February 2020,

2 Accounting policies

The pinapal accounting policies applied n the preparaion of these consolidated and separate financial statements are set
out below:

2.1 Basis of preparation

The consoldated and separale financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Thai Financial
Standards ("TFRS") and the financial reporting requirements issued under the Secuntes and Exchange Act

The consolidated and separate Snancial statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention.

Tha preparation of financial statéments n conformity with TFRS requires managemeant 10 usa cenan citcal accountng
estmates and 1o exercise its judgement in apphing the Group's accourting polcies. The areas imvolving a higher
degree of gxigement or compiexity, or areas that are more licely 1o be matenally acjusted due 10 changes in estimates and
assumpbons are disciosad in Note 4.

An English version of the consolidated and separate financial statements have been prepared from the statutory
financial statlernents that are n the Than language In the evert of a confict or a difference n inlerpretation between the

two languages, the Thai language statutory financial statements shall prevail
22  New and amended financial reporting standards that are relevant and have significant impacts to the Group

221 The Group has applied the following standard and amendments for the first time for their annual
reporting cormmencing 1 January 2019

a) Thai Financial Reporting Standard no.15 (TFRS 15), Revenue from contracts with customers

The standard prowdes pnncsple and approach of revenue recognition under fve-slep process
The underying principle s that the Group will recognisa revenue to depict the transfer of goods of
services 10 cusiomers at an amount that the entity expects to be entitied o in exchange for those
goods or services. It replaces the princples of transferning the significant nsks and rewards of
ownership of the goods or services 10 the buyer in accordance with TAS 18, Revenue and TAS 11,
Construchion contracts.

The Group has adopled the new TFRS 15, Revenue from contracts with cusiomers fom 1 January 2019
w»mm)wmmmmmwwwmm

Accounting for music copynght In the year 2018, he Group salls music copynght 10 the customer in
which the cusiomer has the right 1o use the music under the agreement time in the contract. The
group will recognise revenue from selling music copynght by using a straeght-ine method based on the
agreament penod with the customer. Under Thai Finandcial Reporting Stancards (TFRS) no. 15, the Group
has no commament afler seling music copynght 10 the customer which is right of use of the assets.
Therefoce, the revenue is fully recognised when the customer 1S authonsed 10 Use Music copynght.
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Notes to the Consolidated and Separate Financlal Statements
For the year ended 31 December 2019

The foilowing tables show the amounts of affected line items in the current year from the adoption
of TFRS 15 compared 10 the previous revenue recognition standards.

Consolidated financial statements

As at As at
31 December 1 January
2018 Adjustments 2019
Baht Baht Baht

Statement of financial posibon
Trace and other recalvables
Deferred lax assels

Tracde and other accounts payable

Retained eamings - unappropriated

553,168,390 12,184.280 565,352,679
231,600.431 (6,462,726) 225,146,705
(733.203437) 20120341  (713.074.096)
(282.483,158)  (25850804) (308,334,062)

Separate financial statements
As at

As at

31 December 1 January
2018 Adjustments 2019

Baht Baht Baht

Statement of inancial positon
Trace and other recaivables
Deferred tax assets

Trade and other accounts payable
Retained eamings - unappropriated

611,655,348 12,184,289 623,839,637
118,755,960 (4,440,792 114,306,163
(256,246.,002) 10,064 670  (246,181,332)
(633,650,934) (17,799,167)  (651,750,101)

The following lables show the amounts by each financial statements ine item in the current year
from the adopion of the new revenue standard compared 10 the previous revenue standards,

Consolidated financial statements

As at 31 201
Amounts under
the previous
Amount  Impacts from revenue
as reported TFRS 15 standards
Baht Baht Baht
Statermnent of financial position as at
31 December 2019
Trade and other accounts receivable (net) 544 834 568 (22,623,120) 522,211,448
Deferred tax asset (net) 200,796,413 8,369,602 209,166,015
Trade and other accounts payable (651,166,606) (19,224 891) (670,391,587)
Retaned eamings - unappropriated (309.980.034) 33478400 (276,501,625)
Staterment of comprehensive income
for the year ended 31 December 2019
Reverwe fom services 1598699374 (9.534.381) 1,589,164 993
Income tax credit (expense) (97 451 658) 1.906.876 (85,544 820)
Separate financial statements
As at 31 December 2019
Amounts under
the previous
Amount  Impacts from revenue
as reported TFRS 15 standards
Baht Baht Baht
Staternent of financial position as at
31 December 2019
Trade and other accourtts recenable (net) 590,003,380 (22,623,120) 567 470,260
Deferred tax asset (net) 92623154 6447113 €9,070,267
Trade and other accourts (242,054 858) (9.612.448) (251,667,302)
Retained samings - unappropriated (664,135683) 25,788,453 (638,347 240)
Statement of comprehensive income
for the year ended 31 December 2019
Reverwe fom services 889175624 (9.686.607) 879,189,017
Income tax credit (expense) (81,931 484) 1997321 (79,934,163)



RS Public Company Limited
Notes to the Consolidated and Separate Financlal Statements
For the year ended 31 December 2019

2.2.2 New and amended financial reporting standards that are effective for accounting peried beginning or after 1
January 2020

The Group is in the process of assessing the effect of new and amended financial reporting stancards that
have been issuad that are not mandatory for current penod end 31 December 2018 reporting penod and have

not been early adopted by the group

a)

b)

c)

Financial instruments

The new financial standards relate o fnancial instruments are.

TAS 32 Financial instruments: Presentation

TFRS 7 Financal Instruments. Disclosures

TFRS & Financial Instruments

TFRIC 16 Hedges of a Net Investment in a Foraign Operation
TFRIC 19 Extinguishing Financial Liabilities with Equity Instruments

These new standards address the classification, measurement, derecognition of financlal assets
and financal lebities, imparment of fnancid assels, hadge accounting, and presentaion and disdosure
of financial instruments.

TFRS 16, Leases

Where the Group is a lessee, TFRS 16, Leases will result in almost all leases being recogmised on
the balance sheet a5 the detncton between cperaling and finance leases is removed. A nght.of use
asset and a lease llabiity will be recognised, with exception on short-term and low-value leases.
Other new/amended standards

The new and amended financial reporting standards that will have significant impact on the Group are:

TAS 12 Incoma tax

TAS 19 Employee benefits

TAS 23 Borrowing cost

TAS 28 Investiments in associales and pint ventures
TFRS 3 Business combinations

TFRS 9§ Financial instruments

TFRS 11 Joint

TFRIC 23 Uncertaenty over income tax treatments

Amendment to TAS 12, Income tax - clarifed tal the income tax consequences of dvidends of financal
nsruments dassfied as equity should be recogresed according to where the past fransactons or events that
generated dsinbutable profits were recognsed

Amendment to TAS 19, Employee benefits (plan amendment, curtallment or settlement) -
clarified accounting for defined benefit plan amendments, curtailmeants and settlements that the
updated assumptions on the date of change are applied 1o determine current service cost and net
interest for the remainder of the reporting pencd after the plan amendment, curtadment or setlioment.

Amendment to TAS 23, Borrowing costs - clarflied that f a speafic borrowing remaens outstandng after the
redabed qualtying asset s ready for s intended use of sake, f becomes pan of general bomowings.

Amendment to TAS 28, investments in assoclates and joint ventures (long-term interests in assoclates
and joint ventures) - darfied the accountng for Iong-tem rtrests n an assocate or ot verire, whch s in
substance form part of the net investment in the assodiate or jont venture, but 10 which equety accountng s
not apphed. Erttes must account for such interests under TFRS §, Fnanciad nstruments bedore appiying he
losx allocation and impasrment requiraments N TAS 28, Investments n assocates and jont veniures.

Amendment to TFRS 3, Business combinations - carfiad thal oblaning control of a8 business that s
a joirl operation s a business combination achieved in stages The presiously held nterest is therefore
re-measiured
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RS Public Company Limited
Notes to the Consolidated and Separate Financlal Statements
For the year ended 31 December 2019

Amendment to TFRS 9, Financlal Instruments (prepayment features with negative
compensation) - enabing entbes 1o measure certan prepayable fnancal assets wilh negatve compensaton at
amortised cost instead of fair value through profit or loss. These assets include some loan and debt
securities. To qualfy for amortsed cost measwement, the negatve compensation must be
‘reasonable compensabion for early terminabion of the contract’ and the asset must be held withn a
‘held 1o collect’ business model

Amendment to TFRS 11, Joint arrangerments - canfed that the party obtanng jornt control of a busness.
that is a joint operation should not emeasure s previously heid interest in the joint operation.

TFRIC 23, Uncertainty over income tax treatments - explaned how 10 recognse and measure dedermed
and curent income tax assets and kabites where there 5 uncartainty over a tax treatment. In particular, t
ASCUSSes.

- That the Group should assume a tax authorty wil examine the uncertan tax treatments and have
full knowledge of all related nformation, je that detechon nsk should be gnored.

- That the Group should refiact the effect of the uncartainty in its income tax accounting when # s not
probable that (he tax suthonbes will acoept the Yeatment.

- That the judgements and estimales made must be reassessed whanever crcumstances have
changed o there 8 new rformaton that affects the Judgements,

2.3  Group Accounting - Investments in subsidiaries and associates

(b)

170

Sutsahanes

Subsdanes are all enttes over which the Group has control. The Group confrols an entity when the Group is
exposaed 10, or has rights to, variable retuens from its rvolvement with the entity and has the abidty to affect those
returns through s power over the entity. Subsidanes are consolidated from the date on which control s
transferred to the Group until the date that control ceases

Assocales

Asscciates are al entties over which the Group has signficant influence but nol control o joirt control
Investments in assocales are accounted for using the equity method of accounting

In he separate financial statemants, investments in associates are accounted for cost less impaiment.
Equity meathod
The investment is initially recognised at cost which is consideration paki and directly attributable costs,

The Group's subsequently shares of its associales and joint vertures' profits or losses and other comprehensive
ncome N the profit or loss and other comprehensive ncome. respectively. The subsequent cumulaive moverments
are adjusted against tha carrying amount of the investiment.

Whan the Group's share of iosses iIn assocates and oint ventures equals of excaeds fs interest N the assocates
and joint ventures, the Group does not recognise further losses, unless it has incurred obligations of made
payments on behalf of the associates and joint ventures,

Changes n ownership nlerests

The Group treats Yansactons with non-controling mierests hat do not result in a oss of contral as ransacions.
with equity owners of the Group. A diference between e amount of the adustiment 10 ncn-controling interests o
reflect thew relative interest in the subsidany and any consideraton pasd of received is recognsed within eguty.

If he ownershp Interest In associates and ont ventures & reduced but signficant Influence and jont control &5
retaned, only a propoonate shace of he amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive income Is
reciassfied to profit or loss where appropriate. Proft or loss from reduce of the ownershp inferest in assocses and
Joint ventures is recognise in peoft or loss.

When the Group losses control, jont control or signficant influence over investments, any retaned nierest n
the investment s remeasured to its fair value, with the change in camrying amount recognised in profit or
loss. The far value becomnes the inltial catrying amount of the relained inerest which is reclassified to
mvestment in an assocate, or a joint venture or a financial asset accordingty
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25

26
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o) Intercompany ransacthons on consokdabon

Intra-group transactions, balances and unrealised gains on transactions are eliminated Urrealised gains on
transactons between the Group and its associates and joint ventres ame elminated 1o he extent of the Group's
mierest in the associates and jont ventures. Unrealsed losses are also elminated n the same manner unless
the ransaction provides evidence of an impairment of the asset transfermed

Foreign currency transiation
(a) Functional and presentabion currency

The financial statements are presanted in Tha: Baht, which is the Company’s and the Group's functional
and presantation currency.

(b) Transacbons and balances

Forexgn currency ransachons are trarsiated into the funchonal curency using the exchange rates prevaling
at the dates of the vransactions. Forexgn exchange gains and losses resulting from the setfiemant of such
transactions and from the translabon at year-end exchange rates of monetary assets and kabiities
denominated in foreign currencies are recognised n the peofit or loss.

Vihen a gan or I08S an & nonmonetary fem S recognised in oher comprehensive noame, any exchiange component
of that gain or koss & recognsed in other comprehensive income. Canversely, when a gan oc loss on a non-
monetary tem is recogrised in profit and loss, any exchange compaonent of that gain of loss s recogresed in profit
and loss,

Cash and cash equivalents

In he statements of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents iIncludes cash on hand, deposts held at call with banks, other
short-dem highly bquid iInvestments with ongnal maturtes of Tree months o less and bank overdrafts.

In he statements of Snancal poston, bank overdrans ame shown within bomowings In curent kabites.
Trade accounts receivable
Trade receivables are amourts due fom customens for goods sold or senvice performed n the ordinary course of business.

Trade receivables are recognesed infally al he amount of consideraion that is unconditionally unless they contan sgnilcant
ﬁmmmmnwusmm The Group presented trade receivables at cost less
alliowance for doubtiul accounts

Inventories

Irverdones are presented in the stalement of Snancal postion @t the lower of Gt or net resisable value Cost &
dotermined on the firstin, frst-out method  The cost of purchase compnses both the purchase price and costs dreclly
attrbutable 1o the acqustion of the nventory, such as import dubes and ransportation charge, less all attributable
dscourts. The cost of finished goods and work n prooess | drarma and others comprse drect producion aosl, making a8
fim and other production cost. Net realisable value is the estimate of the seling price in the ordinary course of business,
less the cost of completion and seling expense. Allowance s made, where necessary, for obsolele, slow-moving and
defectve nvertones.

Plant and equipment

Plant and equipment are stated at histoncal cost less accumuiated depreciaticn and alowancs for mpalment of assets.
Inlial cost included other direct cost related 10 assels acquistion.

Subsequent costs are Induded In the assel’s camying amount of recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate, only
when # is probable that future economic benefits assocated with the tem will flow 1o the Group and the cost of the item
can be measiured relably. The camying amount of the replaced part ts derecognesed. All other repasrs and manienance
are charged 10 profit of 1oss during the financial pencad in which they are incurred.
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29

210

Deprociaton s calculated using he straight-ine method to write off the cost of each asset, to helr residual vaiue over the
eshmate usefud ves as follows:

Buidngs 20 years
Bulangs improvements 8 years 7 months
Machinenes and equipment 5+ 10 years
Fumiture, fodures and office equipment 510 years
Motor vehides 5 years

The assets’ resiiual values and useful Ives are reviewed, and acdusted if appropriate, at the end of each reparting pericd.

Where the carrying amount of an asset = grealer than s estimated recoverable amount, £ is wiitten down immediately to
its recoverabie amount.

Gans and losses on dsposal of plant and equipment are caloulated by comparning net proceeds from dsposal of assets
with assets’ camying amount and ane taken Mo other INComa and other expenses.

License for operation right in spectrum of digital television

The digital television Soence consists of expenditure that are drectly atiributablle 1o the acquisbon of the commercial digtal
tormesirial tolevision Icerse at nationad leved for a generad channel category, is measured af cash prioe equivalent
nstaiments discounted 1o present value using a discount rate, quoted by bank, for this particular purpose less
accumulated amaortisation and impairment losses, The dfference between the cash price equivalent and the total
payments 1o be made is recognsed as a fnancial cost over the lcense fee payment penods, amonised from the date
that 1 s ready 10 provide senvice. Amonmisation of digtal teevision loense i based on a straightdne basic over the
estimated useful lives of 15 years,

Intangible assets

Proguction cost of drama and showbz

Production cost of drama and showb are camied at cost less acoumulated amortisation and allowance imparment losses (f
any).

Produchon cost of drama was amortised based on actual on-air times
Copynight of others

Copynight of others are carned at cost less accumuiated amortsation and iImparment losses (if any). The Group
amortised copyright base on siraight iine method over the term of relevant agreements,

Copyright of musical masier tape
Copynight of musical master tape have indefinge useful lves. The Group does not amortsed them but tests for any
impairment

Comouter softwace

Costs assocaled with maintaning compuler software programmes are recognised as an expense as incurmed,
Development costs that are directly atinbutabie 10 the design and testing of dendfiable and unique software products
controlied by the Group is recognised as intangible assets when the following critena are met:

# is technically feasible 1o complete the software product so that it will be available for use or sell &,
management inlends to complete the software product and use or sell it;

there is an abiity 1o use or sell the software product,

# can be demonstrated how the software product wil generate peobable future economic banefits;

adequane technical, fnancial and ofher resources 10 complete the development and 10 use or sel the software product
are avaiable, and

o the expenditure atfributable to the software product during its development can be reliably measured.

Drectly atiributable costs that are capitaksed as part of the software product nclude the software development enmployee
costs and an appropriate portion of relevant overheads,

Other develcpment expandiires that do not meet these ciena are recogrsed as an epense as incumed. Development
costs previously recognsed as an exponse are not recognised as an ntangblo asset in 2 subsequent penod

Computer software development costs recognisad as intangible assets are amortisad usng the straight-line method
over ther estimated useful lives, which does not exceed 10 years
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impairment of assets

Aszets that have an indefinte useful lfe, for example goodwil, are not subject 1o amortisation and are tested annually
for impaiment. Assets that are subject 1o amortisation are reviewed for impaimment whenever events or changes in
crcumstances indicate that the carmying amount may not be recoverable. An impairment 1oss s recogrised for the
amount by which the camying amount of the assets exceeds its recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the
higher of an asset's fair value less costs to sed and value In use. For the purposes of assessing imparment. assets are
grouped at the lowest level for which there are separately dentifiable cash flows. Non-financal assets other than
goodwill that sufered an impaimment are reviewed for possible reversal of the impairment at each reporting date.

Leases - where a Group company is the leasee

Einance leases

The Group leases certain plants and equipment. Leases of plants or equipment where the Group has substantially ol
the risks and rewards of ownership are classfied as finance leases. Finance leases are capitalisad at the inception of
he lease at he lower of the far value of the leased property and the present value of the mnimum lease payments
Each lease payment s aliocated between the fabity and fnance charges 5o as 10 achieve a constant rale on the
finance balance oulstanding. The coresponding rental obligations, net of finance charges, are ncudad in other long-
term payables. The intesest cdement of the finance cost is charged 1o profit or loss over the lease period. The plants or
equipment acquired under finance leases s dapreciated over the shorter pencd of the useful ife of the asset and
the lease term,

Operating leases

Leases in which a signécant poron of the rnisks and rewards of ownershep are retaned by the lessor are classified
as operating leasas. Payments made under operaling laases (net of any incantives received rom the lessor) are
charged to profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the period of the lease.

Borrowings

Bomowings are recognised inilially at the proceeds recenved (net of transaction costs incurred)  In subsequent
periods, bomawings are stated at amortised cost using the effective yield method. Any difference between
proceeds (net transaction costs) and the redempiion value is recognised in the statement of comprehensive
income over the penod of the borrowings.

Fees paid on the establishment of loan facities are recognised as transaction costs of the koan o the extent that
it 5 probable that some of all of the faclty will be drasam down.  In thes case, the fee s delered untl
the draw-down occurs, To the extent that there is no evidence that 2 is probable that some or all of the facilty
will be drawn down, the fee is capitalised as @ pre-payment for iquidity senvices and amortsed over the period of
he faciity 10 which it refates.

Bomowings are classified as current kabilities unless the Group has an uncondmonal right 1o defer settiement of
the Labiity for at least 12 months after the end of reporting date

Current and deferred income taxes

The tax expense for the penod comprises current and deferred tax. Tax is recognised in profit or loss, except to
Me extent that i relates to Nems recognised in other comprehensive ncome or directly in eguity. In this case the
tax is also recogrised in other comprehensive mcome or directly in equity, respectively.

The current income tax charge 1S calculaled on the basis of the tax laws enacted or substantively enacted at the
end of reporting periad in the countries where the company’s subsidanes and associates operate and generate
taxable mcome. Management panodically avaluates posibons taken In 1ax retums with respect to situabons in
which apphicable tax regulabion is subject 1o interpretation. It establishes provisicns where appropriate on the
basis of amounts expecied to be pakd o the tax authorbes

Deferred tax is recognised, using the liabiity method, on temporary dfferences ansing from differences between
the tax base of assets and kabdihes and thes camrying amounts in the financial stalements. However, the deferred
tax is not accounted for If it arnses from indial recognition of an asset or liabilty in a ransaction other than a
business combination that at the time of the transaction affects neither accounting nor taxable profit or loss.
Deferred tax is determined using tax rates (and laws) that have been enacted or substantially enacted by the end
of the reporting penod and are expected 10 apply when the related deferred tax assel is realsed or the deferred
tax liabilty is settied.
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Deferred tax assets are recognised only o the extent that it is probable that future taxable profit will be avadable
aganst which the temporary dfferences can be ubksed Deferred tax is provded on temporary diferonces ansing
from investments in subsidianes and associates, except where the timing of the reversal of the temporary difference is
controlled by the Group and R i probable that the temporary dference will not reverse in the foreseeable future,

Deferred tax assets and liabiities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to offset cument tax assets
against current tax labdities and when the deferred tax assets and liabitties relate to income taxes jevied by the
same taxabon authorty on edher the same taxable entity or different taxable entibes where there s an intention
to selfie the balances on a net basis.

Employce benefit obligations

Tha Geoup companies operate vanous retrement benefts schemes. The Group has both defined benefit and defined
contribution plans.

A defined contribubon plan s a retirement plan under which he Group pays fed conibutions nlo a separate entty. The
Group has no legal or constructive obiigations 1o pay further contributions if the fund does not hold sufficient assets 1o pay
al empioyees e benefits relating %o employee senvice in the current and prior periads. The Group pays contributions 10 a
separate fund which is managad by an exiemal fund manager n accardance with he provident fund Act. B E. 2530, The
Group has no further payment obiigations once the contributions have been paxd  The contributions are recognised as
empioyes benefit expanse when they are due. Prepaid contnbutions are recognsed as an asset 10 the extent that a cash
refund of 8 reduction n he fulure payments s avalabie.

A defined beneft plan 5 a reirement plan that 5 not a defined contrbution plan. Typicalty defined benefit plans define an
amount of retirement benedt that an empioyes will receive on retrement, usually dapendant on one of more fackors such
as age, yeors of service and componsation.

The kabity recognesad in the statament of fnancal positon In respact of defined beneft retremant plans s the present
value of the defined benefit cbigation at the end of the reportng pericd less the fair value of plan assets. The defined
benefit cbigaton s calcutaled annually by ndependent actuanes using the prowecind unt credit method. The present value
of the defined benefit abiigation i determined by discounting the esimated future cash outflows Lsing market yisld of high-
qualty governmaent bonds that are denominated in the cumency n which the benefits wil be paid, and that have terms 1o
maturlly sppraximating 10 the jerms of the related retrement labiy.

Actuanal gans and losses ansing fom revaluation of expanence adustmants are charged o credited 1o aquty In other
comprebensive ncome in the penod in which they arnse

Past-servce costs ane recognised immadately i proft of loss.
Financial assets and financial liabilities

Financial assets camad on the statement of financial postion include cash and cash equivaients, rade and other accounts
receivable, shortterm bomowing 10 a subsidiary, other current assels and other noncumrent assets. Financial labiSes
carriod on the statement of Snancial position Indiude short-term bomowings from fnancal instiutons, Yade and other
accounts payable, short-teem bomowings fom relsted companes, ofher cument kabdtees, kabiity under finance kease
agreoments, payable for cost of iconse for operation right in spectrum of digtal telavision and empioyee benefit cbilgations
The partcudar recognition methods adopled are deciosed in the individual accounting policy stalements assocated with
each fem

Tha Company erers into forward forsign curency exchange contracts 1o protect e Compary fom movemants in
exchange rates by establishing the rate at which a foregn cumency kabilty Wil be setied. The forward foreign currency
exchange contracts ar not recognisad In the financial statements on Ncapbon but cnly when they are settied accordng
10 he contract 1ems.

Provisions - general

Provisions are recognised when e Group has 2 present legal or constructve obligation as a result of past events, t s
probadie that an outiow of resources wil be required 10 seile the cbilgaton: and the amount has bean rellably estimated.

Provisions are measured at the present value of the expenditures expecied to be required 10 settie the cbligation The
NCrease N the provision due 1o passage of e s recogrsed as iIntirest expense
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Share capital

Ordinary shares and non-redeemable preference shares with (If any) dscretionary dvidends are classified as
equity Other shares including mandatory redeemable preference shares are classdied as kabilties

Incremental costs directly attributable 10 the issue of new shares or cptions are shown in equily as a deducton,
net of lax, from the proceeds,

Where any companses within the Group purchases the Company’s equity share captal (reasary shares), the consaderation
pad, inchuding any directy atrbutable incremental costs (net of income taves) is deducted from equity atinbutable to the
Company’ s equity holders untd the shares are cancelied of resssued. Where such shares are subsequently reissued, any
consdernation received, net of any drectly atrbutable incemental transact costs and the related income tax effects, &
Included in equity atributabie to the Company’s equity holders.

Revenue recognition

Reverwe comprises he fair value of tha consderaion recenved of recelvable for the sale of goods and senvice n the
ordinary course of the Group's activites. Revenue i shown net of value-added tax, retumns, rebates and discounts, and
after elminating sales within the Group for e consalidated financal statements,

2.19 1 Revenue from sales of goods

Révenue from sales of goods & recognised when significant rsks and rewards of ownership of the goods are
transderred to the buyer.

2.19.2 Ravenue from rendering of services

a) Revenue fom saies of acvertsing and promotion s recognad when ha senvics has been providad on TV and rado
b) Reverue fom event is recognised when e senice has been provided.

¢) Revenue fom production activity is recognsed based on the propartion of completed sesvice,

) Television staton sublease income is recognised over the pernod of the sublease.

¢) Revenue fom concert i recognised when the concert has been exhibiled.

f) Revenue from artist s recognsed when he seqnce has been peovided

g) Revenue from digital downloads ane recognised onca it has been downloaded.

h) Management income is recognised when service has been provided,

2,193 Revenue from copynght

8) Revenue from music copynight is recognised when the cusiomers recesve the nght 10 use the bicanse
b) Revenue from film copynght i recognised when the cuslomers receive the right 1o use the license,

2.19.4 Ravenue from interes! income

Interest Income is recognised on a time proportion basis, taking account of the principal cutstanding and the effectve
rate over he pencd to maturly, when £ is determined that such iIncome will acarue 10 the Group.

2.19.5 Dwvdend mcome
Deadend income is recognised when the right 1o receive payment is established
Finance costs

Finance costs comprnse nterest expense and fee from short-term borowings from a financial mstitutions and
related companes and interest expense from habilibes under finance lease contracts.

Dividends

Dividends and intenim dividends are recorded in the consolidated and company’s financial statements in the period
in which they are approved by the sharehokiers and board of direciors, respectivedy.

Segment reporting
mehammmunwnmmmbmmm

Operaing
decsonamaker. The chied operaing decision-maker, who & responsibie for aliocatng resounces and assessing performance
of the oparatng segments, has been dentifiad as the Board of Directors that makes strategic decsions
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Financial risk factors

317 Foregn exchange nisk

The principal Snance risk faced by the Group are exchange rale risk as certain transactions are entered nfo in
foresgn currencies.  Foreign exchange forward contracts are taken out 1o protect the currency nsk n future
purchase.

However, as al 31 December 2019 and 2018, there are no outstanding foregn exchange forwand contract.

3.1.2 Interest rate risk

The inferest rate risk s the risk that future movements in market inderest rales wil affect the results of the
Company's operations and s cash fows. The Group's exposure 10 interest rate nsi relates pimanly 1 #s deposits
with financial instiutons and borowings. The Group realsed that the risk of fluctuation in the nlerest rate risk did
not affect significantly to the Group's cash flows. However, the managemaent believe that the effect of interost
rate fluctuation will not affect materialy 1o the Group.

3.1.3 Credit risk

The Group has no significant concentratons of areddt risk. The Group has polices in place 10 ensure that sales
of products and senvices are made 10 customers with an approprate credt history, Dervative counterparties and
cash transactions are imited 10 high credit quaity financial nsttutions.

3.14 Uqguiaty nsk

Prudent iquidty nsk management implies mantainng sufoent cash, the avaslabity of funding through an adequate
amount of commitied crecit facknes and the abity 1o close out market positions. Due to the gynamic nature of
the underying business, the Group Treasury ams al maintanng fexiiity in funding by keeping committed
crect nes availabie

Fair value estimation

The diffarent levels of fair value defined by valuation method are as follows!

Level 1. Quobted prices (unadiusted) in active markets for identical assets or kabiities,

Level2: Inputs other tan quoted prices nduded wthin level 1 that are observable for the asset or labity,
efther Grectly (that s, as market pnces) of ndeectly (that s, derved from market prices)

Level 3°  Inputs for the asset or abity that are not based on cbservable market data (hat &, unobsenable nputs)

The fair value of long-term borrowings from fnancial institutions are presented in Note 22,



RS Public Company Limited
Notes to the Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 December 2019

“ Critical accounting estimates, asasumptions and judgements

Estmates, assumptions and judgements are continually evaluated and are based on historical expenance and other factors,
including expectations of fulure events that are bebeved (o be reasonable under the circumsiances.

The Group makes estimates and assumplions conceming the fture. The resulting accounting estimates will selcom equal the
relaled actual results. The estimales and assumpbons that have a significant rsk of causing @ malerial adjustment 1o the
carmying amounts of assets and liabikties within the next financial year are cutlined below.

(8) Deferred tax

Defared tax assets come from the estimation of some temporary dfference effects which s probable 1o utise tax

past tax losses and assessad the estimation on a conservative basis.

(b) Employee benefit cbiigabons

The present value of the employee benefit cbilgations depends on a number of factors that are determined on an
actuarial basis using a number of assumptions. The assumptions used in determining the net cost (income) for
empioyee benelits inciude the dscount rate. Ay changes In these assumpbons will have an impact on the camying
amourt of employee benest oblgations.
The Group determines the appropnate dscount rate at the end of each year This s the interest rate that should be
used fo determine the presant vaiue of estimated future cash outiows expected 1o be required 1o sattie the employee
benefit obigations. In determining the appropriate dscount rate, the Group considers the market yield of
bonds hat are denominaled in the curency in which the benefits will be paid, and that have terms to maturity
approxmating the terms of the related employee benefit kabiity
Other key assumplions for employee benefit cbigations are based in part on cument market condtions. Asdonal
information is disclosed in Note 23

(c) License cperation nght in spectrum of digital television and intangible assets

The inftial recognised and measure of koense operation nght in spectrum of digital television and intangible assaets and
subsequent impairment testing. require management 1 make estimates of cash flows 10 ba generated by the asset or
the cash generating units and 1o choose & sutable discount rate in order 1 cculate the presant value of those cash

flows.
The Group's chjectves when managing capilal are 1o safeguand the Group's abilty 1o continue as 8 gong concem in order 1o
provide retums for sharcholders and bonesits for other stakeholders and to mantain an optimal capéal structure 10 reduce the

cost of capital.

In order fo maintan or adpust the capital structure, the Group may adpst the amount of deidends paid to shareholders, retum
captal to shareholders, issue new shares of sell assets to reduca debt.

6 Cash and cash aquivalents

Consolidated Separate financial
financial statements statements
2019 2018 2019 2018
Baht Baht Baht Baht_
Cash on hand 2421389 3585202 727 466 1,085,110
Cash ot banks - savings accounts 328,017,052 337,275,597 104,805,509 167,876,740
-« current accounts (3,042.487) {1,203.840) (1,247.575) (459,889)
- 3.month fixed deposits
accounts 13,159 12,998 - -

328400003 330630057 104285400 168,511,981

As &t 31 Decernber 2019, savings acoounts carry inlerest at the rates of 0.10% - 0.50% per annum (2018 : 0.10% - 0.50% per
annum)

As at 31 December 2019, fixed deposits accounts (3-month) carry interest at the rates of 0.75% per annum (2018 : 1.00%
per annum)
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7 Trade and other acoounts receivable (net)

- related companies

Less Allowance for doubthul accounts
« Trade accounts receivable

- related companies
- Other accounts receivables

« Accrued income - others
- Accrued inferest income
- related companes

Consolidated Separate financial
financial statements statements
2019 2018 2019 2018
Note Baht Baht Baht Baht
415883888 504972145 152,662,088 163,707,932
32b) - - 343405207 431,165,260
881,082 1,729,306 774 902 526,838
22,263,120 12,184 230 22,623,120 12,184,260
71,964 583 35,014 858 55,989.051 5,244 233
32b) . . 1,081,772 4 642,970
10,120,619 2,738 045 373,838 732013
azb) . . . 302,974
32b) 2,489 834 2,489 834 6,957,047 10,280,552
31,628,222 45,843 420 11,108.291 26.580.710
555571727 BO4 072857 5040955136 655357760
(7,163 543) (42,383287) (1,203,140)  (35,383.437)
. . - (526,767)
- (1,469 898) - (414,500)
(1,078,732) (5,461,398) (1,078,732) (3,879.474)

32b)___ (2489884)  (2480884)  (2489.884)  (3,528243)
~(10737,156) _ (51,804,467) _ (4,861,75€) _ (43,712421)

Trade accounts recelvadle classified by aging are as follows:

544 834 568 553,168 390 600,093,380 611 655 348
Consolidated Separate financial
financial statements statements
2019 2018 2019 2018
Baht Baht Baht Baht
249961575 324 274299 84714654 71445165
151522 542 131994710 66615341 52528032
7,117 968 3,108,366 1.250 2,011,600
- €80.399 - 7,500
7.261.783 44 934371 1.330.843 37.715.605
415863968 504,972,145 1526620688 163,707 932
(7,188 543) {42,483 287) (1,293,140) (35,383 437)
408 695 325 462 588 858 151,368 948 128 344 465
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Trade accounts receivable classified by aging are as follows:

Consolidated Separate financial
financial statements statements
2019 2018 2019 2018
Baht Baht Baht Baht
Related companies
Current - - 121615568 163,094 568
Overdue
Less than 3 months . - 66,564 603 75014947
3 -6 months - - 50323224 126,369,777
6 - 12 months . . 95901632 66685970
QOver 12 months - - - -

- 343,405.027 431165260
Less Allowance for doubtful accounts - - - (526,767)

. . 343405027 430836493

The Group's credn term for trade accounts recesvable-not yet due is 7 %o 90 days.

Consolidated Separate financial
financial statements statements
2019 2018 2019 2018
Baht Baht Baht Baht
Finished goods: Music and COs,
Consumer products 282640829 275,724 439 . 2846773
Souvenss 330.106 330,108 330.106 300,108
Total finished goods 283570527 276,654 137 920 698 3776471
Wk in process:
TV Program 2,687 300 127,384 - 91,606
Concan and othars 4,307 849 - 4011872 -
Music and suppon 19,500 5657218 19,500 103 338
Total work in process 7.014 849 § 784 602 4031372 185 002
Satellite telavision receivers 119,597 119,697 - -
Advance payment for inventones - 27 428 542 - 8,798 967
Others 1639715 2 350 775 - -
Total 202,344 488 312237753 4961070 12,770,460
Less Allowance for cbsolete invenlones (33,549.070) (27 552 085) (813.918) (813.918)
Inventories (net) 258,795418 284,785,668 4147152 11,956 542

The cost of invertones recognsed as expense and induded n cost of sales in the consobdated and company fnancal stalements.
amouniod 1o Baht 704 404 668 and Baht 18,440,200 (2018 - Baht 713 479 826 and Baht 5§ 484 626) respectively

The Company reversed allowance for cbsolete inventory which was recognised in the consoidated financal statements of

The amount recorded and reversed has been included in cost of salles in the statement of compeehensive income.
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Consolidated Separate financial
financial statements statements

2019 2018 2019 2018
Baht Baht Baht Baht
Refundable deposits 4.188.200 1245200 1,485,200 15,200
Guarantees - 2920572 - 9345
Others 407 644 801919 352,644 544 047
4593 844 4973691 1,817 844 568,502
Less Allowance for imparment - (40.,000) - (40,000)
Cther current assets (not) 4593 844 4 933 691 1,817 844 528,562

10 Investments in subsidiaries (net)

Investiments in subsianes which recorded by the cost method as at 31 December 2019 and 2018, consisted of.

Percentage of
shareholding
2019 2018
Company name Nature of business Registered in % %
subsidiaries
RS Television Co,, Ld. Digital TV business Thaitand 100 100
Lifestar Co,, Lid. Commerce Thatand 100 100
Thai Copyright Collection Co., Lid. collection Thaiard 100 100
RS Mal Co, Lad Satellite TV business, Media and Thatand 100 100
(Formaly: Bunioeng Vanety Co. Lid) TV program
Coolsm Co., L. Radwo business Thadand 100 100
Yaak Co , Lid. TV program Thattand 100 100
R Alance Co., Ltd Event ceganizer Thaiand 100 100
Non-operating subsidlaries
Goodife Group Co., Lid. Event Thaidand 100 100
RS Sportmaster Co, Lid. Production TV Program and event Thaand . 76
RS Intermational and
Sports Management Co., Lid. Event and sport activity organizes Thaianrd 83 83
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The afcremenboned susidanes have been reparted as part of e group's consolidated financial statements. The voting nght
of the parent company in the subsickanes does not differ from its shareholding and parent company does not own any
preferred shares of the aforemention subsidiaries.

= The non-controling interest of the RS Intematonal Broadcasting are subsdianes company and not material, so the
Company therefore did not disclose the financial information of these subsidianes.

S-One Sport Co., Lid. is subsidiary which was under the bankruplcy process and the absolute recervership. Therefore,
the financial information of it was excluded from the consolidated financial information,

Movement of investment in subsidiaries for the year ended 31 December 2018 and 2018 are as follows.

- On 29 November 2017, the extraordinary meeting of Biufary Co., Lid., Very Well Co,, Lid., Alacdin House Co., Lid.
approved o dissolution since 30 November 2017, The companies requested for the dissolution with the Ministry
of Commerce on 30 November 2017. Aflerwards, on 19 September 2018, RS In-Store Media Co., Ltd. and On
28 September 2018 Blufary Co., Lid., Viery Well Co., Lid. and Aladdin House Co., Lid. was registered for he dissolution
with the Ministry of Commerce, So, four subsidanes wil not induded in the Consolidated fimancial statement as ot
31 December 2018 since the date dssolution. At present, these 4 subsidianes has been compietely hquidated.

The movement of investment in iquidated subsidianes and gan (loss) from liquidated subsdanes are summansed as folows:

Falr value
Carrying Reverse of Carrying received  Gain (loss)
value allowance for value at

31 December  impairments dissolution subsidiaries liquidated

20018 in date liquidation) susbidiary

Banht Baht Baht Bant Banht
RS In-Store Meda Co., Lid. 7,502,526 11,996,774 19,499,300 7,544 052 (11,955 233)

Blufairy Co., Ltd. 4,009,093 . 4,000,993 4,975 590 965 597

Very Well Co Ld 3,959,300 - 3,989,300 4265414 266,114

Aladan House Co., Lid. 4,999,300 - 4,909,300 5270484 271,184
20511119 11,996,774 32507893 22055550 (10.452343)

- Atthe extraccainary Meetng of Coolsm company imited ., a subsidiary, on 27 June 2019, the sharehoidars approved
10 decrease share capital in the amount of Baht 18,750,000 from Bamt 25,000,000 to Baht 6,250,000 by reduce
187 500 ordinary shares amount of Baht 100 per shares. The subsidiary company registered the reduce of capital
with the Ministry of commerce on 30 August 2019, which caused the investment in the subsiiiary 1o reduce by Baht
3,900,000

- Althe extraordinary Meeting of RS Sport master company Limited 12 September 2019, the sharehciders approved to

dissolution since 18 September 2019, The company request for the dssolution with the Ministry of Commers on 16
September 2019,

11 Investment in an assoclated compary (net)

Consolidated financial statements

Baht Pe
Issued and pdd-(p share capital Pm of
Nature of 2018 2018
Name business Bahl Baht Baht Baht
Idea Power Co , Lid, Organizer 20,000,000 20,000 000 2500 2500
Consolidated financial statements
Investments at equity method Investments at cost method
2019 2018 2019 2018
Baht Baht Baht Baht
Irvestment in kdea Power Co, Lid. 3,692 546 3,691,133 68,303 621 6,303 621
Less Aliowance for impairment - - (2.311.075) (2.312.489)

Total investment in an associated compary (net) 3.692.546 3.091.133 3.992546 3991133




RS Public Company Limited
Notes to the Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 December 2019

The net movement of investment in assodiated company for the years ended 31 December 2019 and 2018 comgrise:

Consolidated
financial statements

2019 2018

Baht Baht
Opening net book amount 3601133 3988 965
Share of ioss for the year 3213 3939
Over (under) share of loss for the prior year (1.800) (1,801)
Closing net book amount 3592546 3991,133

ProporSonate net worth for the year ended 31 December 2019 and 2018, is calculated on financial statements which was
prepares by management of subsiciary and had not been audied by audtor.  However, the Company's management boleves
that he value of proporionate net worth would net significanty differ If the financial statement is audited or réviewed by auditors.
Summary of financial information of associated company

Financal information of Idea Power Co., Lid. which are accounted for using the equity method

Summary statement of financial position .
idea Power Co., Lid.
As at 31 December
2019 2018
Baht Baht
Currert assets 15,819,800 15,795,803
Non-current assets 162,505 172,566
15,982,305 15,968 489
Current liabiitias 12,213 3,839
12,213 3,939
Net assals 15.970,182 15,964 530
Summary statement of comprehensive income
Idea Power Co., Ltd.
For the years ended
31 December
2019 2018
Baht Baht
Revenue 36269 32N
Expense {20203) (16,578)
Profit before income tax 16.066 19,663
Income tax expense (3.213) (3.929)
Net peoft 12.853 15,754

Equity method based on percentage of shareholding 3213 39839
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RS Public Company Limited
Notes to the Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 December 2019

Leased assets inciuded above, where the Company and the subsidianes are the lesses under the financial kease agreement

comprise vehickes as follows:
Consolidated Separate
financial statements financial statements
2019 2018 2019 2018
Baht Bant Baht Baht
Cost of the assets under
the financial lease agreements 57117010 63,181,399 57,117,010 53,181,399
Less Accumulated depreciation (27.753.052) (19.230,314) (27.753.052) (19.230,314)
Net book amount 20363958 33,051,085 20363958 33,051,085

13 License for operation right in spectrum of digital television (net)

Maovement of license for operabion right in spectrum of digital television during the years ended 31 December 2019 and
2018 are summarnsed below.

Consolidated
financial statements
2019 2018
Bant Baht_
Cash equivalent value (present value) 1,394,710008  2,030,326.376
Less Accumutated amortisation (723,9681,393) (834588 004)

CT0.748615 1395738282

On 11 Apnd 2019, the NCPO Order no. 42019 on the Scluson for Television and Telecommunicaton Industries was
announced n the Royal Thai Government Gazetie. The Order will come into effect on the date it's announced. According
1o the Order, Office of the NBTC must forego the T00MMz in the range of 694MHz - TSOMHZ kcense for digital terrestrial
television kcansees, and realiocate the specirum K telecommunications purposes. Also, the NBTC needs 1o provide a
compansation scheme or remuneration for those cancelled hoansees which nvolves the following actons:

(1)  Wawve the last instaiment of the spectrum license fee the [ast two instaiments for an amount exceedng the minmum
bd prce or the starting bid price, The cancelled hcensees also need %o pay for the spectrum kcense fee before the last
exception payment by 8 August 2019

(2) The NBTC will provide compensation o digtal termestrial televison network bconsees 10 cover their expenses for
leasing the terestrial television spectrum (MUX) over ther remaining lcense terms and will come ino effect after
™e term of the NCPO Order No, /2018 regarding the compensation scheme for diglal terrestrial television network
hconsees expres  The compensation is based on the actual amounts incurred, and is agreed by both parties The
compensation amount must not exceed the rate set by Office of the NBTC.
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RS Public Company Limited
Notes to the Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 December 2019

Maovement of obligation for the icense for operation right in spectrum of digtal television as follows.

Consoldated Financial statements
" 2019 k3 et 8 e
igation finance Net book finance Net book
10 pay _charges anourd to pay charges amourt
Opening amount 1005048750 (174419045 SNR0M5  967.232.500 (H2006.545) 304535965
Addtion (Decrease)
from extend he payment
term of licanse - - - 2404125 (118858073) (W51480)
Addtion [Decrease)
Waire the last two
irstatements of kcense (T97548750) 161502382  (635.616.388) - . -
(Repayments yAmortsation __ (207 500.000) 12487563  [165.012.437) (8.225,000) 36 22 873 30,707 673
Closing amount . - - 1005043750 (174.410.045) 830,628,805

During the year 2018, the resull of modificaton of payment lem of icense for operation nght in spectrum of dgital television
accordng o NCPO No. 2861 15 recognised as gan amountng 1o Baint 94 61 milion in statement of comprehensave income.

Accordng o NCOP No, 472562, the result of waive instaiments of lcence labiities in April 2019, the subsidiary adiusted the book
value of koonse by decreasng the camying value of icense assets aganst the camying value of the kconse kabites by Baht 635 62
ralhon

As @t 31 December 2019 and 2018, the subsidary has obligation to pay the license for operaion nght n spectrum of digital
tedevision as follows.

Consolidated
Financlal statements
2019 2018
Bamt Bam
License of operabon right m spectrum of digital television . 1,005.048.750
Less Future finance charges - (174.419.945)
- 830,628,805
Less Current portion - (4 072 382)
- B26 556,413

As at 31 December 2019 and 2018, the payments 10 be made in subsequent years are as follows.

Consolidated
Financial statements
2019 2018
Due within Baht Baht
1 year - 6941516
2-Syears - 98 107 234

- 1,005 048,750
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RS Public Company Limited
Notes to the Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 December 2019

Consolidated Separate
financial statements financial statements
2019 2018 2019 2018
Baht Baht Baht Baht
Prepaki corporate ncome tax 11,492 366 - - -
Withholding tax 154,130,340 180,320,232 50,836,570 115677411
Less Allowance for doubtful in . - - -
recoverable of withholding tax (7,176) (230.325) - -

165,615,539 180,089 907 50,838,570 115677 411

During the year, the Group receive withholdng tax in the consolidated financal staterments of Baht 56,5080 674 and in separate
financial statements of Baht 55,788 282 (2018 : receive withhoiding tax in consolidated Snancial statement Baht 31.802,191) The
Group recorded alowance for doubthd in recoverable of withihokling tax which was recognisad in the conscldated Snancal
staternents of Bait 5,780 and write off withhalding tax for the year 2012 1o 2016 in the consoldated financial statements of Baht
500,107 and in separate fnancial statements of Baht 311297 (2018 : The Group recorded allowance for doubthul in
recoverable of withholding tax which was recognsed n the consolidated financial siatements of Baht 281,362 and write off
withhaldng tax for the year 2007 to 2016 n the consolidated fnancial statements of Baht §27 858 and in separate fnancial
statements of Baht 1,094, respectively). And reversed of allowance for doubtful in recoveradie of withholding tax In the
corsobdate fnancial statement of Bahl 228,629 (2018 . reversed of allowance for doubtiul n recoverable of withholdng tax n
tha consoldate financial statemaent of Baht 873 052)

The analys:s of defarrad tax assets and liabites (net) as at 31 December 2010 and 2018 are as follows:

Consolidated Separate
financial statements financial statements
2018 2018 2019 2018
Baht Baht Baht Baht
Deferred tax assets:
Deferred tax assets 10 be recovered
within 12 months 72,343,978 95,264 872 5,077 337 30855919
Deferred tax assets (o be recovered
after more than 12 months 130 606 481 137 867 262 80 699 863 80 422 844
202,850 450 233,132 234 94,777 200 120,278 763
Deferred tax liabilities:
Deferred tax habdilies 10 be settled
within 12 months (973,988) (71,365) (973,988) (71,365)
Deferred tax Kabdities (0 be settied
after more than 12 months {1,180 058) (1,451 438) (1,180,058) (1451 438)
{2,154 046) (1,522 803) (2,154.046) (1,522 803)

Deferred tax assets (net) 200796413 231600431 92623154 118.755060




RS Public Company Limited
Notes to the Consoclidated and Separate Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 December 2019

The movement of deferred taxes for the years ended 31 December 2019 and 2018 comprises the following:

Consolidated Separate
financial statements financial statements
2019 2018 2019 2018
Baht Baht Baht Baht
Opening balance for the year 231809431 273923902 118,755,960 116,457 000
The effect of change in accounbing polcy (6,462,726) - (4,449,792) -
Increase in the statement of income (Note 30) (28.775.022) (42.314.471) (238N .579) (701 .040)
Increase (decrease) 1o the statement of
comprebensive ncome 4,424 730 . 2,208 585 -
Closing balance for the year 200796413 231,600 431 92 623,154 118,755 960

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax labiites presented by consiienng net position of each taxabie unt as at 31 December

2019 and 2018 comprises the following:

Consolidated Separate
financial sttements financial statements
2019 2018 2019 2018
Baht Baht Baht Baht
Deferred tax assets (net) 200,796,413 231,609 431 2,623,154 118,755,960
Deferred tax liabiities (net) - - . .
200796413 231609431 62623154 118,755,960
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RS Public Company Limited
Notes to the Consclidated and Separate Financlal Statements
For the year ended 31 December 2019

17  Other non-current assets (net)
Consolidated

Separate
financial statements financial statements
2019 2018 2019 2018
Baht Baht Baht Baht
Refundable deposits 507,700 653,000 507,700 553,000
Guaraneas 12,587 897 18372613 10,767,169 18,161,015
13,005,597 18.925.613 11,274,899 18,714 915
Less Allovance for imparment of guarantees. - (4 085 877) - (4 085 B77)
Other non-current asset (net) 13,085 597 14 830,738 11,274 869 14,629 038
Consolidated Separate
financial statements financial statements
2019 2018 2019 2018
Note Baht Baht Baht Baht
Trace accounts payable
~ other companies 251,134,319 279,232,182 23,984 430 24,550 283
- relatod companies R2c) - - 73,744 267 18,371,035
Other accounts payable
« other companies 60,630,567 29,025,840 45511833 13,330,953
- rolated companies R2c) 2502 866 2511086 14,646 822 1675380
Contract liabiities 127,568,567 135,652,027 37,346,219 35,800,463
Unearned revenue
- other companies 44826 672 65,036,936 25,150,830 17.168 585
- related companies 32¢) - . 472,500 0,584 940
Accrued expenses
~ ACCIed COmmiISsion
and promotion expenses
- other companies 22331146 27233657 5,404 406 24228803
- relatled companies 32¢) - . 26218379 2266473
« Accrued project expenses
- other companies 73,508,613 50,493,700 12,745 420 12,560,062
- refated companies 32¢) - - 4 527 408 7615346
« Accrued interest expenses
- other companies 241 590 777,138 28,403 454 302
- refated companies 32c) - - 270,429 976289
- Other accrued expenses
- Other companies 68,397,831 143,240,861 22,023,330 86,654 040
- Dinidend payable
- other companies 24.525 - - -

651166698 733203437 242,054 856 256246002

19 Linbilities under financial lease agreements (net)

Consolidated Separate
financial statements financial statements
2019 2018 2019 2018
Baht Baht Baht Baht
Liabdities under financial lease agreements 9,697,513 18,692,903 9,697 513 18,692,908
Less Future fnance changes on finence kease (387.082) (1.005,005) (387.082) (1,005,005)

9,310,431 17.687.903 9,310,431 17 687,903
Less Current portion (6,729.866)  (11.070.866) (6,729.866)  (11.070.868)

2580565 6617037 2580565 6617037
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RS Public Company Limited
Notes to the Consolidated and Separate Financlal Statements
For the year ended 31 December 2019

As at 31 December 2019 and 2018, payments 1o be made f%or fnancial lease agreements are as follows:

Consolidated Separate
financial statements financial statements
2019 2018 2019 2018
Baht Baht Baht Baht
Within 1 year 7.019,521 11,708,728 7,019,521 11,708,728
Mere than 1 year but no longer than 5 years 2.677.992 6,984,180 2677992 6,984,180

9.697.513 18,662,908 9.697.513 18,662,908

20  Shortderm loans from financial mstitutions

Consolidated Separate
financial statements financial statements
2019 2018 2019 2018
Type of short-term loans Bant Bant Bant Baht
Promissory noles 450,000,000 240000000 320000000 240,000,000

As at 31 Decernber 2019, outstanding shortterm loans from a Snancial mstiutions represents roll able-over promessory noles
denominated in Thai Baht bear merest rate approximately of 2 50% - 2 70% per annum (2018 - 308% - 3.50% per annum) The
outstanding pancipal and interest are due for payabie dunng January 1o Febeuary 2020 (2018 - due for payable dunng February
to March 2019).

The movement of short-tem loans from financial institubions for the years ended 31 December 2019 and 2018 i as follows:

Consolidated Separate
financial statements financial statements
2019 2018 2019 2018
Promissory notes Baht Baht Baht Baht
Opening net book amount 240,000,000 213,000,000 240,000,000 213,000,000
Additions 1,180,000,000 $30,000,000 $20,000,000 930,000,000
Repayments (940,000.000) (803.000,000) (640.000.000) (903,000,000)
Closing net book amount 450.000.0000 240,000,000 320,000,000 240,000,000
Consolidated Separate
financial statements financial statements
2019 2018 2019 2018
Baht Baht Baht Baht
Undue output tax {(58816,704) (63.079.087) (32,282597) (38.609222)
Undue input tax 36935397 38078673 5,356,580 2156201
Value added tax receivable 3127208 910,318 AT.736 -
Velue added tax payable (7.832.104)  (11.462,782) {6,090.533) (2.816.550)
(26.386205)  (35552888) (32068814) (39.269571)
Value added tax present by net postion of each taxable unit as at 31 Decermnber 2019 and 2018 comprises the folowing:
Consolidated Separate
financial statements financial statements
2019 2018 2019 2018
Baht Bamt Baht Baht
Value added tax (assets) 8,610,250 3,816,152 . .
Value added tax (llabites) (34906 464) (39380040) (32968814) (39.289571)

26,386,206 35,552,888 968 814 39,269,571
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RS Public Company Limited
Notes to the Consolidated and Separate Financlal Statements
For the year ended 31 December 2019

22  Long<derm loans from a financial institution

The movements of long-term loans from a financial institution for the years ended 31 Decamber 2019 and 2018 are as
folows:

Consolidated
financial statements
2019 2018
Baht Baht_
Balance as at 1 Januacy 396,085,000 666,085,000
Repayments durng tha year (80.000,000)  (270,000.000)
Balance as at 31 Decamber 316,085,000 396,085,000

During the year 2018, the Group repaid a porbion of long-term loan amount of Baht 230 milkon bedore the maturity date.

On 31 December 2019, the Group has crect faciies for long-term lans from a financial Institution amounted to Baht
160 txlhon (2018 : Baht 1,60 bdbon). Inlerest rate = Minimum Loan Rale (MLR) less a foed percentage as stipulated in
the contract. The principal is due for payable on a quarterly instaliment basis. The first instaliment is cue %o pay
25 months after the loan drawn down date (26 May 2016). Interest is payable monthly within 132 months starting from the
loan drawn down date.

The effective interest rales at the statements of financial position date were as follows.

financial statements
2019 2018
_% perannum__ % per annum

Long-term loans from a financial institution 400 425

The carrying amounts and fair value of certain long-torm borrowing are as folows:
Consclidated financial statements

Carrying amounts Falr values
2019 2018 2019 2018
Bant Baht Baht Banht
Long-term lcans from a fnancial nstituticn 316085000 396085000  316,085000 396085000
316085000 396085000 316085000 396085000

The fair value of current borfowings equal ther carmying amount, &s the impact of dscounting is not significant.

The fair values are basad on discounted cash flows using a discount rate based upon the borowing rate of 4.00% per
annum (2018 ; 4,25% per annum) and are within level 2 of the fair value hierarchy.

As at 31 December 2019 and 2018, repayment penads of e long-em lans from a fnancal msttuton are summarnsed below:

Consolidated
financial statements
2019 2018
Due within the years ending Bant Baht
Between 1 year 80,000,000 80,000,000
Between 2 years and 5 years 236,085 000 316 085 000

316,085 000 396 085 000




RS Public Company Limited
Notes to the Consclidated and Separate
For the year ended 31 December 2019

Financial Statements

Empioyee benefit obligations as at 31 December 2019 anc 2018 compnse the following

Consofidated Separate
financial statements financial statements
2019 2018 2019 2018
Baht Baht Baht Baht
Statement of Sinancial position
Empiloyee beneft cblgation 163,964 704 90 545179 105,976,538 78,422 968
The movement of employee benefit ocbligations during the years are as follows:
Consolidated Separate
financial statements financial statemeonts
2019 2018 2019 2018
Baht Bam Baht Baht
Opening balance 99,545,179 96,134,656 78,422 968 72.801,534
Effect from change in the Labour Protection Law 26473733 . 18,219,573 -
Current service cost 12972199 1.676 685 7,207 616 521,813
Interest cost 3,104,342 1,927,078 2,078,054 1,386,969
Gain from remeaswoments of post
emplioyment benefit obligaticns 22123651 - 11,042,823 -
Transfer between the Group - - (10,830,096) 3,712,632
Payment for retirement employee (254 400) (193,250) (254 400) -
Closing balance 163.964.704 99545179 105,976,538 78.422 963
Effect from change in the Latour Protection Law for the year ended 31 December 2019 compnse the following:
Consolidated Separate
financial financial
information information
2019 2019
The effect is presented within o B
Cost of services 6427097 2,954 226
ASTInSYative oxpenses 15,804,768 14,789,351
26473713 18,219,573
Consolidated and separate
financial statements
2019 2018
Discount rate 1.36% - 2.50% 1.42%-4.17%
Salary increase rate 7.00% - 7.80% 7.00% - 7 50%
Tumover rate 0.00% - 2500%  0.00% - 30.00%
Mortalty rate 1.00% 1.00%
2.50% 250%

Inflason rate
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RS Public Company Limited
Notes to the Consolidated and Separate Financlal Statements
For the year ended 31 December 2019

Sensitrity analysis form each significant assumption are as follows:

Impact on defined benefit obligation Increase (Decrease)

Consolidated
financial statements financial statements

Change in 2019 2018 2019 2018

assumption Baht Baht Baht Baht

Discount rate Increase by 1% (16,861,393) (10656,521) (9.378696) (7.627,191)
Discount rate Decrease by 1% 19861448 12,381.507 10,841,701 8800828
Salary growth rate Increase by 1% 20200726 12777159 11,238,396 9.120.935
Salary growth rate Decrease by 1% (17,687,313) (11,186,320)  (9.920.779)  (B,048,025)
Tumover rate Increase by 20% (20,753.858) (12879.515) (106838656) (B8.838.771)
Tumover rale Decrease by 20% 26227062 16004243 130718683  10.863,124
Mortality rate Increase by 1% 560,534 321933 300,550 212,746
Mortality rate Decrease by 1% (825 ,509) (356,873) (332.4685) (234.261)

The above sensitivity analyses are based on a change n an assumption whie holdng all cther assumptions constant
In practce, this is unikely 1o occur, and changes n some of the assumpbons may be comelated. YWhen calcudating
the sensitivity of the employee benefit cbiigatons 10 signficant actuarnal assumpions use the projectad unt credit method

On 5 Apnl 2019, an amencment bdl 1o the Labowr Protection Law was pubishad in the Govemment Gazette. The amended
L was effective 30 days after its putiication. The man amendment & that the compensation for employees who have retired
and have mare than or equa 10 20 years of senvice has changed from 300 day's pay to 400 day’s pay. The Group recognised the
Iimpact in the consolidated and separate statament of comprehensive ncome for the year ended 31 December 2019,
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Ordinary shares and prevision on share capital

idated and Separate financial statements

Ay v o e et

shares  Ordinary shares  Share Permium

Shares Bath Bath

Opening balance as at 1 January 2018 1,010,147 392 1,010,147 392 258,236 895
Issue of shares 1,800 1,800 20,700
Closing balance as at 31 December 2018 1,010,149,192 1,010,149,162 258,257 595
Issue of shares 5,619,310 5619310 64 420 859
Decrease in capital 43 273 300 43 273 300 600,184
Closing balance as at 31 December 2019 972,495,202 972495202 322087270

Increase in share capital of company

On 30 Apri 2018, the warrants holder exercised their warrant of 1,800 unis 1o purchase 1,800 ordinary shares of Bant
12.50 per each in amount of Baht 22.500. The Company has aready received all amount of payment. The Company
has regstered 10 increase in share capital with the Mrnestry of Commerce on 11 May 2018,

The Company's Annual General Shareholders” meetng on B Apal 2019 passad a resolution 10 iIncrease authonsed
share capal amount of Baht 2,000,000 by issuing of 2,000,000 new ordinary shares at the par vaiue of Baht 1 each in
order 10 suppon the adusiment of exarcise price and exercse rato of wamants. The Company has registered to
increase authorised share capial with the Minsstry of Commerce on 25 Apnl 2019,

On 30 Aprl 2019, the warmants holder exercised thelr warrant of 5602 622 units 10 purchase 5,618,306 ordinary shares of
Baht 124658 per each in total amount of Bait 70,036,679, The Company has akeady recaved full amount of payment.
Tha Company has registerod o ncrease in share capal with the Minstry of Cormmence on 10 May 2019

On 31 Oclober 2019, the warrants holder exercised heir warrant of 1,000 unts 1o purchase 1,004 ardinary shares of Baht
124419 por each in total amount of Baht 12,492, The Company has already received fll amourt of paymert The
Company has regesiened to ncrease in share capital with the Messtry of Commerce on 7 November 2019

Decrease In share capital of company
On 22 August 2019, the company registered the reduction of paid-up capital for unsold treasury shares within resale

penod, in the amount of 43,273 300 shares o the Department of Business Development, Minstry of Commerce
(Note 24 5)



RS Public Company Limited
Notes to the Consolidated and Separate Financlal Statements
For the year ended 31 December 2019
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Warrants

The exercise of warrants 1o purchase cednary share of RS Public Company Limited, have mavement for the years
ended 31 December 2019 and 2018 as follows:

Consolidated and separate

Warrants No (RS-W3) financial statements

Unit

Warrants had not been exercised as at 1 January 2018 193,123.014
Warrants had been exercised (1,800)

Outstanding as at 31 December 2018 193,121.214
Warrants had been exercised (5,603622)

Outstanding warrants as at 31 December 2019 187 517 562

On 30 Apeil 2018, the warrants holder exercised their warrant of 1 800 ursts 1o purchase 1, 800 ordnary shares of
Baht 12.50 per each in amount of Baht 22.500, The Company has already received all amount of payment. The
Company has regstered to increase in share capdtal with the Ministry of Commerce on 11 May 2018,

On 8 August 2018, the Company's board of direciors’ meetng no. 32018 passed a resoluton approving the payment
of imerim dividend, meaning the Company needed 1o adjust the exercise price and exercise ratio of warrants. On
9 October 2018, the Company anncunced the details of the adusted exercise prce from BaM 12.50 per 1 ordinary
share fo Baht 12 482 per 1 ordinary share, and exerdise rabo from 1 stock warrant per 1 ordinary share to 1 stock
warrant per 1.0014 crdnary share. The eective date of the exercise was 31 Octobar 2018,

On 15 February 2019, the Company’s board of directors’ meeting no,1/2019 approved %o propose on Annual
General Meeting of shareholders of 2019 1o approve the payment of deadend, meaning the Company needed to
adjust the exercise prce and exercise ratio of warrants, On 27 February 2019, the Company announced the
details of the adjusted exercise price from Baht 12,483 per 1 ordnary share 1o Baht 12,4658 per 1 ordinary share,
and exercise rabo from 1 stock warrant per 1.0014 ordinary share 10 1 stock warrant per 1.0028 ordinary share.
The effective date of the exercise was 28 February 2019,

On 30 Apni 2019, the warrants holder exercised their warrant of 5602622 units to purchase 5618306 ordinary
shares of Baht 12,4658 per each in amourt of Baht 70,036,679. The Company has already recerved all amount
of payment. The Company has registered to ncrease in share capdal with the Ministry of Commerce on 10 May 2018
On 31 October 2019, the warrants holder exercised their warrant of 1,000 units to purchase 1,004 ordinary shares

of Baht 12,4419 per each in total amount of Baht 12 492, The Company has already recesved full amount of payment.
The Company has registened to iIncrease in share capedal with the Minsstry of Commerce on 7 November 2019

Treasury sharesftreasury shares reserve

The movement of treasury shares and premium on share capital for the years ended 31 December 2019 and 2018
are as follows.

Consolidated and Separate financial statements

Amount of Premium on
treasury shares treasury shares

Shares Baht Baht
Opening balance as st 1 January 2018 43,273,300 465,274 84D (800, 184)
Closing batance as at 31 December 2018 43,273,300 485,274 840 (600,184)
Decrease in share capial (43273300) (465274 840) 600,184

Clesing balance as at 31 December 2019 - . .

On 21 February 2018, the Company’s Board of Direcior meeting No. 172018 passed a resclution 1o resale the
treasury shares 43,273,000 shares which is equivalent 1o 4.28% of the tolal issued shared by resaling via the
Stock Exchange of Thadand. The resale penod will be dunng 8 March 2018 10 30 May 2019,

As at 13 August 2019, the meeting of the Board of Dwreciors No. 42019 passed a resolution 1o decrease share
wbmumwmmmmmauznmmwmwa

Business Development, Mnistry of Commerce, On 22 August 2019, the Company registered the reduction of
paid-up capital for unsolkd traasury shares within resale penod, in the amount of 43 273,300 shares to the Department
of Business Development, Ministry of Commerce. (Note 24.3)
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On 18 Decamber 2019. the Company's Board of Drrector No. £/2019 passed a resolution 1o repurchase the Company's

paid up capital detall as follows.

e The mawmum amount for the share repurchasas are not exceeding Baht 200 mdion.

o Number of repurchased shares wil be not exceadng 15 milon shares at par value of Baht 1 per share, which Is
equivalent 1o 1.54% of the total issued shares.

e  Repurchasing of shases on the Stock Exchange of Thailand.

e  The repurchase period will be within 6 months sinca 2 January 2020 to 1 July 2020.

*  Indeterminng the repurchase price, he average market prce durng 30 cays pnor 1o the date on which the Company
discloses the information of shares repurchase will be used as the basis of calculation. The repurchase
pnce must be nol exceaded average ciosing prce during 5 workang days prior 1o each trading date plus 15%
of such average closing price. The average market price during 30 cays during 4 November 2019 10 17
December 2019 was Baht 13,67 per share,

25  Dividend payment

At the Company's Annual General Sharehoiders’ Meeting on 19 March 2018, the sharehoiders passed a resolution not to
approve a dvadend payment from the operation results for the year 2017

At the Company’s Board of Direclor meeting No 372018 at 8 August 2018, the drecior passed a resolution approve the
ntenm dividend for the sa-month penod ended 30 June 2018 at Bait 0.25 per share, tolal dvidend payment Baht
241,718 973 which the Company paid the interim daadend on 4 September 2018

Al the Company’s Annual General Shareholders’ meeting al 9 Apeil 2019 passed a resolution approve the dividends
from the operation resulls for the year 2018 ot the rate of Baht 0.20 per share tota! Baht 193 374,453 which the Company
paid the dendend on 25 Apnl 2019,

Al the Company's Board of Director meeting No 4/2019 at 13 August 2019 the direclor passed a resolution approve the

inlerim dividends for the six-month penod ended 30 June 2019 at the rate of Baht 0.20 per share total Baht 194 498,100 which
the Company paid the intenm dividend on 12 September 2019,

Consolidated Separate
financial statements financial statements
For the years For the years
ended 31 December ended 31 December
2019 2018 2019 2018
Baht Baht Baht Baht
Net gain (loss) from exchange rate 178,378 (211.816) 7255 {483,486)
Gain (j0ss) from disposal buiding
and equpment and intangible assets . (818,508) 329429 (732,070)
Interest income 1,195,205 1,071.311 30,058,081 35,230,160
Dividend income (Nole 10) . . 45419938 268,171,848
Rental income - 167,700 3,044 361 2,379,250
Management fee (Note 32 a)) - - 372712370 344624130
Prale of copynght income 292,168 432 632 - .
Other income 9,054,145 33,108 268 11973 566 31,018,750

10,719,694 33,749.827 463545028 680,208,582




RS Public Limited

Notes to the Consolidated and Separate Financlal Statements

For the year ended 31 December 2019

27  Other expensos

and intangibse assets

Consolidated Separate
financial statements financial statements
For the years For the years
ended 31 December onded 31 Decomber
2019 2018 2019 2018
Bant Bamt Baht Baht
(8,377) . . .
(621,198) (146)
231,250 74 488 231,250 74 488
1413 2138 - =
. n . (10,452 343)
(5,063 .551) (3,250.488) (5.010,877) (600.000)
(5.660 483) (3.173.862) (8.779.T73) (10,977 857)

The foliowing significant expenditure flerms, classified by nature for the years ended 31 December 2019 and 2018, have
been charged in the profit before finance costs and income tax:

Change m invenlories of finshed goods
and work in process
Raw material and consumables used

Staff costs
Depreciaton charge (Note 12)
Amortssation charge (Note 13 and 14)

Rental expenses and utilities expenses

Interest expense from short-term borrowings
from financial insttutions
Interest expense from short-term
from related companies (Note 32 a))
Interest expense for llabdity under finance

Inerest expense from license for operation
nght in section of digital television

Consolidated Separate
financial statements financial staterments
For the years For the years
ended 31 December ended 31 December
2019 2018 2019 2018
Baht Baht Baht Baht
12,679,546 11,826,636 (989 .597) {9,310,161)
1,350,080933 1535861300 344900084 371728436
722650402 760927998 318029104 426,764 508
101,174 868 115623100 84,401,507 103636,110
467 409,240 475,836,608 20,634,118 43415431
134270410 120825361 94 875,000 89,697 220
221,194 184  140,056272 38,130,845 55380912
7,664 005 10,950,364 7,865 417 10,952,503
5,806,985 16,624,103 - -
2634174 111838802 - -

financial statements financial statements
For the years For the years

ended 31 December ended 31 December
2019 2018 2019 2018
Baht Bant Bant Baht_

(21,391,785) (30,216,105) (4,079,739) (5,568,167)

- - (3,1562,402) (4.472.2589)

(752,311) (1,190.817) (752,311) (1,180,817)

(12487.56%) (36032673
(34,631659) (68,339.595)

(7,984,452)  (11,231273)
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For the year ended 31 December 2019

Reconcéiation of income 1ax expense for the years ended 31 December 2019 and 2018 comprises:

Current income tax on taxable peofit for the year

Over recorded pror year incomsa tax

recoverable of withholding tax

Ongnation of temporary dfferences (Note 16)

Total income lax credd (expense)

Profit before tax accounting base

Tax calculated at the rate of 20%

Tax effect of.

Non-deductible expenses

Additicnal ceductible expenses

Temporary deferred of previously
unrecognesed deferred tax

Wiite - off allowance for doubtful

Consclidated Separate
financial statements financial statements
For the years For the years
ended 31 December ended 31 December
2019 2018 2019 2018
Baht Baht Baht Baht
(68.318821) (66,249022) (57.728.608) -
- 1,080,000 - -
(80,895) (12.668) . .
{500,107) (927 B56) (311,297) (1.004)
223,149 591,690 - -
(28.775,022)  (42314.471)  (23.891.579) (701,040)
(97 451,606) (107,832.327)  (81.931.484) {702.134)
Consolidated Separate
financial statements financial statements
For the years For the years
ended 31 December ended 31 December
2019 2018 2019 2018
Baht Baht Baht Baht

461846487 623870008 447150408  385.767.750
(02.369.207) (124.774.002) (89.430.082)  (73,153,550)

(5769,141)  (7611.954)  (2410159)  (3,156.261)
2284577 3605600 2003130 2555107
46720  (1,1503986) (434,797) (995 625)
283 20415347 - 20414919
. - 9083588 53634370
(522,267) . (522.267) -
(764,727) 861,822 - .
(500,107) (927 856) (311,297) (1,094)
223149 591,690 : :
Z 1,080,000 : -
(80,895) (12,668) - -
(97,451,696) (107,832327) (B1,931.484) (702,134)

31.1 Basic eamings (loss) per share

Basc eermngs (10ss) per share is calcutatied by dividing profit (ioss) atiributasble 10 ordinery shareholders by the weighted
average number of ordinary shares in issue during the yoar.

Basic eamings (loss) per share (Baht)

Consolidated
financlal statements lrw;rﬁ:'*m
Forgn Doqoml:‘rm “31 December

2019 2018 2019 2018

363,343,967 516039530 365218924 365085616

970,508,702 966875251 970508702 965 B75 251

0.3744 0.5337 0.3763 03776




RS Public Company Limited
Notes to the Consolidated and Separate Financlal Statements
For the year ended 31 December 2019

31.2 Diuted earnings (loss) per share

The diluted earnings (loss) per share s calculated adjusting the weighted average number of ordinary shares
outstanding %o assume comversion of all diutve potential ordinary shares. The Group has diutive potential ordinary
shares that are warrants. The number of shares calculated as above is comparad with the number of shares that
would have been issuved assuming the exercise of the warrant. The diference is added 1o the denominator as an
Issue of orginary shares for no consideration. No adustment is made 10 eamings (loss).

Consolidated Separate
financial statements financial statements
For the years ended For the years ended
31 December 31 December
2019 2018 2019 2018
Not profit (loss) atinbutable to
ordinary shareholders (Baht) 363343667 516039530 365218924 365065616
Weighted average number of 970508702 966875251 970508702 966 875251
common shares (basic) (shares)
Assume comwon of warrants 43 507 317 81,040 943 43,507 317 81,046.943
Weighted average number of
common shares for caloulaton
of diuted samings per share{shares) 1,014 016019 1047925184 1014 016019 1,047 925,194
Diuted earnings (loss) per shares (Baht) 0.3583 0.4924 0.3602 0.3484

32 Related party transactions

Enterprises and indviduals that directly, or indirectly through one or more intermedianes. control, or are controled by,
o¢ are under common control with, the Company, Inciuding holding companies, subsidanes and fellow subskiianes are
related parties of the Company. Associates and ndnviduals owning, directly or indirectly, an interes? in the voting power
of the Company that gives them significant influence over the enferprise, key management personnel, iIncluding directors
and offcars of the Company and close members of the family of these indmduals and companies assocated with thesa
indeviduals also constitute redaled parties.

In considerning each possble refaled party relaonship, atlention is direcled 1o the substance of the relatonship, and nol
merely the legal form,

The significant mvestments in subsidianies and associates are sel cul in Notes 10 and 11,
Significant related parties transactons other than subsidiaries and assoclates can be summansed as follows:

Related parties Type of business Type of relation
Chetchotsak Co, Ltd. Rental service Commoan shareholder and dreciors
idea Power Co,, Litd. Organizer Associated company
Membership Co., L\d. Rental service Common shareholder and dreciors
Chetchot Co., LY Rental service Common shareholder and directors
Key management personnel - Persons having autharity and responsibiity for

(MmmaM)dhOm
company
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RS Public Company Limited
Notes to the Consclidated and Separate Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 December 2019

n Koy management compensation

Key management incudes direcions (e@mcutve and non-axecitive). memberns of the Executve Commitee. The compensaton
pand of paryabie 10 key management for empioyee Serices 1S sShown below.

- — -

Consolidated Separate
financial statements financial statements
For the years For the years
ended 31 December ended 31 December
2019 2018 2019 2018
Baht Bant Baht Baht
Salanes and other short-term
employee benafits 114250288  128.444.302 89,872,887 106,516.402
Post.employment benefits 5,045 2561 4 637 407 5,244 997 4,191 957

120195530 133381709 95117884 110,708,350

33 Segment information

To assass the group's operation, the Group considers the gross profit from the revenus transactions comprsing revenue from
N platioem Commesoe, revenues from meda, revenues. from musc, revenues fom evert business and boauty and revenues fom
other servioes. Infercompany sakes were aready edminated. Group proft was detemnined by subracing cost of saies and senices.

Contasarted fnancis wiatemanm
For e ended 3¢ December 2015
Mot platiorm Medha L % Oetver
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e T S YT - Y T : : 1NN Q0 :
Tond rovonwas 2006200 14110 P12 MO A0 A0 TR0 (T2OMMTMY ASTT 0T
Cowt of wiben w0t
rervems TOMEN0 1IPSMNEEN  WOTILSOY 135834800 s ANWALT  (WIMDAV) 201993293
Ty profr 1530 804 07 404 T84 288 237 A0 434 107 384 810 - MDA (SR ITATIN 1580 170N
T of revernm
recogracn
z::-- mm:u / um:w ALY umm }u:m.m mo "llﬂv nanu-o
o ) 1 . 4 33
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34

Crodit facilities

As at 31 December 2019 and 2018, undrivan borrowing facilties are as follows:

Consolidated Separate
financial statements financial statements
2019 2018 2019 2018
Million Baht  Million Baht  Million Baht  Million Baht
Vanous credd fachbes
- Unused 2247 2457 587 867

35 Commitments, contingent Rabilities and significant agreements

351

Commitments
Consolidated Separate
financial statements financial statements
2019 2018 2019 2018
Baht Baht Baht Baht
Capital Commitments
Purchase assets 118661621 10,957 460 37,691,633 10,229.560

Operating lease Commitments
Within 1 year 9,738 855 17,604 562 2530621 14,171,166
Later than 1 year but not later than

3 years 17,802,000 . - .
Later than 3 years 2952 000 - - -
Total 30,492 856 17,504 562 2530621 14,171,196

352 Significant agreements with related parties and other entities

353

a)

b)

The Company and subsdary have entered 8 agreements whereby those companies are 10 provide sateliie tmansmesson
services dunng 20 December 2019 10 10 Seplember 2021. The Company & cbigated 10 pay Fansmssion senvica fee
and other expenses as stpulated n the agreements. The Company i requined io comply with conditions stpulated in the
agreemonts.

The subsdiary has enlered nto 1 agreement to buy artime of Radio Broadcast Station with the government agency for
the pencd of 2 years starting from 1 January 2020 10 31 Decarmber 2021 as stipulated in he agreaments.

The Nasonal Broadcasting and Telecommunications Commission (NBTC) granted Scenses 1o the Company and a
subsdary o operate lelecommuncaton busness. The Company and the subsidkanes are obigated 10 comply with
oertain conditons as stated in the hoerses, and 1o pay annual Soense fee, together N acoordance with condiBons and
reqrements sipulated by the NBTC

The subsxSary has enfered nio the Standard Defindion Termestral Digitsl Tedevesson Network Servioes agreement with
Organzaton of Thaland Public Broadcasting Services (TPBS) for operaion digtal television for 15 years and had
obigated ko pay service fees 8s stpulated in the agreements. The subsidary has submitied bank guaraniee at 5% of
fotal contract amount o the TPBS,

Contingent liabilities
As at 31 December 2019 and 2018, the Group had contingent kadiites with the local banks as follows:

Consolidated Separate
financial statements financial statements
2019 2018 2019 2018

Milkon Baht  Million Baht  Million Baht  Million Baht

Guarantee to the Company,

its subsidiary and other companies 4716 46 59 581 548
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36  Significant clams and legal Ntigations

361 As at 31 December 2019 and 2018, the Company and the subsidianes have been sued, with the plaint!
the Company to pay for the damage caused by the Company’s alleged copyright vickation and other in the amount of
Baht 3227 miion and Baht 41,96 milion, respectively.  Then, the management has not recorded related provision.
Ths issue is stil being adudicated.

362 Sponsor fee for broaccasing FIFA world cup

In June 2014 the subsiary company and Natonal Broadcasting and Telecommunicatons Commission (NSBTC) have
agreed 1o whereby the subsiary company shall broadcast sl maiches of FIFA Workd Cup 2014 to Free TV and NBTC
shall sponsoe o the subscdiary company.

Presantly the subsidiary company is in process 10 appeal 10 recaie sponsor fee for the remaining amount of Baht 57.14
milion from the NBTC. This case s still being adjudicated in a supreme adminssirative court.

37 Subseguent events

371 On 6 January 2020, the Company has purchased Yeasury shares 1,400,000 shares ot Baht 11.70 to Baht 11.90 per share
totaling Baht 16,525 000,

37.2  Attha Comparry's Board of Dyvector maeting No 272020 at 20 Februaty 2020 approved 10 propose on Arnual General
Meeting of shareholders of 2020 1o approve 1o pay dividend from the operaton resuits for the year 2019 at the rate of
Baht 0.10 per share which will be pand to sharehokiers within Apni 2020
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